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Höegh LNG pursued its strategy and reached several 

important milestones in the fourth quarter of 2016. 

Höegh Grace successfully commenced commercial 

operation in December 2016, adding to our underlying 

fi nancial results and triggering an increase in our 

quarterly dividend for the fi rst quarter of 2017. 

We subsequently achieved a successful transfer of 

a majority equity share of Höegh Grace to Höegh 

LNG Partners LP in a transaction funded by an 

oversubscribed equity issue. Proceeds from the sale 

of Höegh Grace will be used for further expansion 

of our fl eet in order to maintain the strategy of always 

having one FSRU newbuilding available for new 

projects. In parallel, long-lasting bilateral discussions 

concluded with the award of two long-term FSRU 

charter contracts in Ghana and Pakistan, respectively.

We continue to operate in a growing market where 

expanding LNG volumes are mirrored by an increase 

in FSRU demand. Another 100 million tonnes of new 

LNG production capacity, or about 35% more, 

are expected to be added to global LNG liquefaction 

capacity by 2020. As the LNG market grows 

increasingly long, producers are working more 

actively to sell the incremental LNG volumes to new 

importers. At Höegh LNG, we address this trend 

and work successfully with LNG suppliers to open 

up new markets. Such partnerships are seen as 

an important part of our strategy for the future. 

Our customers rely on us to provide critical energy 

infrastructure solutions which should be at their 

disposal at all times. Adhering to strict safety and 

quality standards and delivering best in class uptime 

services are consequently at the centre of our 

operations. A lost time injury frequency (LTIF) of 

zero and a technical availability rate of 99.9% 

on our assets in operation in 2016 show that 

our attention to these matters pays off. Building on 

our strong track record, we will continue to focus 

on maintaining excellent safety and quality culture 

on our vessels and at our offi ces. Providing superior 

regasifi cation solutions for the benefi t of our 

customers is an important parameter in maintaining 

high barriers to entry for new entrants to the FSRU 

business. 

We devote continuous attention to improving design, 

technology and operations, and concentrate on 

optimising internal systems to increase the 

2016 proved to be a very eventful year in all respects. In the year that we celebrated our 

10th anniversary as a stand-alone company, we strengthened our position as a leading 

provider of fl oating LNG import terminal solutions. Two attractive long-term FSRU contracts 

were secured, commercial operations in Colombia commenced successfully, capital was 

recycled through Höegh LNG Partners LP, and another round of newbuilding orders took 

place. At the same time, our customers continued to enjoy safe and reliable services and 

there were no lost time injury incidents in the fl eet. Backed by favourable market 

developments and our solid operational and commercial platform, we intend to live up 

to our market leadership ambitions for the benefi t of our customers, shareholders and 

other stakeholders.

DOUBLING THE FSRU FLEET 
BY 2019

effectiveness of our performance. In 2016, we 

further developed our anti-corruption procedures 

and trained all offi cers, crew and onshore employees 

in our Code of Conduct. We will continue to pay 

attention in 2017 to improving our Group-wide 

compliance training programme.

Signifi cant milestones were reached in 2016. 

We have 10 FSRUs in operation or under construction, 

and intend to continue growing by winning more 

contracts and adding to our newbuilding programme 

while seamlessly starting up commercial operations 

in new locations. Our ambition is to remain the market 

leader in the FSRU industry. I am confi dent that we 

have every opportunity to succeed and invite you all 

on an exciting journey into the future.

Sveinung J.S. Støhle

President and CEO

DOUBLING THE FSRU FLEET BY 2019DOUBLING THE FSRU FLEET BY 2019
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Strategic direction
Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries and joint ventures (together “Höegh 

LNG” or the “Group”) operate worldwide and hold 

a leading position as owner and operator of fl oating 

LNG import terminals (known as fl oating storage 

and regasifi cation units – FSRUs). 

Höegh LNG’s vision is to be the industry leader in 

providing fl oating LNG import solutions. Its mission 

is to develop, manage and operate the Group’s 

assets to the highest technical and commercial 

standards, thereby maximising the benefi ts to its 

shareholders and other stakeholders. Höegh LNG’s 

strategy is to continue growing in the FSRU market, 

with the objective of securing long-term contracts for 

strategically important projects at attractive returns. 

To position Höegh LNG for fast-track and high-return 

projects, an important element in Höegh LNG’s 

strategy is always to have at least one uncommitted 

FSRU under construction. 

Höegh LNG took delivery of one newbuild FSRU 

(Höegh Grace), delivered one LNG carrier (LNGC) 

to a new owner (LNG Libra) and placed newbuilding 

orders for two new FSRUs during 2016 and in 

subsequent events. Höegh LNG now has a fl eet of 

10 FSRUs and two LNGCs, including four FSRUs 

under construction. All FSRUs and LNGCs in 

operation are under long-term contract. In line with 

Höegh LNG’s strategy, one of the FSRUs under 

construction is uncommitted and available for new 

business, while the others are committed under 

long-term contracts. Höegh LNG is scheduled 

to take delivery of FSRU #7, the Höegh Giant, in 

the second quarter of 2017. FSRUs #8, #9 and #10 

are due to be delivered in the fi rst quarter of 2018, 

the fourth quarter of 2018 and the second quarter 

of 2019, respectively. 

The average age of the assets in operation is 

4.5 years, while the average remaining length of 

the commercial contracts is 14 years, adding up 

to a revenue backlog of USD 6.2 billion. 

Höegh LNG started paying dividends in 2015 and 

distributed a total of USD 0.40 per share during 

2016. The Company’s dividend policy is based 

on stability, predictability and sustainable growth in 

distributions. After 31 December 2016, the Company 

declared a dividend of USD 0.125 per share for 

the fi rst quarter of 2017. The 25% increase in 

distributions was backed by a positive shift in its 

underlying earnings and the conclusion of commercial 

milestones. 

The Company’s registered offi ce is located in 

Hamilton, Bermuda, but the Group operates 

worldwide and has offi ce presence in Oslo 

(Norway), London (UK), Singapore, Miami (USA), 

Jakarta (Indonesia), Klaipeda (Lithuania), Cairo 

(Egypt) and Cartagena (Colombia), plus a site team 

in Ulsan (South Korea). The Company is listed on 

Oslo Børs (Oslo stock exchange) in Norway and 

has a master limited partnership (MLP), Höegh LNG 

Partners LP (“HMLP”), listed on the New York Stock 

Exchange. HMLP has been formed to own, operate 

In 2016, Höegh LNG delivered in accordance with its strategy and expanded its revenue 

backlog following the conclusion of two 20-year FSRU contracts. Since the awards 

triggered another round of newbuilding orders, Höegh LNG is now the world’s leading 

provider of FSRU services with 10 units in operation or under construction. The Group 

continues to operate in a positive market environment, and is targeting further growth 

backed by its solid operational and fi nancial platform. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR 2016 and acquire LNG assets which are in operation and 

employed under long-term contracts.  

Review of 2016 including 
subsequent events
Overall performance

All the FSRUs in the Höegh LNG fl eet operated in 

accordance with their contracts during the year, 

with a technical availability which remained stable 

at close to 100%. 

Höegh LNG had a lost-time injury frequency (LTIF) 

of zero in 2016, which is a very good result and an 

improvement from 0.73 in 2015. 

Fleet development

Höegh Grace was delivered from the yard on 

31 March 2016 and employed under an intermediate 

LNGC time charter until the start-up of the long-

term FSRU contract with SPEC in Colombia during 

December 2016. LNG Libra was delivered to its 

new owner and left the fl eet during the fi rst quarter 

of 2016. 

To capture additional business opportunities with 

early start-up requirements, Höegh LNG ordered 

long lead-time equipment and signed engineering 

agreements with Wärtsila and Moss Maritime for 

an FSRU conversion project in 2016. It was later 

decided to use the regas plant for FSRU #9, contracted 

in December 2016 with a record short construction 

time of less than two years.

In line with its strategy, Höegh LNG expanded its 

newbuilding programme after securing long-term 

employment for uncommitted FSRUs under 

construction. In December 2016, Höegh LNG 

announced that it had signed a letter of intent with 

Samsung Heavy Industries in South Korea for 

one fi rm and three optional fi xed-price FSRUs. 

The 170,000 cbm FSRUs will have a regasifi cation 

capacity of 750 MMScf/day and full trading capabilities. 

The fi rm FSRU (FSRU #10 or SHI HN 2220) will be 

delivered in May 2019, with the optional FSRUs 

being delivered at approximately six-monthly intervals 

thereafter. The fi rm shipbuilding contract for 

SHI HN 2220 was signed in January 2017. 

On 18 January 2017, Höegh LNG furthermore 

announced that it had signed a shipbuilding contract 

with Hyundai Heavy Industries (HHI) in South Korea 

for an FSRU with delivery in the fourth quarter of 

2018. This FSRU (FSRU #9, or HHI HN 2909) 

will have a storage capacity of 170,000 cbm, 

a regasifi cation capacity of 1,000 MMscf/day and 

full trading capabilities.

Corporate activities 

During the fi rst quarter of 2016, Höegh LNG signed 

bank loan facilities of up to USD 223 million for 

fi nancing FSRU #7 (HHI HN 2552). The available 

amount under the facilities is USD 194 million with 

no employment requirement, rising to the full 

USD 223 million on securing a long-term contract 

of 10 years or more. 

On 1 December 2016, the Company agreed to sell 

to HMLP a 51% equity interest in Höegh LNG 

Colombia Holding Ltd., the owner of the entities 

which own and operate Höegh Grace. The purchase 

price was USD 188.7 million, less USD 96.9 million in 

pro rata indebtedness outstanding under the credit 

facility related to Höegh Grace at 3 January 2017, 

which was the closing date for the transaction. 

On 1 December 2016, HMLP successfully issued 

a total of 6,000,000 new common units at a price 

of USD 17.6 per unit to fund the acquisition of 

the 51% equity interest in Höegh Grace. The offering 

was subsequently increased to 6,588,389 common 

units following the exercise of the underwriters’ 

overallotment options, taking total net proceeds 

to USD 112 million. 

HMLP used the proceeds from the offering to 

fund the cash purchase price for the Höegh Grace 

transaction, as a partial repayment of the 

USD 47 million seller’s credit to the Company, 

of which USD 35 million was outstanding at 

31 December, and for general partnership purposes.

Commercial development

Two long-term FSRU contracts came to fruition in 

2016 following the conclusion of bilateral negotiations 

over FSRUs for Ghana and Pakistan. In November, 

Höegh Grace arrived in Cartagena, Colombia, and 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR 2016DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR 2016



12 13HÖEGH LNG  –  Annual Report 2016 Annual Report 2016  –  HÖEGH LNG

have led to increasing utilisation of new importing 

facilities, the majority of which are FSRUs. Imports 

through FSRUs rose by around 40% to about 

31 million tonnes in 2016 as new units started 

operation. Six new FSRU contracts were awarded 

during the year, a signifi cant increase from the two 

to four awarded annually in 2011-15. The increase 

in FSRU contract awards has coincided with the 

acceleration in global LNG trade, and the number 

of prospective projects continues to grow. 

Rising levels of activity in the FSRU market are 

attracting new entrants, and the number of FSRUs 

available is likely to increase as a result of newbuilding 

and conversion projects currently under consideration. 

As demonstrated in the fourth quarter, however, 

Höegh LNG has successfully expanded its market 

share on terms similar to recent contracts and, with 

the latest orders for new units, is now the largest 

provider in the FSRU segment.

Financial results
Group fi gures

The fi nancial statements of Höegh LNG include 

HMLP on a 100% consolidated basis, and joint 

venture companies are recorded in accordance with 

the equity method. Unless otherwise stated, fi gures 

for 2016 are compared with fi gures for 2015.

Income statement

In 2016, total income was USD 232.9 million, 

up 6.2% from the previous year (2015: USD 219.4 

million), while operating profi t before depreciation 

(EBITDA) was USD 111.3 million (2015: USD 90.3 

million). Total income and EBITDA increased from 

the year before, mainly owing to Höegh Grace 

commencing operations under the long-term 

FSRU contract with SPEC in December 2016, 

a decline in bunker expenses and lower business 

development expenses, offset by reduced charter 

hire from LNG Libra and higher administrative 

expenses.

Operating profi t was USD 76.4 million in 2016, up 

from USD 25.7 million in 2015. The 2015 fi gure 

included a one-off impairment of USD 37 million 

related to a write-off of intangible FLNG assets. 

Depreciation increased by USD 4.1 million in 2016 

following the delivery of Höegh Grace at the end of 

the fi rst quarter. 

Net fi nancial expenses came to USD 57.3 million 

in 2016 (2015: USD 51.4 million). The deterioration 

in net fi nancial items relates mainly to a rise in interest 

costs following the increase in debt related to 

Höegh Grace.

Profi t after tax was USD 14 million, compared to 

a loss of USD 26.8 million in 2015. 

Business segments

For the purpose of monitoring the operating 

performance of the underlying business, the business 

segments are reported in accordance with the 

proportionate method.

The commercial segment, which is responsible for 

commercial management and business development 

activity with FSRUs and LNGCs, recorded in 2016 

total income of USD 120.1 million (2015: USD 139.5 

million) and EBITDA of USD 62.6 million (2015: 

USD 75 million).

The FLNG segment, which is responsible for the 

marketing, construction and operation of FLNGs, 

recorded total income in 2016 of USD 0.1 million 

(2015: USD 4.8 million) and negative EBITDA of 

USD 1.1 million (2015: USD 5.5 million negative). 

The technical segment, which is responsible for 

project execution, construction, delivery and 

technical management of FSRUs and LNGCs, 

recorded total income in 2016 of USD 1.1 million 

(2015: USD 2.2 million) and negative EBITDA of 

USD 6.2 million (2015: USD 5.1 million negative). 

The MLP segment, which comprises the HMLP fl eet, 

including administrative and operating expenses, 

reported total income in 2016 of USD 139.5 million 

(2015: USD 103.2 million) and EBITDA of USD 104.8 

million (2015: USD 76 million).

The other segment comprises Höegh LNG’s 

management, fi nance, legal and other corporate 

services and includes administrative expenses 

relating to the management of Höegh LNG. In 2016, 

started its commercial contract the following month. 

Finally, the Neptune, currently on a 20-year contract 

to Engie, became Turkey’s fi rst FSRU when it 

commenced operations in December. 

The FSRU project in Colombia completed its 

commissioning phase in early December 2016 and 

Höegh Grace immediately commenced commercial 

operations under the long-term contract with SPEC. 

This FSRU contributed positively to EBITDA during 

the fourth quarter of 2016 with around one month of 

charter hire. Höegh Grace has the capacity to cover 

around 40% of Colombia’s natural gas demand and 

will ensure security of energy supply for the country 

during periods of drought, when the hydropower 

capacity is low. 

On 1 December 2016, Höegh LNG signed an FSRU 

contract with Quantum Power for the Tema LNG 

import terminal in Ghana. The Tema LNG project 

is supported by the Ghana National Petroleum 

Corporation, which has the exclusive right to import 

natural gas to Ghana and controls access to utility 

capacity. The contract is subject to certain conditions, 

including board approval for both parties. The project 

will increase the supply of energy to Ghana, and 

represents a low-cost and more environment-friendly 

alternative to the imported petroleum products which 

currently dominate power generation. The FSRU 

charter with Quantum Power is for a period of 20 years 

with a fi ve-year extension option for the charterer. 

Start-up under the contract is expected in mid-2018.

On 15 December 2016, Höegh LNG announced that 

it had signed an FSRU contract with Global Energy 

Infrastructure Ltd. (“GEI”) for an LNG import project 

at Port Qasim in Pakistan. The contract is subject 

to certain conditions, including board approval for 

both parties. GEI has signed a long-term LNG supply 

agreement with Qatargas. The project will increase 

the supply of gas in an established and growing 

market, which is suffering from an increasing shortage 

of gas as domestic production declines. The FSRU 

charter with GEI is for a period of 20 years with two 

fi ve-year extension options for the charterer. Start-up 

under the contract is expected in the second quarter 

of 2018.

Höegh LNG announced in February 2017 that it 

had entered into an agreement to form a consortium 

with Total, ExxonMobil, Mitsubishi Corp and Qatar 

Petroleum for the joint development of the jetty and 

pipeline to shore in order to connect the FSRU with 

the local gas grid in Pakistan. The formation of this 

consortium, where Höegh LNG holds the leading 

technical role, represents a signifi cant milestone for 

the project. All necessary project agreements are 

currently under completion by the project partners 

in line with the project schedule for planned start-up 

in mid-2018. 

On 11 December 2016, Höegh LNG, in cooperation 

with its customer Engie, started up the fi rst FSRU in 

the Turkish market, when the Neptune FSRU arrived 

at the Etki Terminal near the port of Aliaga in Izmir 

province on the west coast of Turkey. Neptune is 

on a 20-year charter with Engie, and had operated 

until recently as an LNG carrier – demonstrating the 

fl exibility of Höegh LNG’s FSRU design.

Market outlook
LNG export volumes expanded by about 7% to 

a new all-time high of 265 million tonnes in 2016. 

Specifi cally, new liquefaction capacity which 

commenced operation in the USA and Australia 

added to overall volumes. In addition to the capacity 

added in 2016, around 100 million tonnes per annum 

of additional liquefaction capacity is scheduled to 

enter the market by 2020, and the LNG market 

should therefore continue to see ample additional 

supplies in the years to come.

While established LNG importers mostly utilise 

land-based LNG terminals, new prospective 

importers and recent market entrants rely to 

a greater degree on FSRUs. In addition, many new 

importers have an energy defi cit which exceeds the 

capacity of one FSRU. Because their fi rst FSRU 

project has been a success, the threshold for 

committing to a second or third FSRU is low. 

Consequently, several projects currently being 

pursued by Höegh LNG are located in countries 

which already have at least one FSRU in operation. 

The long LNG market and competitive LNG prices 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR 2016DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR 2016
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securities, comprising investment-grade bonds, 

totalled USD 135.8 million (2015: USD 231.1 million). 

In addition, Höegh LNG had non current restricted 

cash of USD 18.6 million (2015: USD 19.7 million).

Going concern

The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared 

under the going concern assumption, and the Board 

confi rms that this assumption is fulfi lled.

Parent company fi nancials

Total comprehensive income for the Company on 

a stand-alone basis in 2016 was USD 31.7 million 

(2015: loss of USD 50.3 million). The improvement 

from 2015 is driven by higher dividend received from 

Höegh LNG Partners LP, higher net fi nancial income 

and the impairment charge of the FLNG business 

in 2015. At 31 December 2016, total assets were 

USD 1,031 million (2015: USD 1,031 million), while 

the equity ratio was 75% (2015: 75%). Cash fl ow in 

2016 was positive by USD 8.4 million (2015: USD 

6.7 million negative). Net proceeds from sale of 

marketable securities and dividends received from 

HMLP were mainly used for cash dividend payments 

and repayment of intercompany loans. At 31 December 

2016, the Company held USD 12.4 million in cash 

and cash equivalents (2015: USD 3.9 million) and 

USD 135.8 million in investment-grade marketable 

securities.

Risk and risk management
Risk management 

Höegh LNG uses risk management tools based 

on ISO 31000 in relation to both existing and new 

business. The following certifi cates are held for 

the management of quality, the environment, safety 

and occupational health:

– International Safety Management,

– ISO 9001 Quality Management System,

– ISO 14001 Environmental Management System, 

 and

– OHSAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety 

 Management System

Compliance with increasingly complex health, 

safety and environmental laws and regulations could 

result in increased compliance costs or additional 

operating expenses. Höegh LNG is and will be 

subject to regulations which affect, among other 

things, discharges to the air, land and water, and 

health and safety standards. Violation of these laws 

and regulations could have adverse fi nancial 

consequences.

Market risk

Höegh LNG has six FSRUs in operation which are 

on long-term contracts and therefore not exposed to 

variations in demand for FSRU services. Of the four 

FSRUs under construction, three are pre-committed 

to long-term contracts while only FSRU #10 (to be 

delivered in May 2019) is exposed to variations in 

demand for FSRUs. With ample LNG supplies are 

available at a low cost, the demand for LNG is 

increasing, driving demand for LNG import 

infrastructure and in particular FSRUs, which are 

increasingly the preferred solution for importing 

LNG because they are less capital-intensive and 

quicker to build, and because of their fl exible nature. 

More than 40 FSRU projects are currently under 

various stages of development worldwide, and 

Höegh LNG is participating in several on-going 

tender and bilateral processes.

The two LNGCs in the fl eet are on long-term 

contracts with creditworthy counterparties and not 

exposed to short-term variations in the demand for 

LNG transportation. 

Operational risk

Höegh LNG assumes operational risks associated 

with loading, transporting, offl oading, storing and 

regasifying LNG cargoes, which can cause delays 

to operations. In addition, diffi culties owing to port 

constraints, weather conditions, and vessel 

compatibility and performance can affect the results 

of operations and expose Höegh LNG to adverse 

economic consequences.

Financial risk 

Höegh LNG is exposed in the ordinary course of its 

business to different types of fi nancial risk, including 

market (interest and foreign exchange rate), credit 

and liquidity risk. Risk management routines are 

the segment recorded EBITDA of USD 13.9 million 

negative (2015: USD 13.6 million negative).

Financial position

At 31 December 2016, equity and liabilities totalled 

USD 1,714 million (2015: USD 1,502 million). 

The increase from 31 December 2015 mainly refl ects 

the debt on Höegh Grace, the profi t for the year 

as a whole, and the capital raised in Höegh LNG 

Partners LP.

Book equity was USD 596 million at 31 December 

2016 (2015: USD 492 million). Net of mark-to-market 

of hedging reserves, the adjusted book equity was 

USD 677 million (2015: USD 598 million), bringing 

the adjusted equity ratio to 40% (2015: 40%). 

The capital structure is considered to be good, 

given the nature of Höegh LNG’s business and 

its existing commitments.

Capital commitment

At 31 December 2016, and including newbuilding 

contracts announced and signed in subsequent 

events, Höegh LNG had around USD 1.0 billion in 

remaining off-balance sheet capital commitment 

relating to the FSRU newbuilding programme, of which 

approximately USD 0.4 billion falls due in 2017 and 

2018, respectively and the rest in 2019. Höegh LNG 

had USD 332 million in cash, current restricted cash 

and marketable securities and USD 223 million 

available under undrawn debt facilities related to 

FSRU #7 at 31 December 2016. In addition to 

the equity portion being in place, Höegh LNG is 

confi dent that the debt portion of the fi nancing will 

be secured from its consortium of banks for remaining 

FSRUs under construction, making the FSRU 

newbuilding programme fully funded. 

Financing

Höegh LNG’s interest-bearing debt was USD 936 

million (2015: USD 787 million) at 31 December 

2016, an increase explained by the issuance of debt 

related to Höegh Grace, offset by ordinary debt 

repayments made in 2016.

In March 2016, Höegh LNG signed a USD 223 million 

senior secured credit facility, of which USD 194 million 

is available to be drawn on delivery of FSRU #7, 

increasing to USD 223 million on securing a long-

term contract for this unit. FSRU #7 is intended for 

Ghana to serve the 20-year contract with Quantum 

Pacifi c, and the full draw-down is dependent on the 

timeline of the project. The interest rate for the facility 

has been fi xed at 3.7% for fi ve years.

On 19 January 2017, the Company successfully 

completed a new senior unsecured bond issue of 

NOK 1,500 million in the Nordic bond market. 

Maturing on 1 February 2022, the bonds bear 

a coupon of three months Nibor plus 500 basis 

points and will be listed on Oslo Børs under the 

ticker HLNG03. Following the bond issue, the bonds 

were swapped from fl oating three-month Nibor to 

a fi xed USD interest rate. 

In connection with the NOK 1,500 million bond 

issue, the Company bought back NOK 99 million in 

nominal value of the NOK 750 million bond issue at 

a price of 103% with settlement on 1 February 

2017. After the repurchase, the Company owns 

NOK 153 million in nominal value of HLNG01. 

HLNG01 matures on 3 October 2017 and the 

proceeds from the NOK 1,500 million bond issue 

will be used to repay outstanding amounts under 

HLNG01 and for general corporate purposes.

Cash fl ow

Cash fl ow from operating activities was USD 75.5 

million in 2016 (2015: USD 75.2 million), on a par 

with 2015 since a positive development in underlying 

results was offset by an increase in working capital. 

Net cash fl ow used in investing activities came to 

USD 138.6 million in 2016 (2015: USD 163.9 million), 

down from the year before through a decline of 

investment in marketable securities which was offset 

by an increase of investment in FSRUs. Cash fl ow 

from fi nancing activities was USD 151.9 million in 

2016 (2015: USD 120.1 million), driven by proceeds 

from borrowings and the equity issue in HMLP, and 

up from the year before owing to higher proceeds 

from borrowings. Total cash fl ow in 2016 was 

USD 88.7 million (2015: USD 31.3 million).

At 31 December 2016, unrestricted and restricted 

current cash and cash equivalents were USD 196.6 

million (2015: USD 113.1 million) while marketable 
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in place to mitigate fi nancial market risks. Once 

fi nancial market risks are identifi ed, appropriate 

mitigating actions are taken. Höegh LNG’s primary 

strategy in mitigating fi nancial market risks is to apply 

derivatives, where appropriate, in hedging its various 

net fi nancial market risk positions. When the use 

of derivatives is deemed appropriate, only well-

understood, conventional instruments issued by 

highly rated fi nancial institutions are used.

All interest-bearing debt in Höegh LNG is subject to 

fl oating interest rates, but the Group has entered into 

fi xed interest-rate swaps for all debt facilities and 

is therefore not exposed in any material way to 

fl uctuations in interest-rate levels on existing debt 

facilities.

Foreign exchange risks arise from business 

transactions, capitalised assets and liabilities 

denominated in currencies other than the reporting 

currency of Höegh LNG. The majority of Höegh 

LNG’s business transactions, capitalised assets 

and liabilities are denominated in USD. The majority 

of its foreign exchange exposure relates to 

administrative expenses denominated in NOK, 

totalling some NOK 250 million in 2016. In addition, 

Höegh LNG has certain revenues in Euros and 

Egyptian pounds intended to cover local expenses 

and taxes. At 31 December 2016, Egyptian pounds 

equivalent to USD 4.4 million were classifi ed as 

restricted cash owing to foreign exchange market 

restrictions.  

Liquidity risk is the risk that Höegh LNG should be 

unable to fulfi l its fi nancial obligations when they 

fall due. Outstanding interest-bearing debt on the 

balance sheet totalling USD 936 million will be repaid 

through cash fl ow generated from existing and new 

assets in Höegh LNG or through refi nancing. 

All existing vessels in operation and subject to 

debt fi nancing have long-term contracts secured. 

At 31 December 2016, Höegh LNG had around 

USD 1 billion in remaining off-balance-sheet capital 

commitments in relation to the FSRU newbuilding 

programme, including newbuilding orders placed 

in subsequent events. That compares with 

USD 566 million in available liquidity, which includes 

USD 322 million in current cash and marketable 

securities, USD 194 million in undrawn bank loan 

facilities and USD 50 million in additional liquidity 

secured through the NOK 1,500 million unsecured 

bond issued in a subsequent event. When all 

conditions relating to the long-term contract in 

Ghana are met, the available amount under the 

undrawn bank loan facility to fi nance FSRU #7, 

the Höegh Giant, will increase to USD 223 million, 

which will increase the total available liquidity to 

USD 595 million. While fi nancing for FSRU #7 is 

already secured, two of the three FSRUs under 

construction which are yet to be fi nanced have long-

term employment secured. Höegh LNG has strong 

access to different sources of debt capital and is 

confi dent that competitive fi nancing for remaining 

FSRUs under construction will be made available, 

making the FSRU newbuilding programme fully funded.

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty does not meet 

its obligations under a fi nancial instrument or customer 

contract, leading to a fi nancial loss. Existing FSRUs/

LNGCs are chartered to creditworthy counterparties 

and/or projects with a strong strategic rationale for 

the country they operate in. The USD 6.2 billion 

revenue order backlog at 31 December 2016 is spread 

across 10 counterparties, none of which represent more 

than 17% of the order backlog. Furthermore, 55% of 

the revenue backlog is with counterparties located 

in investment-grade countries (Norway, France, 

Colombia, Chile and Lithuania). Cash funds are only 

deposited with internationally recognised fi nancial 

institutions which have a high credit rating, or invested 

in marketable securities issued by companies holding 

a high credit rating.

Corporate social responsibility 
and impact on the external 
environment
The Group is committed to ensuring safe and 

sustainable management of environmental and other 

effects which its operations may have. Höegh LNG 

seeks actively to integrate social and environmental 

concerns in all its business operations and to fi nd 

a sound balance between stakeholder interests, 

operational effi ciency and shareholder value. 

Höegh LNG has robust management systems 

certifi ed in accordance with the International Safety 

Management Code, ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and 

OHSAS 18001. Operating in a high-risk environment 

requires a strong focus on safety, and Höegh LNG 

devotes continuous attention to developing and 

improving procedures and routines. 

Höegh LNG has zero tolerance for corruption. 

Potential business partners will be subject to 

a rigorous due diligence and must comply with 

the same standards. Höegh LNG has mandatory 

training in its compliance procedures. 

Further information about Höegh LNG’s environmental 

and social impact and performance is provided 

in the section on corporate social responsibility. 

Since 2014, Höegh LNG has reported its sustainability 

performance (CSR) in accordance with the Global 

Reporting Initiative’s (GRI) sustainability reporting 

framework (section 4).

Personnel
Höegh LNG had 114 permanent offi ce employees 

and 435 maritime personnel at 31 December 2016. 

The 24-month cumulative retention rate at 

31 December 2016 was 98% for offi cers and 98% 

for ratings. At the Oslo offi ce, average sickness 

absence among employees was 1.6% in 2016, 

compared with 3.7% the year before. Zero lost-time 

injuries (LTI) were reported during 2016 on vessels 

owned or operated by Höegh LNG. This good 

performance is a result of the continuous 

implementation of safety-related initiatives and 

the attention paid to building a safety culture.

Diversity
Höegh LNG has a policy of equal opportunities for men 

and women. Discrimination based on race, gender 

or similar grounds is not accepted. However, male 

and female representation in the maritime industry’s 

recruitment base is unequal and this is refl ected in 

Höegh LNG’s demographics. Women accounted for 

37% of Höegh LNG’s offi ce employees in Norway at 

31 December 2016, compared with 26% in 2015. 

All the directors on the Company’s Board and the 

members of the top management are male.

Shareholder information
As of 31 December 2016, 76,884,059 common 

shares were issued in the Company. Leif Höegh & 

Co Ltd. was the largest shareholder, with 41.5%. 

Methane Ventures Limited, a company owned 35% 

by key employees of Höegh LNG and 65% by the 

Company, owned 1.6% of the shares. During the 

year, Höegh LNG issued a total of 54,823 new 

shares. 

Round 1 of the management stock option plan 

expired at 31 December 2016, and the remaining 

options granted in this round were exercised. In a 

subsequent event in January 2017, the Company 

issued 352,401 new common shares at par in 

settlement of options exercised on 31 December 

2016. Following the issuance of the new shares in 

January 2017, the Company’s issued share capital 

was increased to USD 772,364.60 consisting of 

77,236,460 fully paid common shares, each with 

a par value of USD 0.01. After the exercise of the 

above options, the total number of options outstanding 

is 1,952,425.

In the event of dividends or other distributions in 

cash or kind being paid to the shareholders of 

the Company, the strike price for the options will 

be reduced by an amount equal to the NOK value 

distributed per share.

Round No. of options Strike price Vesting dates Expiry Date

Round 2 1 238 0011 NOK 40.31 

1/3rd on 31 December 2015, 
2016 and 2017 respectively 31 December 2018

Round 3 714 424  NOK 85.1
1/3rd on 31 December 2017, 

2018 and 2019 respectively 31 December 2020

1 Some 12,000 options might be awarded with different strike prices.
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Corporate governance
Höegh LNG has adopted and implemented 

a corporate governance system which, in all material 

respects, complies with the Norwegian code of 

practice for corporate governance and section 7 

of the Oslo Stock Exchange’s continuing obligations. 

The Board’s statement of policy on corporate 

governance is set out in the corporate governance 

report included as a separate chapter in the annual 

report.

Prospects
With another 100 million tonnes, or 35%, due to 

be added to global liquefaction capacity by 2020, 

demand for FSRUs should continue to increase. 

Incremental volumes are likely to be shipped to new 

gas consumers who prefer FSRUs for regasifi cation, 

as evidenced when the annual number of FSRU 

contract awards rose from two to four annually in 

2011-15 to six in 2016.

Höegh LNG won two of the six long-term FSRU 

contracts awarded in 2016 by concluding bilateral 

negotiations for 20-year projects in Ghana and 

Pakistan, respectively. Since around 40 FSRU 

projects are under development, the market 

potential remains signifi cant. 

Twelve FSRUs were under construction at the end 

of February 2017. Of these, eight are committed 

under long-term contracts, while the balance is 

uncommitted and being offered for new projects. 

Twenty-four FSRUs were in operation at the end of 

February 2017, three of which were not operating 

as FSRUs. Matched against the market potential and 

the number of probable projects, the uncommitted 

fl eet and order book are considered to fall short of 

future demand. 

Höegh LNG intends to remain in a market leadership 

position, and regards its size, experience and strong 

operational track record, combined with its solid 

fi nancial position, as enablers for further growth. 

Given the nature of Höegh LNG’s business, with 

mainly long-term contracts, the operating result and 

cash fl ow should continue to be predictable and 

stable and should increase when more FSRUs have 

been delivered and have commenced operation.

Outlook for 2017
Höegh LNG’s main focus for 2017 is taking delivery 

of FSRU #7, the Höegh Giant, in the second quarter 

and continuing to develop the commercial contracts 

for the FSRU projects in Chile, Ghana and Pakistan, 

as well as the infrastructure works for the GEI project 

in Pakistan on behalf of the consortium with Qatar 

Petroleum, ExxonMobil, Total and Mitsubishi Corp. 

Furthermore, Höegh LNG is working to secure a 

long-term FSRU contract for its only uncommitted 

asset, FSRU #10, which is scheduled for delivery in 

May 2019. The FSRU is currently offered to projects 

with a start-up that matches delivery from the yard 

relatively well. When long-term employment has 

been secured, Höegh LNG intends, in line with its 

business model, to order an additional FSRU to 

position itself for additional long-term contracts.

Sveinung J.S. Støhle
President & CEO

Hamilton, Bermuda, 22 March 2017

The Board of Directors and the President & CEO of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.

Morten W. Høegh 
Chairman

Leif O. Høegh
Deputy Chairman

Cameron E. Adderley
Director

Andrew Jamieson
Director

Christopher G. Finlayson
Director

Jørgen Kildahl
Director

Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg
Director
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Höegh LNG is in the forefront of delivering effi cient and competitive Floating Storage 

and Regasifi cation Units (FSRUs) to the world markets in a responsible manner. 

The Group continuously improves its design, technology and operations, and in 2016 

focused on optimising internal systems to increase the effectiveness of Höegh LNG’s 

corporate responsibility efforts. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

3. The environment
The main environmental challenges for Höegh LNG 

relate to emissions to air, the potential negative 

impact on local environment, and recycling 

of vessels.

All vessels are certifi ed in accordance with 

ISO 14001 to ensure both compliance with 

relevant regulation and a consistent focus on 

environmental improvements. 

In 2016, Höegh LNG focused its attention on 

streamlining internal environmental procedures.

3.1 Emissions to air

Emissions to air represent regulatory and operational 

risks for Höegh LNG, as well as opportunities for 

cutting costs and driving business development. 

In addition to greenhouse gases, vessel operation 

produces other emissions, most notably sulphur 

oxides (SOx) and nitrogen oxides (NOx). Fuel quality 

and enhanced effi ciency through improved vessel 

design, technological innovation and more seamless 

operational processes are crucial to reducing these 

emissions. Höegh LNG has extensive know-how 

and technical expertise in designing, building and 

operating vessels in an environmentally and energy 

effi cient way. 

Höegh LNG applies state-of-the-art technology to 

optimise energy consumption and cost. Since its 

fl eet is mainly powered by electricity produced from 

natural gas, these units emit signifi cantly less CO2 

than vessels burning directly heavy fuel oil and other 

fossil fuels. Furthermore, natural gas combustion 

produces negligible emissions of SOx and NOx. The 

high technical standard of Höegh LNG’s fl eet means 

it is well prepared for future environmental regulations, 

including progressively stricter limits for SOx and 

NOx emissions. 

The charterers’ requirements concerning the use of 

installed regasifi cation capacity for each FSRU and 

to a lesser extent the speed and route are the most 

important parameters for each vessel’s total fuel 

consumption. Höegh LNG has ship energy effi ciency 

management plans (SEEMPs) for all vessels, 

shares fuel consumption data with charterers and 

gives them guidance on how to optimise electricity 

consumption to reduce natural gas consumption 

and emissions. Höegh LNG also seeks to utilise all 

boil-off gas from LNG cargo tanks and constantly 

pursues energy-saving solutions.

Total carbon dioxide emissions from the fl eet were 

calculated at 470,935 tonnes in 2016, compared 

with 532,017 tonnes the year before. The fl eet’s 

dual fuel diesel electric engines are certifi ed as being 

within applicable NOx limits as defi ned by NOx 

Technical Code 2008 (EIAPP certifi cates).

The modernisation of the fl eet meant that Höegh 

LNG’s emissions to the air were reduced in 2016. 

Total energy consumption by the Group was 

2,342 GWh, compared with 2 670 GWh the year 

before.

3.2 Environmental protection 

Höegh LNG’s assets operate in marine ecosystems. 

It is important to manage and control the impact 

these assets may have on marine ecosystems and 

biodiversity – particularly through the exchange of 

ballast water, which may transfer marine species 

between different ecosystems, and the use of anti-

fouling systems. This is however a minor portion of 

Höegh LNG’s assets, since the FSRU fl eet operates 

Fuel Type
Consumption

(tonnes) Consumption %
SOx emissions 

(tonnes)
CO2 emissions 

(tonnes)

Natural gas 127 667 77% Trace (negligible) 351 085

Intermediate fuel oil 28 632 17% 1 413 89 160

Low-sulphur intermediate fuel oil 72 0.04% 1 223

Marine diesel oil 239 0.1% 0.021 765

Marine gas oil 9 265 6% 19 29 702

Total 2016 165 874 100% 1 433 470 935

CO2 conversion factors based on MEPC 63/23 annex 8 

1. The business
Höegh LNG is the leading FSRU provider and owns 

and operates a global fl eet of 10 units, four of which 

are under construction. The Group also owns and 

operate two LNG carriers. Höegh LNG bases its 

business on zero tolerance for corruption, the best 

achievable safety record, compliance with laws and 

regulations, hereunder environmental regulations, 

and respect for human rights.

All services are provided by a fully integrated 

organisation which covers every aspect of business 

development, fi nancing, construction, operations 

and corporate services. Technical management of 

the fl eet is handled by Höegh LNG Fleet Management 

AS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Höegh LNG. 

2. CSR governance
Höegh LNG’s Code of Conduct governs the way 

the Group does business, and addresses ethical 

standards, human rights, fair employment practices, 

the environment, health, safety, and corruption. 

The Code is backed by a CSR policy which states 

that Höegh LNG shall act as a socially responsible 

company by integrating social and environmental 

concerns into its core business operations. The CSR 

policy provides a framework for setting clear goals 

and objectives that enables monitoring and evaluation 

of performance.  

Guidelines on CSR reporting were issued by the 

Oslo stock exchange (Oslo Børs or OSE) in 

September 2016. These recommended that 

OSE-listed companies should report in accordance 

with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Höegh LNG 

has reported according to the GRI standard since 2014. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing 

CSR performance, and key performance indicators 

(KPIs) for health, safety and environmental (HSE) 

performance are reported to the Board on a quarterly 

basis. Höegh LNG has robust management systems 

certifi ed in accordance with the International Safety 

Management (ISM) Code, ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and 

OHSAS 18001.

2.1 Stakeholder engagement

Höegh LNG is committed to reducing, in a sustainable 

manner, any negative impact its activities may have 

on the environment, its employees and local 

communities.

The Group maintains a continuous dialogue with 

stakeholders to assess environmental and social 

effects. The cornerstone of this dialogue is the 

consultation processes with customers and local 

authorities, in addition to social and environmental 

impact assessments conducted when entering into 

new contracts. Höegh LNG also consults with 

investors, banks and employees to understand 

their perspectives and priorities. 

The issues identifi ed as most critical to main 

stakeholders are business ethics in direct operations 

and the supply chain, working conditions, health 

and safety, the environment and anti-corruption.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITYCORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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predominantly on a stationary basis. However, LNG 

regasifi cation processes could interact with marine 

life through the discharge of excess biocides and 

changes to local seawater temperatures when colder 

seawater is discharged.  

Höegh LNG reported no accidental spills or breaches 

of environmental permits in 2016.

To minimise risk and to protect biodiversity and 

marine ecosystems where Höegh LNG operates 

FSRUs, environmental impact assessments (EIA) 

are conducted by the customer and/or the Group 

at the pre-operational stage in accordance with 

local regulatory requirements. These assessments 

typically involve local authorities and experts as well 

as potentially affected local communities, and result 

in detailed environmental requirements which 

Höegh LNG must comply with. 

Höegh LNG recognises that environmental protection 

is a necessity and that new national and international 

regulations are likely. The Group therefore proactively 

ensures that its fl eet conforms to anticipated 

regulations and rules as well as client specifi cations. 

Since 2011, all new FSRUs with trading capability 

have been equipped with ballast-water treatment 

systems in compliance with the IMO Ballast Water 

Management convention and with anti-fouling 

systems compliant with the IMO Anti-Fouling 

Systems convention. Höegh LNG also meets local 

requirements regarding the release of excess 

biocides as well as IFC World Bank Group guidelines 

on the release of colder seawater from the LNG 

regasifi cation process.  

Waste, bilge and sludge handling is another concern 

in the maritime industry. This is taken into account 

in the design of Höegh LNG’s new vessels, based 

on operational experience of how such discharges 

can be managed effectively. All vessels have waste 

management systems and accidental spill monitoring 

systems in accordance with Marpol. 

3.3 Ship recycling

No Höegh LNG vessels were recycled in 2016.

Ship recycling has been a particular concern for 

the global shipping industry in recent years, since 

poor working conditions, child labour, environmental 

damage and lack of transparency are prevalent in 

this sector. While waiting for an IMO convention on 

ship recycling to come into force, Höegh LNG has 

implemented a green recycling policy and procedure 

to ensure that the Group’s vessels are recycled 

responsibly and sustainably.

4. Security, health and safety
4.1 Health and safety

Adherence to strict safety and quality standards is 

always at the centre of Höegh LNG’s operations. 

No lost-time injuries (LTI) were recorded on the 

vessels in 2016, resulting in an LTI frequency (LTIF) of 

zero compared with 0.73 the year before. This is the 

best LTI results achieved by Höegh LNG in a year.

Höegh LNG’s safety culture is built on the ambition 

of causing zero harm to people. The Group continued 

its safety campaign for maritime personnel in 2016, 

with attention focused on maintaining a safety culture. 

In addition, as part of a sustained effort to standardise 

operations and improve communication on board 

and between vessels, operational procedures and 

checklists are being remodelled and streamlined 

in close cooperation with maritime personnel. 

All vessel operations are certifi ed in accordance 

with the OHSAS 18001 occupational health and 

safety standard. Maritime personnel are involved in 

improving HSE performance and working conditions 

on board through the protection and environment 

committee (PEC), monthly safety meetings on all 

vessels, and conferences ashore.

4.2 Security

As Höegh LNG expands into new markets, ensuring 

the safety of its employees is a priority. The Group 

has an international security offi cer who oversees 

risk and security matters and monitors employee 

safety and security. Security risk analyses are 

conducted for operational sites and when entering 

new markets.

Höegh LNG has developed a risk based approach to 

security management. A risk based approach means 

that any relevant security threat should, in principle, 

be visible on the radar. More specifi cally, it means 

knowing which assets, locations and people to protect, 

what threats they are exposed to and establish and 

prioritise the correct measures to protect them. This 

is of vital importance to ensure the safety of Höegh 

LNG personnel as well as business continuity. 

In 2016, a new emergency response structure was 

established to cover all potential incidents and to 

ensure that both short-term and long-term impacts 

are managed in a proactive manner. The emergency 

response organisation has the responsibility of 

maintaining the interests and obligations of Höegh LNG 

in all situations where the safety of personnel, 

environment, assets and reputation is threatened or 

the interests of our customers or third party liability 

may be affected through the Group’s activities. 

Audits, security surveys and emergency response 

exercises are performed to verify the effectiveness of 

the security and emergency response system.

5. Employees
Höegh LNG had 549 employees at 31 December 

2016, compared with 602 in 2015.

The Group opposes all form of discrimination and 

strives to promote equality in all employment practices. 

The industry’s recruitment base, particularly for 

maritime personnel, is predominantly male and this 

is refl ected in Höegh LNG’s demographics. In 2016, 

women accounted for one of 435 maritime personnel 

and 42 of the 114 onshore employees.

5.1 Maritime personnel

Höegh LNG seeks to recruit and retain competent 

and qualifi ed personnel and enjoys high retention 

rates achieved by years of paying strategic attention 

to developing its employees. The Group has 

435 specialised maritime personnel. These are 

employed by a Höegh LNG subsidiary and hired 

through crewing agencies in the Philippines, Croatia 

and Latvia. They are organised in pools to ensure 

access to qualifi ed personnel, high retention rates and 

job security. Maritime personnel, including temporary 

employees, had a 24-month retention rate of 98.2%. 

They all receive a written performance review at the end 

of each service period, including recommendations 

for further training and/or promotion. 

The Group invests in maritime education and training 

in countries where maritime personnel are recruited. 

Five conferences were held for different employee 

segments in 2016. In addition, the Company invested 

in re-training of the offi cers made redundant from 

the two LNG carriers which exited the fl eet in 2016 

to ensure their continued employment.

In the years to come, Höegh LNG plans to differentiate 

the mix of nationalities for junior and senior offi cers 

and to increase opportunities to progress to higher 

positions. This is an important development to 

ensure equal opportunities for all personnel as well 

as maintaining the competitiveness of Höegh LNG. 

Höegh LNG is planning specifi c leadership training 

for senior offi cers in 2017.  

5.2 Onshore personnel

Höegh LNG has onshore personnel in Norway, 

Singapore, the UK, Indonesia, Lithuania, Egypt, 

the USA, South Korea and Colombia. All managers 

conduct annual performance reviews of every 

onshore employee. A staff engagement survey was 

conducted in 2016, and the results confi rmed a high 

level of engagement across the Group, with a 77% 

response rate. Work will be done in 2017 to maintain 

the high level of engagement and to address areas 

for development. 

During 2017, Höegh LNG will continue investing 

in further strengthening leadership capacity across 

management layers, functions and cultures.

Employee turnover on shore for the Group was 6.3% 

in 2016. One business unit, FLNG, was put on hold 

in 2016 and Höegh LNG successfully reallocated all 

resources from FLNG to the rest of the organisation. 

In the Oslo offi ce, average sickness absence among 

employees was 1.6% in 2016 compared to 3.7% the 

year before. The Oslo offi ce has a working environment 

committee with employee and management 

representation, in line with Norwegian regulations.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITYCORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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6. Compliance and 
anti-corruption
As a Group with operations worldwide, Höegh LNG 

faces a variety of local regulations and practices. 

This requires great attention to ethical behaviour, 

compliance and risk mitigation. Höegh LNG has 

zero tolerance for bribery and corruption and its 

management system ensures compliance with 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

A strong corporate culture is a prerequisite for an 

effective compliance system. For Höegh LNG, this 

includes the clear communication of values by the 

Board to management, and from management to 

the rest of the organisation. Furthermore, Höegh LNG 

has implemented compliance and ethics training, 

integrity due diligence procedures and an effective 

reporting system.

Höegh LNG aims in 2017 to continue developing its 

group-wide compliance training programme, and 

specifi c KPIs related to compliance.

6.1 Code of conduct

Höegh LNG’s Code of Conduct defi nes the Group’s 

values and the expected behaviour of all employees. 

Each company representative is responsible for 

acting in accordance with the Code, and will comply 

with the laws and regulations of the countries and 

regulatory authorities where Höegh LNG operates. 

The compliance offi cer is responsible for ensuring 

compliance with the Code, and provides regular 

reports to the Board on progress and activities. 

Any incident is registered with the compliance offi cer 

and reported to the Board.

All employees are required to complete an 

e-learning course and confi rm that they adhere to 

the Code of Conduct. All relevant compliance 

policies are on every employee’s annual reading 

list in the governing management system. In 2016, 

Höegh LNG achieved very high scores in the 

employee engagement survey, where employees 

were asked to rate their knowledge of the Code 

of Conduct and their perception of the Group’s 

adherence to it. Employees also responded that 

they would feel comfortable raising an ethical 

concern with their line manager, someone else in 

management or the compliance offi cer. 

6.2 Anti-corruption 

The maritime industry is exposed to the risk of 

corruption and bribery in relation to operations, 

business development, and securing permits and 

licences to operate. Höegh LNG’s typical risks 

include unclear local operating requirements and 

enforcement, extortion schemes and facilitation 

payments, and the involvement of agents and 

consultants.

The Code of Conduct and the anti-corruption 

procedure apply to all personnel and are part of 

the induction programme for all new employees. 

The anti-corruption compliance procedure covers 

a detailed description of risks and Höegh LNG’s 

position, and gives examples and guidance on how 

to behave in typical risk conditions. The compliance 

offi cer reports quarterly to the Board on all such 

matters.

Höegh LNG pays particular attention to business 

development projects, since these may expose 

the Group to corruption risk. New projects and 

customers are therefore carefully assessed and 

subject to due diligence processes and Board 

approval in advance of any contractual commitments. 

In addition, third parties acting on behalf of Höegh 

LNG and potential joint venture partners are subject 

to due diligence processes and Board approval 

before fi rm agreements are entered into. Assessing 

corruption risk is also part of the scope of internal 

audits and supplier audits. Zero cases of corruption 

were reported in 2016. 

Anti-corruption training of employees is an important 

tool for Höegh LNG in maintaining a zero corruption 

track record. Höegh LNG further developed its 

anti-corruption procedures and training in 2016. 

During the year, virtually all offi cers, crew and 

onshore employees were trained in the Code of 

Conduct. This included strengthening the knowledge 

of local managers and internal divisions about how 

corruption risk can be assessed in order to increase 

the effectiveness of corruption risk assessment 

locally. Training seminars and workshops were held 

for both onshore employees and crew, including 

captains and offi cers. 

Höegh LNG is a member of the Maritime Anti-

Corruption Network (MACN), a global business 

network working towards the vision of a corruption-

free maritime industry. Höegh LNG representatives 

attend global and local MACN meetings. 

7. Supply chain management
Höegh LNG requires its suppliers and business 

partners to operate in accordance with the same 

environmental, social and ethical standards as 

the Group. 

Höegh LNG has a Supplier Code of Conduct covering 

such areas as human rights, labour standards, 

employment conditions and HSE, the environment, 

anti-corruption and confl icts of interest. These 

requirements were further strengthened and specifi ed 

in more detail during 2016. All suppliers, including 

agents, lobbyists and intermediaries, are required 

to comply with this Code, and are accountable for 

ensuring that their sub-contractors, subsidiaries and 

associated companies do the same. 

All suppliers must sign the Supplier Code of Conduct 

unless there are compelling reasons not to do so, 

in which case a special assessment of the supplier 

will be conducted. All new suppliers in 2016 

have been evaluated in accordance with social, 

environmental and ethical criteria. Where new suppliers 

are concerned, an integrity due diligence will be 

applied if the size of the business contract, corruption 

rate and/or number of sub-contractors requires 

this in accordance with the criteria in the diligence 

procedure.

Höegh LNG is a member of the Incentra purchasing 

organisation owned by ship-owners and ship 

managers. Incentra prequalifi es suppliers based on 

standards in line with Höegh LNG’s Supplier Code of 

Conduct. Incentra conducts HSE audits and supplier 

evaluations. 

During 2017, Höegh LNG aims to establish a new 

set of terms and conditions for major and minor 

procurement of products and services. 

8. Vessel construction
Vessel construction has signifi cant environmental 

and social impacts, spanning from the selection of 

construction material to HSE risks for yard workers. 

Höegh LNG works closely with the shipyards that 

build its vessels, paying particular attention to 

the health and safety of the workers involved in 

the construction process and includes provisions 

in the shipbuilding contracts requiring the yards to 

be certifi ed in accordance with ISO 14001, OHSAS 

18001, ISO 9001 and ISO 19011 and other detailed 

provisions regarding HSE compliance. The yards 

report HSE performance on a monthly basis. A team 

of experienced Höegh LNG representatives is 

present on site during the construction period 

and monitors the entire construction process and 

the HSE standards closely. Höegh LNG routinely 

requests additional safety measures to ensure 

appropriate working standards, and requests 

improvements if HSE practices do not meet the 

Group’s requirements. No LTIs were reported for 

shipyard workers involved in the construction of 

Höegh LNG’s vessels in 2016.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITYCORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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Corporate governance enhances business 

performance by reducing risk and improving 

accountability, and is essential for maintaining 

the trust of Höegh LNG’s stakeholders and its 

strong standing in the fi nancial markets. 

The Company is an exempted limited liability 

company domiciled and incorporated under the 

laws of Bermuda and is stock-listed on Oslo Børs 

(the Oslo stock exchange). The Company is subject 

to Bermudan law regarding corporate governance. 

As a listed company on Oslo Børs, the Company 

is required to provide a report on the Company’s 

corporate governance as further set out in section 

7 of the Continuing obligations of stock exchange 

listed companies (the “Continuing obligations”) from 

Oslo Børs on the corporate governance report.

The Company has adopted and implemented 

a corporate governance system which, in all material 

respects, complies with the Norwegian Code*) of 

Practice for Corporate Governance (the “Norwegian 

corporate governance code”) referred to in section 7 

of the continuing obligations. The Norwegian corporate 

governance code is published at www.nues.no and 

the Continuing obligations are published on the Oslo 

Børs web site at www.oslobors.no.

This report is based on the requirements covered 

in the Norwegian corporate governance code and 

section 7 of the continuing obligations, and is 

approved by the Company’s Board.

1. Implementation and reporting 
on corporate governance
The governing principles set out in the Company’s 

bye-laws, the governing principles policy and the 

Höegh LNG Code of Conduct, and further described 

below, are the foundations of corporate governance 

in Höegh LNG.  

The governing principles policy (i) identifi es the key 

governing bodies in Höegh LNG, (ii) describes the 

roles and responsibilities of the governing bodies and 

functions of the Group and (iii) specifi es requirements 

for the business with regard to important governing 

processes, documents and systems. The Board has 

also adopted governing procedures to implement 

the principles set out in the governing principles 

policy. These procedures include separate charters 

for the Board of Directors, the audit committee, 

the governance, compliance and compensation 

committee and the nomination committee (which is 

also approved by the general meeting), as well as 

instructions for both the President & CEO and the 

compliance offi cer.

Höegh LNG employees, as representatives of 

the Group, are required to adhere to and be in 

compliance with Höegh LNG’s standards for ethics, 

health, safety, the environment and quality as further 

set out in the Höegh LNG Code of Conduct, 

the insider trading policy and the procedure for 

governmental investigation as adopted by the Board. 

In addition, the Board has adopted a supplier code 

of conduct, which all suppliers are required to 

adhere to.

Through compliance with the above, the Board and 

management contributes to achieving the objectives 

listed on the next page:

Trust: Good corporate governance establishes 

a basis for trust in the Board and the management 

by shareholders and other stakeholders.

Transparency: Communication with Höegh LNG’s 

shareholders is based on transparency concerning 

both the Company’s business and its fi nancial position.

Independence: The relationship between the Board, 

the management and the shareholders will be on 

an independent basis.

Equality: Höegh LNG treats all its shareholders equally.

Control and management: Good control and 

governance mechanisms contribute to predictability 

and reduce risk.

2. Business
As is common practice for Bermudan-registered 

companies, the Company’s objectives and powers 

as set out in its Memorandum of Association are 

broad and therefore wider and more extensive 

than recommended in the Norwegian corporate 

governance code. The Memorandum of Association 

is available on the Company’s website (governance 

– governance documents).

Höegh LNG’s strategy is to continue to concentrate 

its growth plans on the FSRU market in order to secure 

long-term contracts with strong counterparties at 

attractive returns. The Group develops, constructs, 

owns and operates vessels based on the following 

vision, mission and core values:

3. Equity and dividends
The issued share capital in the Company at 

31 December 2016 was USD 768,840.59, consisting 

of 76,884,059 fully paid common shares, each with 

a nominal value of USD 0.01. 

A total of 1,952,425 options granted to management 

and key employees are outstanding at 31 March 2017. 

The total book equity at 31 December 2016 was 

USD 596 million. Net of mark-to-market of hedging 

reserves, the adjusted book equity at 31 December 

2016 was USD 677 million. The Board regards 

the current level of equity as appropriate in view of 

Höegh LNG’s objectives, strategy and risk profi le.

The Company has paid steady quarterly dividends 

since March 2015, and increased the dividend from 

USD 0.10 per share to USD 0.125 per share in the 

fi rst quarter of 2017. The Company intends to pay 

a regular dividend to support its goal of providing 

attractive returns to shareholders. The timing and 

amount of any dividend payments will be dependent 

on market prospects, investment opportunities, 

current earnings, fi nancial conditions, cash 

requirements and availability, restrictions in 

Höegh LNG’s debt agreements, the provisions 

of Bermudan law and other factors. 

Pursuant to Bermudan law and common practice 

for Bermudan-registered companies, the Board has 

wide powers to issue any authorised but unissued 

shares in the Company on such terms and 

conditions as it may decide, and may, subject to 

any resolution of the shareholders in a general 

meeting and to the rights of any issued shares, 

attach such rights and restrictions as the Board 

may determine. Likewise, the Board may, without 

approval from the shareholders in a general meeting, 

acquire the Company’s own shares to be cancelled 

or held as treasury shares. These Bye-law provisions 

(clauses 3.3, 3.4 and 5) are neither limited to specifi c 

purposes nor to a specifi ed period as recommended 

in the Norwegian corporate governance code. 

The authorised share capital of the Company is 

150 million shares, as approved by the general 

meeting in 2012.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
REPORT

Vision

To be the industry leader for fl oating 
LNG terminal solutions.

Mission

To develop, own and operate Höegh LNG’s assets 
to the highest technical and commercial standards, 
thereby maximising the benefi ts to its shareholders 

and other stakeholders.

Core Values

Innovative, competent, committed and reliable.

Governing
Policies

Governing
procedures

Functional policies

Functional procedures incl.
processes and key controls
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1 Unless defi ned in this corporate governance report, capitalised terms used in this report 
 bear the meanings attributed to them in the 2016 Directors’ Report for Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. 
*) Defi nition of code, see page 33 
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4. Equal treatment of 
shareholders and transactions 
with close associates
The Company has only one class of shares.

A Director who to his knowledge is in any way, 

whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract 

or proposed contract, transaction or arrangement 

with the Company and has complied with the 

provisions of the Bermudan Companies Act and 

the bye-laws with regard to the disclosure of his 

interest, is entitled to vote in respect of any 

contract, transaction or arrangement in which 

he is so interested, his vote will be counted, and 

he will be taken account of in ascertaining whether 

a quorum is present. 

According to the charter for the Board, however, no 

Director, the President & CEO and member of the 

executive personnel may take part in any dealings or 

decision-making in matters of special importance 

to them or a related party whereby they may be 

considered to have a strong personal or fi nancial 

interest in the matter.

According to the Code of Conduct, an employee 

must immediately notify the President & CEO, 

business area leader or the head of HR when he/she 

realises that a confl ict of interest may arise. 

If a confl ict of interest exists, the employee must 

immediately withdraw from further dealings with 

the relevant matter.

In the event of any material transaction between 

the Company and a major shareholder (defi ned as 

a person/company holding more than 5% of 

the Company’s voting rights), any such shareholder’s 

parent company, directors and executive personnel, 

or close associates of any such parties, the Board 

should arrange for a valuation to be obtained from 

an independent third party. This will not apply if 

the transaction requires the approval of the annual 

general meeting pursuant to applicable law or 

regulations. Independent valuations should also 

be arranged in respect of transactions between 

companies in the same group where any of the 

companies involved have minority shareholders.

5. Freely transferable shares
The common shares of the Company are freely 

transferable and the Company’s constitutional 

documents do not impose any transfer restrictions 

on the Company’s common shares save as set 

out below: 

–  Bye-law 14.3 includes a right for the Board of 

Directors to decline to register a transfer of any 

common share registered in the share register, or 

if required, refuse to direct any registrar appointed 

by the Company to transfer any interest in a share, 

where such transfer would result in 50% or more 

of the shares or votes being held, controlled or 

owned directly or indirectly by individuals or legal 

persons resident for tax purposes in Norway or, 

alternatively, such shares or votes being effectively 

connected to a Norwegian business activity. The 

purpose of this provision is to avoid the Company 

being deemed a controlled foreign company 

pursuant to Norwegian tax rules.

–  Bye-laws 52 and 53 include a right for the 

Company to request a holder of nominee shares 

to disclose the actual shareholder. The Board may 

decline to register any transfer where a holder 

of nominee shares does not comply with its 

obligations to disclose the actual shareholder as 

further set out in the bye-laws, where the default 

shares represent at least 0.25% (in nominal value) 

of the issued shares in their class.   

6. General meetings
The shareholders of the Company are responsible 

for making certain key decisions concerning 

the Company’s business including, in the annual 

general meeting, the appointment of the auditor, the 

election of the Board of Directors and the nomination 

committee and the determination of the remuneration 

of the Directors and members of the nomination 

committee. Alternate directors are appointed by 

the Board of Directors and are not elected by the 

general meeting. Bye-laws 19 to 24 set out extensive 

rules with regard to the conduct of general meetings, 

including in relation to the notice of general meetings, 

general meetings to be held at more than one place, 

proceedings, voting, proxies and corporate 

representatives.

Pursuant to Bye-law 22.8, the Board may select 

one of its members to preside as the chairman of 

a general meeting. 

7. Nomination committee
The members of the nomination committee are 

elected by the general meeting for one year, and 

Stephen Knudtzon (chairman), Morten W. Høegh 

(member) and William Homan-Russell (member) were 

re-elected in 2016. Knudtzon and Homan-Russell 

are independent of the Board and the executive 

personnel of the Company. Homan-Russell 

represents Tufton Oceanic Limited, which is among 

the 20 largest shareholders of the Company. Morten 

W. Høegh is independent of the executive personnel 

of the Company and represents the largest shareholder 

of the Company, Leif Höegh & Co Ltd. Morten W. 

Høegh’s appointment on the nomination committee 

deviates from the recommendation of the Code*), 

which does not recommend a dual role both as 

a member of the nomination committee and the Board.

The roles and responsibilities of the nomination 

committee are set out in the charter for the nomination 

committee, as approved by the general meeting. 

The nomination committee provides a written report 

setting out its work and recommendations, and the 

report is attached to the notice and agenda for 

the relevant general meeting. The Company has 

made provision for any shareholder to submit 

proposals to the nomination committee via 

the Company’s website.

8. Corporate assembly and 
Board of Directors: Composition 
and independence
The Company does not have a corporate assembly2, 

as this is not a requirement for Bermuda registered 

companies.

A presentation of the Board is provided on the 

Company’s website.

All Directors are independent of the Company’s 

signifi cant business relations and large shareholders 

(shareholders holding more than 10% of the shares 

in the Company), except for Leif O. Høegh, who is 

an indirect shareholder in Leif Höegh & Co Ltd., the 

largest shareholder of the Company, and Morten W. 

Høegh, who is the primary benefi ciary under a family 

trust which is an indirect shareholder of Leif Höegh 

& Co. Ltd. 

The Board held four regular meetings in 2016, with 

all Directors present at three of them and two absent 

from one meeting. The Board also held eight interim 

meetings, with the Bermuda-resident Directors and/

or their alternates present. In addition, the Board 

had an information meeting, where all Directors were 

present, and a workshop, where all but two Directors 

participated.

The Company has appointed two Board committees; 

an audit committee (the “audit committee”) and a 

governance, compliance and compensation committee 

(the “governance, compliance and compensation 

committee”). In connection with the bond issue 

of January 2017, a bond committee (the “bond 

committee”) was also established. The members 

of these committees were drawn from among the 

Directors and, in the case of the bond committee, 

also from among alternate directors.

–  Members of the audit committee: The audit 

committee consisted from May 2016 of the 

following Directors: Andrew Jamieson (chairman), 

Leif O. Høegh and Jørgen Kildahl,  each being 

elected for a term of one year. The members are 

independent of the executive personnel of the 

Company and the Group. Jamieson and Kildahl 

are considered to be independent of the major 

shareholder of the Company. 

–  Members of the governance, compliance and 

compensation committee: The governance, 

compliance and compensation committee 

consisted from May 2016 of Ditlev Wedell-

Wedellsborg (chairman), Morten W. Høegh, 

2 Pursuant to Norwegian company law, companies with more than 200 employees, in the 
absence of any agreement with the employees to the contrary, must have a corporate assembly 
with members elected by the shareholders and the employees. The main duty of the corporate 
assembly is the election of the board of directors. In addition, the corporate assembly has 
certain duties in respect of supervision, issuing opinions and decision making.
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Chris Finlayson and Cameron E. Adderley, each 

being elected for a term of one year. The members 

are independent of the executive personnel of 

the Company and the Group. Wedell-Wedellsborg, 

Finlayson and Adderley are considered to be 

independent of the major shareholder of 

the Company.

–  Members of the bond committee: The committee 

consisted of Morten W. Høegh, Jørgen Kildahl, 

Steven Rees Davies and Jerome Wilson. 

Morten W. Høegh, Leif O. Høegh, Andrew Jamieson, 

Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg, Chris Finlayson and 

Jørgen Kildahl each own shares in the Company 

directly or indirectly.  

Bye-law 25 regulates the appointment and removal 

of Directors.

As recommended by the Code*), all Directors (save 

for Cameron E. Adderley) in addition to members of 

the management hold shares in the Company, as set 

out in the below table:

Notes:

* Leif Höegh & Co. Ltd., which is indirectly controlled by Leif O. Høegh and a family trust under which Morten 

W. Høegh is the primary benefi ciary, holds a total of 31,933,849 shares, representing 41.54% of the shares in 

the Company and 287,500 common units in Höegh LNG Partners LP. In addition, Brompton Cross entities, 

which are co-investment vehicles for the management of Höegh Capital Partners, indirectly controlled by 

Leif O. Høegh and by a family trust under which Morten W. Høegh is a primary benefi ciary, hold the following 

ownership interest in the Company and Höegh LNG Partners LP (“HMLP”), as applicable: 

–  Brompton Cross VI Limited holds 31,916 shares, representing 0.04% of the shares in issue and 

 20,000 common units in HMLP.

–  Brompton Cross VII Limited holds 40,800 shares, representing 0.05% of the shares in issue, 

 and 25,000 common units in HMLP.

–  Brompton Cross VIII Limited holds 28,500 shares, representing 0.04% of the shares in issue.

–  Brompton Cross IX Limited holds 28,500 shares, representing 0.04% of the shares in issue.

** In addition, Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg owns 11,800 shares in the Company through Niki Invest Aps. 

and 16,210 common units in Höegh LNG Partners LP through DWW Landbrug Aps.

*** Members of management have also been granted share options in the Company and phantom units in HMLP 

as further set out in Note 24 to the 2016 full-year fi nancials. In addition, members of management have ownership 

interests in the Company through Methane Ventures Ltd. 

9. The work of the Board 
of Directors
The Board is responsible for the administration of 

Höegh LNG and for safeguarding the proper 

organisation of the business, including the overall 

management of the Company and the Group as 

further set out in the charter for the Board of 

Directors. The Board makes decisions and, in certain 

cases, grants the authority to make decisions on 

issues which, owing to the nature of the business, 

are unusual or of major signifi cance to the Company.

The Board will ensure that Höegh LNG adheres to 

generally accepted principles for the effective control 

of company activities, and provides the necessary 

guidelines for such activities and corporate 

management. The Board will also ensure that 

Höegh LNG protects its reputation in relation to 

owners, employees, customers and the public.

The Board approves strategies, business plans 

and budgets for the activities of Höegh LNG and its 

subsidiaries.

The work of the Board is scheduled in an annual 

plan with fi xed information and decision points. 

If required, interim board meetings are arranged 

in accordance with the charter for the Board of 

Directors. 

The Board conducts a self-evaluation of its own 

performance and expertise on an annual basis, 

which includes an evaluation of the composition of 

the Board and the manner in which its members 

function, both individually and as a group, in relation 

to the objectives set out for the Board’s work. 

This report is made available to the nomination 

committee. 

The Board has authorised Höegh LNG AS to carry 

out the day-to-day management of the Company’s 

assets under a management agreement comprising 

administrative, commercial and technical activities. 

The Board establishes and defi nes the authorities 

and extent of decisions to be exercised by 

the President & CEO and the Board through 

the Company’s decision guide.

The work of the Board committees

The tasks of the audit committee and the governance, 

compliance and compensation committee are 

defi ned in committee charters, which are reviewed 

annually. See also item 10 below. The work of the 

committees is preparatory in nature, in order to 

increase the effi ciency of the Board, and does 

not imply any delegation of the Board’s legal 

responsibilities. The committees report to the Board.

10. Risk management and 
internal control 
The Board appreciates the importance of internal 

control and systems for risk and security management, 

and Höegh LNG has robust management systems 

certifi ed in accordance with the International Safety 

Management code, ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and 

OHSAS 18001.

The President & CEO reports regularly to the Board 

on risk, security and compliance, HSE, quality 

assurance issues, fi nancials, on-going business and 

business developments, vessel management and 

key performance indicators. 

Höegh LNG has a QA and risk management function, 

which is responsible for the internal audit function 

in Höegh LNG and meets regularly with the audit 

committee. The QA and risk management function 

helps Höegh LNG to achieve its objectives by bringing 

a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating 

and improving the effectiveness of risk and security 

management, control and governance processes. 

In addition, the Group’s wholly-owned fl eet 

management company has a separate HSEQ & QA 

function. The Company has in place effective internal 

controls for fi nancial reporting which satisfy the 

requirements of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act 404. 

This comprises an annual process which includes risk 

assessment of fraud, corruption and misstatements 

in fi nancial reporting, design and implementation of key 

controls, updated documentation and completeness 

of necessary remediation. The internal control 

framework is based on COSO 2013 (Committee 

of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway 

Commission).

Name Title

Shareholding in 
the Company

per 31 December 2016

Holding in 
Höegh LNG Partners LP 

per 31 December 2016

Morten W. Høegh * Chairman of the Board 5 713 2 130

Leif O. Høegh * Deputy Chairman of the Board 5 713 -

Andrew Jamieson Director 5 713 2 130

Chris Finlayson Director 1 357 -

Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg ** Director 5 713 -

Jørgen Kildahl Director 904 -

Sveinung J. S. Støhle *** President & CEO 17 946 6 007

Steffen Føreid *** CFO 414 5 630

Ragnar Wisløff *** CDO 2 625 4 280 

Vegard Hellekleiv *** COO 1 972 -

Overview of shareholding by Directors and Management
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Höegh LNG is also subject to extensive external 

control by its auditors, external partners in joint 

ventures and charterers.

The management and the compliance offi cer monitor 

that Höegh LNG acts in accordance with applicable 

laws and regulations.

Höegh LNG has implemented an integrated 

governing management system (“GMS”) to demonstrate 

its capability for planning, operating and controlling 

the processes involved in the services rendered. 

Health (including occupational health), safety and 

environmental management, and project and security 

risk management are all included in the GMS. 

The Company has put ethical hotlines in place where 

employees, and external parties as well in the case 

of HMLP, can report any non-compliance issues – 

anonymously if desired. These reports are received 

by Höegh LNG’s compliance offi cer for the Company, 

and by the chairman of HMLP’s audit committee. 

The audit committee will provide direction, advice 

and recommendations to the Board on fi nancial 

reporting, internal controls and auditing matters. It is 

responsible for assessing and monitoring business 

and fi nancial risks and overseeing the implemented 

risk mitigating actions. The committee is the formal 

reporting body for internal controls with regard to 

fi nancial reporting. 

The governance, compliance and compensation 

committee will provide direction, advice and 

recommendations to the Board related to corporate 

governance, ethics and compliance, corporate 

social responsibility (CSR) and remuneration matters 

(including remuneration of the President & CEO). 

The committee is required to understand, assess 

and monitor risks related to these areas and to 

oversee the risk-mitigating actions implemented.

11. Remuneration of the Board 
of Directors
Remuneration of the Board totalled USD 314,992 in 

2016, including the granting of 1,357 shares (save 

for Jørgen Kildahl who received 904 shares), a total 

remuneration of USD 84,992. In addition USD 35,000 

in cash to each of Morten W. Høegh, Leif O. Høegh, 

Andrew Jamieson, Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg and 

Chris Finlayson, and USD 25,000 in cash to Jørgen 

Kildahl.

Appleby Services (Bermuda) Ltd. is remunerated on 

the basis of invoices for its services, including  the 

provision of Cameron E. Adderley as a Director and 

the services of alternate directors to the Company. 

Cameron E. Adderley is a partner of Appleby. 

The chairman of the audit committee and the chairman 

of the governance, compliance and compensation 

committee each received USD 10,000 as payment 

for services rendered by them as chairmen of the 

respective committees.

Morten W. Høegh received USD 5,000 as a member 

of the Company’s nomination committee and also 

receives an annual salary of GBP 36,000 from Leif 

Höegh (U.K.) Limited (a subsidiary of Höegh LNG) 

for his part-time employment with Leif Höegh (U.K.) 

Limited. 

The Company has no pension or retirement benefi ts 

for the members of the Board.

No Director has service contracts with the Company 

or any of its subsidiaries providing for benefi ts on 

termination of their employment.

12. Remuneration of executive 
personnel
The Board approves the remuneration to the President 

& CEO. In addition, it approves the main terms of 

the remuneration package offered to employees in 

Höegh LNG, including the parameters for any annual 

salary adjustments, pension schemes and the 

variable elements in the remuneration package 

(bonus and stock option schemes). 

The Company has a stock option scheme in place 

for management and key personnel, with awards 

currently being made on a bi-annual basis (see Note 24 

to the 2016 full-year fi nancials). The terms of the 

scheme and the option agreements, including its 

members, are approved by the Board. There are no 

restrictions on the ownership of awarded options 

for shares. 

Further details on remuneration of executive personnel 

for the current fi nancial year are provided in Note 32 

to the 2016 full-year fi nancials.

As a Bermudan entity, sections 6-16a and 6-37 of 

the Norwegian Public Company Act do not apply 

to Höegh LNG. Hence, the Board does not produce 

a statement on how salary and other remuneration, 

etc. for the Group’s executive personnel are 

determined, nor is such a statement submitted to 

the annual general meeting for consideration.

13. Information and 
communications
Höegh LNG has a policy of openness with regard 

to reporting information to stakeholders. Periodical 

reports include quarterly reports and the annual 

report. All reports are published through stock 

exchange releases and at the Company’s website. 

Main events are also reported through press and/

or stock exchange releases. In connection with the 

release of quarterly reports, the President & CEO and 

the CFO hold open webcasts which are accessible 

from the Company’s website.

The charter for the Board of Directors includes 

guidelines to secure disclosure in accordance with 

the fi nancial calendar adopted by the Board.

Outside the general meeting, contact with the 

shareholders is handled by the President & CEO, 

the CFO and the head of IR. This aims to maintain 

an active dialogue with the investor market and other 

relevant interested parties. 

The Company complies with the Oslo Børs code of 

practice for IR, with the following comments:  

–  The Company discloses information in the English 

language only.

–  The Company publishes interim reports as soon 

as possible and aims to publish them no later 

than on the 15th day of the second month after 

the end of the relevant quarter.   

–  The Company publishes a list of its 20 largest 

shareholders, but not a list of the 20 largest 

benefi cial owners as the proportion of shares 

registered through nominee accounts is limited 

compared with the Company’s total issued shares.

–  Employees and primary insiders are required to 

obtain prior written approval from the Company 

before conducting any trading in the Company’s 

share.

–  The Company provides information about future 

prospects on a project-by-project basis in the 

various business segments. The following KPIs 

are communicated: Expected unleveraged return, 

expected EBITDA per year and the expected 

debt-to-equity ratio. The Company does not 

provide any guidance on expected revenue, 

net profi t or any accounting-related information 

or fi gures.   

–  Information about fi nancial strategy and external 

debt is included in the notes to the full-year 

fi nancials.

14. Takeovers
The Company endorses the principles concerning 

equal treatment of all shareholders. It is obliged 

to act professionally and in accordance with the 

applicable principles for good corporate governance 

set out in the Norwegian corporate governance code 

in the event of a takeover bid. 

15. Auditor
The auditor is appointed by the general meeting 

and has the duty to audit the Company’s fi nancial 

reporting. The Company’s auditor is currently 

Ernst & Young. 

In order to safeguard the Board’s access and control 

of the auditor’s work, the auditor meets with the 

audit committee and once a year with the full Board. 

The auditor is also given copies of the agenda of and 

documentation for and minutes from audit committee 

and Board meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORTCORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY 
STATEMENT
Today, the Board of Directors and President & CEO 

reviewed and approved the Board of Directors’ Report, 

the Corporate Social Responsibility chapter, the 

Corporate Governance Report and the consolidated 

and separate annual fi nancial statements for 

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd., for the year ending as 

of 31 December 2016 (Annual Report 2016).

Höegh LNG’s parent company and consolidated 

fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted by the EU (“IFRS”) and additional disclosure 

requirements set out in the Norwegian Securities 

Trading Act.

To the best of our knowledge:

–  The consolidated and separate annual fi nancial 

statements for 2016 have been prepared in 

accordance with IFRS;

–  The consolidated and separate annual fi nancial 

statements give a true and fair view of the assets, 

liabilities, fi nancial position and profi t (or loss) as 

a whole as of 31 December 2016 for the Group 

and the parent company; and

–  The Board of Directors’ report for the Group 

and the parent company includes a true and fair 

review of

–  The development and performance of 

 the business and the position of the 

 Group and the parent company; and

–  The principal risks and uncertainties 

 the Group and the parent company 

 face.

Hamilton, Bermuda, 22 March 2017

The Board of Directors and the President & CEO of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.

Hamilton, Bermuda, 22 March 2017

The Board of Directors and the President & CEO of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.

Morten W. Høegh 
Chairman

Morten W. Høegh 
Chairman

Leif O. Høegh
Deputy Chairman

Leif O. Høegh
Deputy Chairman

Cameron E. Adderley
Director

Cameron E. Adderley
Director

Andrew Jamieson
Director

Andrew Jamieson
Director

Christopher G. Finlayson
Director

Christopher G. Finlayson
Director

Jørgen Kildahl
Director

Jørgen Kildahl
Director

Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg
Director

Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg
Director

Sveinung J.S. Støhle
President & CEO

Sveinung J.S. Støhle
President & CEO
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USD'000 Note 2016 2015

Freight revenues 4  213 889  198 684 

Management and other income 5  5 252  9 328 

Share of results from investments in joint ventures 21  13 773  11 359 

TOTAL INCOME  232 914  219 371 

Charterhire expenses  (35 359)  (35 302)

Bunker and other voyage related expenses  (424)  (2 759)

Operating expenses 6  (43 754)  (41 870)

Project administrative expenses 7, 8  (13 161)  (12 824)

Group administrative expenses 7, 9  (20 585)  (19 039)

Business development expenses 7, 10  (8 351)  (17 285)

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT  111 280  90 292 

Depreciation 11  (34 848)  (30 717)

(Impairment)/Reversal of impairment 11, 13  -    (33 887)

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) AFTER DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT  76 432  25 688 

Interest income  1 457  1 495 

Interest expenses 18  (55 180)  (43 990)

Income from other fi nancial items  6 214  423 

Expenses from other fi nancial items 19  (9 790)  (9 318)

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS  (57 299)  (51 390)

ORDINARY PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX  19 133  (25 702)

Income taxes 25  (5 121)  (1 056)

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR  14 012  (26 758)

Profi t (loss) of the period attributable to (from):

Equity holders of the parent  1 298  (37 737)

Non-controlling interests  12 714  10 979 

TOTAL  14 012  (26 758)

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the parent during the year:

Basic and diluted earnings per share (loss)  0.02  (0.53)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The notes on page 47 to 93 are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
         As at 31 December

USD'000 Note 2016 2015

ASSETS

Non-current assets 

Intangible assets 

Deferred tax assets 25  353  364 

Licenses, design and other intangibles 13  -    -   

Tangible assets 

Investments in FSRUs 11  1 139 734  871 353 

Investments in newbuildings under construction  12  129 678  161 198 

Other non-current fi nancial assets  31  22 123  12 960 

Other non-current assets  30  22 120  25 539 

Shareholder loans  32  943  6 861 

Non-current restricted cash  15  18 580  19 648 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  1 333 531  1 097 923 

Current assets 

Bunkers and inventories  745  1 684 

Trade and other receivables 26  40 539  33 307 

Shareholder loans 32  6 275  7 130 

Marketable securities 16  135 751  231 094 

Current restricted cash 15  10 274  15 542 

Cash and cash equivalents 15  186 346  97 623 

Total current assets  379 930  386 380 

Asset held for sale 11  -    17 978 

TOTAL ASSETS  1 713 461  1 502 281 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 

Share capital  22  769  768 

Other paid-in capital   550 659  522 954 

Capital reserves   (53 853)  (81 438)

Retained earnings   (51 599)  (19 927)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  445 976  422 357 

Non-controlling interests  150 087  69 208 

TOTAL EQUITY  596 063  491 565 

Non-current liabilities 

Deferred tax liability  6 114  358 

Non-current interest-bearing debt  17  786 567  732 026 

Investment in joint ventures  21  48 530  73 502 

Other non-current fi nancial liabilities  14, 31  16 938  70 699 

Deferred revenue   5 761  7 699 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  863 910  884 284 

Current liabilities 

Current interest-bearing debt  17  149 295  55 036 

Income tax payable 25  1 109  2 218 

Trade and other payables  27  19 023  18 706 

Other current fi nancial liabilities  14, 29  57 890  18 372 

Other current liabilities 28  26 171  32 100 

Total current liabilities  253 488  126 432 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  1 713 461  1 502 281 

The notes on page 47 to 93 are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.

USD'000 Note 2016 2015

Profi t for the year  14 012  (26 758)

Items that will not be reclassifi ed to profi t or (loss)

Net gain (loss) on other capital reserves  22  47 

Items that may be subsequently reclassifi ed to profi t or (loss)

Net gain (loss) on hedging reserves 14  14 022  (4 270)

Share of other comprehensive income from joint ventures 14, 21  11 199  11 728 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR NET OF TAX  25 243  7 505 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR  39 255  (19 253)

Total comprehensive income attributable to (from):

Equity holders of the parent  19 590  (34 784)

Non-controlling interests  19 665  15 531 

TOTAL  39 255  (19 253)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  //  HÖEGH LNGHÖEGH LNG  \\  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Other 
paid-in 
capital

Hedging
reserves

Other 
capital

reserves
Retained
earnings TOTAL

Non-
controlling

interests
TOTAL 

EQUITYUSD’000

Note Note 22 Note 14

At 1 January 2015  699  344 317  (12)  77 801  (83 072)  (2 863)  19 570  356 440  96 470  452 910 

Profi t (loss) for 
the year  (37 737)  (37 737)  10 979  (26 758)

Other comprehensive 
income for the year  2 906  47  2 953  4 552  7 505 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the year  -    -    -    -    2 906  47  (37 737)  (34 784)  15 531  (19 253)

Issue of share capital 22  69  100 423  (41)  100 451  -    100 451 

Other changes in 
paid-in capital  (869)  (869) -  (869)

Share-based payments                   24  1 628  1 628  64  1 692 

Share-based payment 
- cash settled  (293)  (293) -  (293)

Capital contribution 
to HMLP  (2 768)  (2 768)  2 768  -   

Dividend to shareholders 
of the parent  (28 169)  (28 169) -  (28 169)

HMLP dividend to 
non-controlling interest  -    (14 904)  (14 904)

Sale of subsidiary to 
HMLP 21  1 544  29 177  30 721  (30 721)  -   

Total other transactions, 
recognised directly 
in equity  69  100 423  -    425  1 544  -    (1 760)  100 701  (42 793)  57 908 

At 31 December 2015  768  444 740  (12)  78 226  (78 622)  (2 816)  (19 927)  422 357  69 208  491 565 

Profi t (loss) for 
the year  1 298  1 298  12 714  14 012 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year  18 270  22  18 292  6 951  25 243 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the year  -    -    -    -    18 270  22  1 298  19 590  19 665  39 255 

Issue of share capital 22  1  338  (252)  87 -  87 

Share-based payments                   24  1 815  1 815  212  2 027 

Share-based payment
- cash settled  (100)  (100) -  (100)

Capital contribution 
to HMLP  (1 613)  (1 613)  1 613  -   

Units granted to 
the board of HMLP  56  19  75  114  189 

Dividend to shareholders 
of the parent  (30 263)  (30 263) -  (30 263)

HMLP dividend to 
non-controlling interest  -    (18 225)  (18 225)

Net proceeds of equity 
issuance HMLP  25 848  9 274  35 122  76 406  111 528 

Other changes in equity  (1 094)  (1 094)  1 094  -   

Total other transactions, 
recognised directly 
in equity  1  338  -    27 367  9 293  -    (32 970)  4 029  61 214  65 243 

At 31 December 2016  769  445 078  (12)  105 593  (51 059)  (2 794)  (51 599)  445 976  150 087  596 063 

The notes on page 47 to 93 are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements. 

Sveinung J.S. Støhle
President & CEO

Hamilton, Bermuda, 22 March 2017

The Board of Directors and the President & CEO

Morten W. Høegh 
Chairman

Leif O. Høegh
Deputy Chairman

Cameron E. Adderley
Director

Andrew Jamieson
Director

Christopher G. Finlayson
Director

Jørgen Kildahl
Director

Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

USD'000 Note 2016 2015

Cash fl ow from operating activities:

Profi t (loss) before tax for the year  19 133  (25 702)

Non-cash adjustment to reconcile profi t before tax to net operational cash fl ows

Depreciation vessels, drydocking and equipment 11  34 848  30 717 

Net impairment expenses (reversal of impairment) 13  -    33 887 

Fair value adjustments on marketable securities 16  (5 697)  (362)

Interest income  (1 457)  (1 495)

Interest cost 18  55 180  43 990 

Net loss (income) on interest rate hedges  (517)  572 

Currency loss on restricted cash balances  5 200  -   

Share-based payment cost and Board remuneration not paid-out 24  2 012  1 742 

Share of profi ts from investments in joint ventures 21  (13 772)  (11 359)

Working capital adjustments

Change in inventories, receivables and payables  (19 027)  1 661 

Dividend received from joint ventures  -    1 578 

Payment of income tax  (423)  (37)

i) NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  75 479  75 191 

Cash fl ow from investing activites:

Investment in marketable securities 16  (116)  (184 230)

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 16  101 269  71 191 

Investments in vessels, drydocking, newbuildings and mooring  (264 799)  (56 429)

Net proceeds from sale of LNG Libra  17 978 

Investment in intangibles, equipment and other  (969)  (717)

Interest received  1 387  1 007 

Repayment of shareholder loans  6 639  5 254 

ii) NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (138 611)  (163 924)

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activites:

Gross proceeds from equity issuance in Höegh LNG Partners LP 21  112 013  -   

Transaction cost of equity issuance in Höegh LNG Partners LP 21  (484)  -   

Gross proceeds from equity issuance    22  -    102 908 

Transaction cost of equity issuance 22  -    (2 509)

Dividend paid to non-controlling interest (HMLP)  (18 224)  (14 903)

Dividend paid to shareholders of the parent  (30 263)  (28 169)

Proceeds from borrowings  200 067  165 200 

Payment of debt issuance cost  (2 421)  (2 630)

Repayment of borrowings  (57 394)  (47 223)

Interest paid  (53 773)  (45 511)

Breakage cost paid on interest rate swaps  -    (3 185)

(Increase) decrease in restricted cash  2 333  (3 923)

iii) NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 151 854  120 054 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (i+ii+iii)  88 722  31 321 

Current cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  97 623  66 302 

CURRENT CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 15  186 345  97 623 

Guarantees (Interest rate swaps Arctic leases)  26 381  30 489 

Undrawn facilities 22  194 000  200 000 

Aggregate cash fl ows from joint ventures  5 964  2 721 

The notes on page 47 to 93 are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements. 

Note 1: Corporate information
Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) is an 

exempted company incorporated with limited liability 

under the laws of Bermuda. The Company’s 

registered offi ce is at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria 

Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The consolidated 

fi nancial statements for the fi scal year of 2016 

comprise the Company, its subsidiaries and joint 

venture companies (collectively “Höegh LNG” or 

the “Group”). The Company is listed on Oslo Børs 

(the Oslo stock exchange) under the ticker “HLNG”.

Höegh LNG Partners LP (“HMLP”) is a limited 

partnership formed by the Company in 2014 and 

listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) 

under the ticker “HMLP”. HMLP and its subsidiaries 

are collectively referred to as the “MLP”.

Information on the Group’s structure is provided 

in Note 21. Information on other related party 

transactions of Höegh LNG is provided in Note 32. 

As of 31 December 2016, Höegh LNG operated 

a fl eet of two LNG transportation vessels (LNGCs)

and six fl oating storage and regasifi cation units 

(FSRUs) and had four FSRUs under construction 

including orders announced in January 2017. 

The annual accounts for the Company and the 

Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 were 

approved by the Board on 22 March 2017.

Note 2: Summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies
2.1  Basis of preparation

The consolidated fi nancial statements of Höegh LNG 

and the fi nancials for the Company have been 

prepared in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 

and adopted by the EU. The explanations of the 

accounting principles for Höegh LNG also apply to 

the Company and the notes to the consolidated 

fi nancial statements will in some cases cover the 

Company only.

The consolidated fi nancial statements have been 

prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 

derivative fi nancial instruments and the marketable 

securities portfolio, which are measured at fair value. 

The carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities 

that are designated as hedged items in fair value 

hedges that would otherwise be carried at amortised 

cost are adjusted to record changes in the fair values 

attributable to the risks that are being hedged in 

effective hedge relationships.

The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented 

in USD and all values are rounded to the nearest 

thousand (USD’000) unless otherwise indicated. 

The cash fl ow statements are presented using the 

indirect method.

The income statements are presented by showing 

expenses by their function, as this is the most 

relevant and reliable presentation for the Group. 

Disclosures by nature and function are provided 

in the notes to the fi nancial statements.

The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared 

under a going concern assumption.

2.2  Foreign currencies

Höegh LNG presents its fi nancial statements in USD. 

This is also the functional currency for all the material 

companies in the Group. 

Transactions in other currencies than USD are 

recognised in USD at the rate of exchange at the 

date of the transactions. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated to USD using the exchange rate at the 

reporting date. Non-monetary items measured in 

terms of historical cost in foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rate at the date of 

the initial transaction. 

2.3  Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated fi nancial statements comprise 

the fi nancial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries and joint venture companies as at 

31 December 2016.

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities in which Höegh LNG 

has a controlling interest. Control is achieved when 
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Höegh LNG is exposed, or has rights, to variable 

returns from its involvement with the investee and 

has the ability to affect those returns through its 

power over the investee. When Höegh LNG has less 

than a majority of the voting or similar rights of 

an investee, all relevant facts and circumstances 

are considered in assessing whether Höegh LNG 

has de facto power over an investee. Höegh LNG 

re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee 

if facts and circumstances change. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 

on which control is transferred to Höegh LNG and 

de-consolidated from the date on which control 

ceases to exist. All intra-group balances, transactions, 

unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 

transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Höegh LNG recognises any non-controlling interest 

in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, 

either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 

proportionate share of the recognised amounts of 

the acquiree’s identifi able net assets at the time of 

the transaction. Any change in ownership interests 

without change of control is accounted for as equity 

transactions towards non-controlling interest. 

(b) Investment in joint ventures

Höegh LNG applies IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. 

Under IFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements 

are classifi ed as either joint operations or joint 

ventures depending on the contractual rights and 

obligations. Höegh LNG has assessed the nature of 

all its joint agreements and assessed them to be joint 

ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using 

the equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in an 

associate or a joint venture is initially recognised 

at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 

post-acquisition profi ts or losses, movements in 

other comprehensive income or dividends received.

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions 

between companies in the Group and joint ventures 

are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the 

associate or joint venture.

The fi nancial statements of the associate or joint 

venture are prepared for the same reporting period 

as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are 

made to bring the accounting policies in line with 

those of Höegh LNG.

2.4  Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in accordance with 

the internal reporting provided to the chief decision-

makers, defi ned as the Board of Directors of the 

Company.

2.5  Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable 

that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to Höegh LNG 

and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless 

of when the payment is being made. Revenue is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or the receivable, taking into account 

contractually defi ned terms of payment. The specifi c 

recognition criteria described below must also be 

met before revenue is recognised.

(a) Income on time charter basis

Chartering arrangements, in which substantially all 

of the risks and rewards of the ownership of the 

underlying LNGC or FSRU are retained by Höegh LNG, 

are classifi ed as operating leases pursuant 

to IAS 17. Income from operating leases is recognised 

on a straight-line basis as time charter income. 

Höegh LNG does not recognise time charter income 

during periods when the underlying vessel is off-hire. 

When the vessel is off hire, voyage expenses may be 

incurred and paid by Höegh LNG. Voyage expenses 

include bunker fuel expenses, port fees, cargo 

loading and unloading expenses, canal tolls and 

agency fees. 

(b) Management and other income

Höegh LNG receives management income from 

technical, commercial and administrative services 

delivered to joint ventures or external parties. 

This income is recognised in the period in which 

the service is provided.

2.6  Operating expenses

FSRU and LNGC operating expenses include crew 

personnel expenses, repairs and maintenance, 

insurance, stores, lube oils, communication expenses 

and management fees.

For some contracts, the majority of vessel operating 

expenses are reimbursed from the charterer. In such 

circumstances, operating expenses are recognised 

as incurred and the revenue is recognised accordingly. 

2.7  Current versus non-current classifi cation

Höegh LNG’s recognition of current and non-current 

items in the fi nancial position is determined by 

maturity of less and more than 12 months, 

respectively. Derivative instruments that are not 

designated as effective hedging instruments are 

classifi ed as current or non-current, alternatively 

separated into current and non-current portions 

based on an assessment of facts and circumstances 

(i.e. the underlying contracted cash fl ows). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classifi ed as 

non-current assets and liabilities.

2.8  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at hand, 

bank deposits and short-term deposits with maturity 

of three months or less. 

Cash not available for general use by Höegh LNG 

due to loan restrictions or currency restrictions are 

classifi ed as restricted cash. 

2.9  Fair value measurement

Financial instruments, such as derivatives, are 

measured at fair value. The fair value of fi nancial 

instruments traded in active markets is determined 

by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price 

quotations, without any deduction for transaction 

costs. The fair value of fi nancial instruments not 

traded in active markets is determined using 

appropriate valuation techniques. 

A fair value measurement of a non-fi nancial asset 

takes into account a market participant’s ability to 

generate economic benefi ts by using the asset in 

its highest and best use or by selling it to another 

market participant that would use the asset in its 

highest and best use. 

Höegh LNG uses valuation techniques that are 

appropriate in the circumstances and for which 

suffi cient data are available to measure fair value, 

maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 

and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is 

measured or disclosed in the fi nancial statements 

are categorised within the fair value hierarchy based 

on the lowest level input that is signifi cant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole, and can be described 

as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest 

level input that is signifi cant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest 

level input that is signifi cant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable.

Fair value related disclosures for fi nancial instruments 

and non-fi nancial assets that are measured at fair 

value or where fair values are disclosed are 

summarised in the following notes:

–  Marketable securities; Note 16

–  Financial risk management objectives and 

 policies; Note 14

2.10  Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classifi ed, at initial recognition, 

as fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss, 

loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, 

available-for-sale fi nancial assets, or as derivatives 

designated as hedging instruments in an effective 

hedge, as appropriate. All fi nancial assets are 

recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of 

fi nancial assets not recorded at fair value through 

profi t or loss, transaction costs that are attributable 

to the acquisition of the fi nancial asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of fi nancial assets 

depends on their classifi cation. The measurement 
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principles for the relevant categories for Höegh LNG 

are described below:

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profi t or 

loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss 

include fi nancial assets held for trading and fi nancial 

assets designated upon initial recognition at fair 

value through profi t or loss. 

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss 

are carried in the statement of fi nancial position at 

fair value with net changes in fair value in the income 

statement.

Höegh LNG evaluates its fi nancial assets held for 

trading, other than derivatives, to determine whether 

the intention to sell them in the near term is still 

appropriate. 

(b) Financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 

Höegh LNG uses derivative fi nancial instruments, 

such as forward currency contracts and interest 

rate swaps, to hedge its foreign currency risks and 

interest rate risks.

Such derivative fi nancial instruments are initially 

recognised at fair value on the date on which a 

derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 

fi nancial assets when the fair value is positive and 

as fi nancial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the 

hedging instrument is recognised directly as other 

comprehensive income in the cash fl ow hedge 

reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised 

immediately in profi t or loss.

Amounts recognised as other comprehensive 

income are transferred to profi t or loss when 

the hedged transaction affects profi t or loss, such 

as when the hedged fi nancial income or expense 

is recognised or when a forecast transaction occurs. 

Derivative fi nancial instruments that are designated 

as, and are effective hedging instruments, are 

separated into a current and non-current portion 

consistent with the classifi cation of the underlying 

item.

2.11  Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised at fair 

value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

The interest element is disregarded if it is insignifi cant, 

which is normally the situation for Höegh LNG. 

Should there be objective evidence of a decline in 

value, the difference between the carrying amount 

and the estimated recoverable amount will be 

recognised as a loss.

2.12  Tangible assets

Non-current assets such as FSRUs, LNGCs, 

investments in construction of newbuildings and 

equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment charges. Cost is 

directly attributable cost plus borrowing cost during 

construction.

a) Depreciation of FSRUs and LNGCs

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis 

over the estimated useful life of a vessel taking its 

residual value into consideration. Useful life is 

estimated at 35 years.

Certain capitalised elements like costs related to major 

classifi cation/dry-docking have shorter estimated 

useful life and are depreciated until the next planned 

dry docking, typically over a fi ve to seven years 

period. When second hand vessels are purchased 

and newbuildings are delivered, a portion of the 

price paid is classifi ed as dry docking costs. 

Costs of day-to-day servicing, maintenance and 

repairs are expensed.

The useful life and residual values are reviewed at 

each fi nancial year-end and adjusted prospectively, 

if appropriate.

b) Newbuildings

FRSUs under construction are classifi ed as non-

current assets and recognised at the costs incurred 

till date. Yard instalments are recognised when due. 

Newbuildings are not depreciated prior to delivery 

from the yard as an FSRU or an LNGC. Borrowing 

costs directly attributable to the construction of 

FRSUs are added to the cost of the vessels, until 

such time as the vessels are ready for their intended 

use. 

c) Equipment

Investments in offi ce equipment and IT are depreciated 

over a 3-5 year period based on a straight-line basis. 

Equipment used for FSRU operations such as jetty 

topsides and other infrastructure where the FSRU 

is located, depending on the feasibility of reallocating 

the equipment, are depreciated either over the 

contract term or estimated useful life. 

d) Impairment of tangible assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested 

for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. No impairment indications have 

been identifi ed.

2.13  Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured 

on initial recognition at cost. The cost of separately 

acquired intangible assets comprises the purchase 

price and any directly attributable costs. Following 

initial recognition, intangible assets are carried 

at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 

accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised intangible assets with fi nite lives are 

assessed for impairment. 

2.14  Lease accounting

Leases in which a signifi cant portion of the risks and 

rewards of ownership are retained by Höegh LNG as 

lessor are classifi ed as operating leases. Payments 

made under operating leases are charged to the 

income statement on a straight line basis over 

the period of the lease. 

Lease of vessels or equipment where Höegh LNG 

as lessor has transferred substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership are classifi ed as fi nancial 

leases.

At the inception of a fi nancial lease the vessel value 

is derecognised. And the lower of fair value of the 

leased item or the present value of minimum lease 

payments is recognised as a receivable towards the 

charterer. Each lease payment received is allocated 

between reducing the receivable and interest income. 

The interest element is recorded as revenue in the 

income statement over the lease period, so as to 

produce a periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the receivable.

2.15  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when Höegh LNG has a 

present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, when it is probable that an outfl ow 

or resources representing economic benefi ts will be 

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The expense relating to any provision is presented 

net of any reimbursement.

2.16  Equity

Own equity instruments, which are reacquired 

(treasury shares), are recognised at cost and deducted 

from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profi t or 

loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 

Höegh LNG’s own equity instruments. Any difference 

between the carrying amount and the consideration, 

if reissued, is recognised as a share premium. 

Transaction costs related to an equity transaction 

are recognised directly in equity, net of tax.

2.17  Income tax

The companies in Höegh LNG are subject to income 

tax in certain countries in which they operate. Income 

tax expense in these entities represents the current 

income tax and changes in any deferred tax assets 

and liabilities.

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current 

period are measured at the amount recovered 

from or expected paid to the tax authorities. Tax rates 

and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 

that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the 

reporting date in the countries where Höegh LNG 

operates and generate taxable income. 

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is calculated using the method on 

temporary differences at the reporting date between 
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the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 

amounts for fi nancial reporting purposes.  

2.18  Impairment of assets

(a) Financial assets

Höegh LNG assesses, at each reporting date, 

whether there is objective evidence that a fi nancial 

asset or a group of fi nancial assets is impaired. 

For fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, 

Höegh LNG assesses whether objective evidence 

of impairment exists. If there is objective evidence 

that an impairment loss has incurred, the amount of 

the loss is measured as the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated future cash fl ows. 

(b) Vessels, Newbuildings and Equipment

The carrying amounts of FSRUs, LNGCs, newbuildings 

and equipment are tested for impairment whenever 

there are indications that the value may be impaired. 

When such indicators exist, Höegh LNG estimates 

the asset’s recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the lowest of the fair market value of the 

asset, less cost to sell, and the net present value 

(NPV) of future estimated cash fl ows from the 

employment of the asset (“value in use”). To calculate 

the NPV, an asset specifi c interest rate is applied 

based on Höegh LNG’s long-term borrowing rate 

and a risk free rate plus a risk premium for the equity. 

If the recoverable amount is lower than the book value, 

the asset is revalued to the recoverable amount.

Generally, all vessels are considered separate cash 

generating units and assessed independently. Future 

cash fl ows are based on expected charter earnings 

and estimated operating expenses over the remaining 

useful life of the vessel. 

(c) Intangible assets

For intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives and 

intangible assets in the development phase, Höegh 

LNG performs impairment testing annually and when 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

be impaired. For intangible assets with fi nite lives, 

impairment testing is carried out whenever there is 

an indication of impairment.

As of 31 December 2015 and 2016, all material 

intangibles related to the FLNG segment have been 

impaired.

2.19  Interest-bearing debt

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised 

at the fair value of the consideration received less 

directly attributable transaction costs. After initial 

recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. 

Debt issuance cost, including arrangement fees and 

legal expenses are deferred and netted against the 

fi nancial liability in the balance sheet and amortised 

on an effective interest rate method. 

2.20  Share-based payments

Members of the Top Management and key employees 

of Höegh LNG receive part of their remuneration 

in the form of share-based payments, whereby 

Management render services as consideration for 

equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, 

together with a corresponding increase in other 

capital reserves, as equity over the period in which 

the performance and/or service conditions are 

fulfi lled. The cumulative expenses recognised for 

equity-settled transactions at each reporting date 

until the vesting date refl ects the extent to which 

the vesting period has expired and Höegh LNG’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments 

that will ultimately vest. The income statement 

expense or credit for a period represents the 

movement in cumulative expense recognised as 

at the beginning and end of that period and is 

recognised as employee benefi ts expense. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not 

ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions 

for which vesting is conditional, upon a market or 

non-vesting condition. When an equity-settled award 

is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of 

cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for 

the award is recognised immediately. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is refl ected 

as additional share dilution in the computation of 

diluted earnings per share.

2.21  Events after balance sheet date

New information becoming available after the 

balance sheet date with impact on Höegh LNG’s 

fi nancial position at the balance sheet date is taken 

into account in the annual fi nancial statements and 

disclosed if signifi cant. 

2.22  Shares and units in subsidiaries 

(Company only) 

Shares and units in subsidiaries in the Company 

accounts are recorded at cost. These investments 

are reviewed for impairment when there are indicators 

that carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

Dividend or other distributions from subsidiaries are 

recognised when the Company’s right to receive 

payments is established. These transactions are all 

eliminated on consolidation.

2.23  New and amended standards and 

interpretations adopted by Höegh LNG

There are no standards adopted by Höegh LNG 

for the fi rst time for the fi nancial year beginning 

1 January 2016, which have had material impact 

on the fi nancial statements.

2.24  New standards issued but not yet effective

Standards and interpretations that are issued up to 

the date of issuance of the consolidated fi nancial 

statements, but not yet effective, are disclosed 

below to the extent they are considered relevant 

for the Group. Höegh LNG’s intention is to adopt 

relevant new and amended standards and 

interpretations when they become effective, subject 

to EU approval before the consolidated fi nancial 

statements are issued.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments (replacement of IAS 39)

IFRS 9 will eventually replace IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. In order 

to expedite the replacement of IAS 39, the IASB has 

divided the project into phases: Classifi cation and 

measurement, hedge accounting and impairment. 

New principles for impairment were published in 

July 2014 and the standard is now completed. 

The parts of IAS 39 that have not been amended as 

part of this project have been transferred into IFRS 9. 

If not early adopted, the standard becomes effective 

as of 1 January 2018. Höegh LNG has made 

a preliminary assessment of the effect of the 

standard without identifying any material impact 

on its fi nancial performance.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The IASB and the FASB have issued their joint 

revenue recognition standard, IFRS 15. The standard 

replaces existing IFRS and US GAAP revenue 

requirements. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that 

revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of 

promised goods or services to customers in an 

amount that refl ects the consideration to which the 

entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services. The standard applies to all revenue 

contracts and provides a model for the recognition 

and measurement of sales of some non-fi nancial 

assets (e.g., disposals of property, plant and 

equipment). If not early adopted, the standard 

becomes effective as of 1 January 2017. Höegh LNG 

has made a preliminary assessment of the effect of 

the standard without identifying any material impact 

on Höegh LNG’s fi nancial performance.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 replaces the existing IAS 17 and sets out 

the principles for the recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties 

to a contract, i.e. the customer (“lessee”) and the 

supplier (“lessor”). 

For lessor, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the 

accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, 

a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating 

leases or fi nancial leases, and to account for those 

two types of leases differently.

The new lease standards require lessees to recognise 

assets and liabilities for most leases, which is 

a signifi cant change from current requirements.

The Group has made a preliminary assessment of 

the effect of the standard.  The impact is expected to 

be an increase in recognised fi xed assets and debt, 

with a corresponding shift of certain amounts from 

bareboat expenses to partly depreciation and partly 

to interest expenses. 
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Other changes in accounting policies are considered 

not to cause material effects for Höegh LNG.

2.25  Signifi cant accounting judgements, 

estimates and assumptions

The preparation of fi nancial statements requires 

Management to make estimates, assumptions 

and judgements that affect the application of the 

accounting principles and the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses. 

Uncertainty about these judgments, assumptions 

and estimates could result in outcomes that require 

a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 

assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Signifi cant accounting judgements

Management has applied signifi cant judgments in 

applying Höegh LNG’s accounting policies mainly 

relating to the following:

–  Application of currency rates for Egyptian Pounds

–  Consolidation of entities in which Höegh LNG 

 holds less than 50% of the voting rights.

Application of currency rates for Egyptian Pounds

Höegh LNG has certain revenue, costs and balance 

sheet items denominated in Egyptian Pounds 

(“EGP”). Up until November 2016 restrictions on 

exchanging EGP into USD were imposed by the 

Egyptian Authorities. As a consequence, the EGP 

denominated cash balance held by Höegh LNG in 

excess of working capital need has been classifi ed 

as non-current restricted cash as it is not freely 

available to the Group.

On 3 November 2016, the Egyptian central bank 

announced the end of the fi xed exchange rate 

regime for EGP and stated that the currency would 

be allowed to fl oat against other currencies. As a 

consequence the cash balance of  EGP 77 million 

as of November  was subject to a currency loss of 

USD 4.6 million. 

As of 31 December 2016, there are still practical 

limitations on fi nancial institutions’ ability to exchange 

EGP into USD and as a consequence, the EGP 

denominated cash balance in excess of working 

capital need has been classifi ed as restricted cash.  

Based on an overall evaluation, Management has 

concluded that it is most appropriate to use the offi cial 

USD/EGP exchange rates set by the Egyptian Central 

Bank in converting EGP denominated items into USD. 

In the event that EGP can be freely exchanged into 

USD the cash and receivables held by Höegh LNG 

could be subject to a further currency impact.

Consolidation of entities in which Höegh LNG 

holds less than 50% of the voting rights

Höegh LNG Partners LP (“HMLP”) 

The Company held 46.4% of the units in HMLP 

at 31 December 2016. For the 2014 fi nancial 

statements, Management concluded that Höegh 

LNG had de facto control of HMLP even though it 

has less than 50% of the voting rights. See Note 21 

for additional information. An evaluation of de facto 

control involves assessing all of the facts and 

circumstances, including the current composition 

of the board of directors of HMLP, the rights of 

unitholders and other arrangements and relationships 

between the parties. Management’s assessment is 

based on the combination of factors where the current 

composition of the board of directors of HMLP was 

an important element in the overall conclusion.

Management has updated the assessment for the 

year ended 31 December 2016 and there are no 

material changes in facts and circumstances impacting 

the conclusion. 

PT Hoegh LNG Lampung

HMLP indirectly owns 49.0% of the shares in 

PT Hoegh LNG Lampung, a company owning and 

operating PGN FSRU Lampung. HMLP has the 

power to make the most signifi cant key operating 

decisions and receives all the expected benefi ts or 

expected losses. Therefore, 100% of the assets, 

liabilities, revenues and expenses are consolidated 

in Höegh LNG’s accounts. 

Management has updated the assessment for the 

year ended 31 December 2016 and there are no 

material changes in facts and circumstances impacting 

the conclusion. 

Signifi cant estimates and assumptions

Management has applied signifi cant estimates and 

assumptions mainly relating to the following:

–  Tax positions

–  VAT related matters towards a customer

Accounting of uncertain tax position

Benefi ts from uncertain tax positions are recognised 

when it is probable that a tax position will be 

sustained upon examination based on technical 

merits of the position.

Receivable for VAT on invoice from customer 

As at 31 December 2016, a receivable related to 

VAT (amounting to USD 6.2 million) on an invoice 

from 2014 has not yet been paid. The customer 

has initiated a process with the tax authorities to 

determine if the VAT liability for the invoice was 

required by the tax authorities under the specifi c 

set of circumstances. Based on external tax advice, 

the customer’s position presented to the tax authorities 

has merit, which could result in the waiver of the VAT 

liability due from Höegh LNG’s subsidiary so that 

a credit note could be issued. If the process with the 

tax authorities does not prevail, it is assessed based 

on tax advice, that the receivable is a valid claim 

enforceable against the customer. In accordance 

with IFRS, Management has assessed the 

recoverability of the receivable, and the best estimate 

is that the receivable will be fully recovered. Due to 

uncertainties of timing of collection, the receivable 

has been reclassifi ed to Non-current fi nancial assets.
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Note 3: Segment reporting
For the purpose of making decisions on resource allocation and performance assessment, Management monitors 

the operating results of Höegh LNG’s operating segments separately. The only assets and liabilities included 

in the segment report are FSRUs, newbuildings, interest-bearing debt and intangible assets. The Group’s joint 

ventures are evaluated using the proportionate consolidation method rather than the equity method in the 

segment reporting.

Commercial 

The Commercial segment is responsible for the commercial management of Höegh LNG’s FSRU and LNGC 

fl eet, and tender activities for new FSRU and LNGC business.

The segment includes time charter income and operating expenses for the three LNGCs, Arctic Princess, 

Arctic Lady and LNG Libra and the FSRUs Independence and Höegh Grace. LNG Libra was sold in February 

2016. For the Arctic Princess and Arctic Lady, the segment reporting also include bareboat hire paid to external 

owners, 66% and 50%, respectively, as well as management income for commercial management services 

paid by the external owners. 

Neptune, GDF Suez Cape Ann and PGN FSRU Lampung were transferred from the Commercial to the MLP 

segment with effect from 13 August 2014, while Höegh Gallant was transferred with effect from 1 October 2015. 

MLP

The MLP segment includes activities related to the MLP, which was established for the purpose of owning, 

operating and acquiring FSRUs, LNGCs and other LNG infrastructure assets under long-term charters, defi ned 

as fi ve years or more. The MLP fl eet consists of the following FSRUs: (i) a 50% interest in the Neptune; 

(ii) a 50% interest in the GDF Suez Cape Ann; (iii) a 100% economic interest in the PGN FSRU Lampung and 

(iv) a 100% interest in Höegh Gallant. Höegh LNG is obliged to offer any FSRU or LNGC operating under 

a long-term charter to HMLP. The capitalised costs attributable to the MLP segment relate to the ownership of 

the four FSRUs.

Technical 

The Technical segment is responsible for technical management of Höegh LNG’s FSRUs and LNGCs and 

for the execution of new regasifi cation and transport projects until delivery. The segment records income for 

technical management services paid by external owners in the Group’s jointly controlled vessels and by the 

third-party owners of Matthew, the latter until it was sold in July 2016. The segment furthermore records 

revenue and expenses relating to new FSRU and LNGC contracts until delivery. Capitalised costs in the 

segment relate to the FSRU newbuilding programme.

FLNG

The FLNG segment has been responsible for developing and marketing the FLNG designs developed by 

Höegh LNG. It has recorded income and expenses for engineering studies and expenses related to marketing 

of the designs. Capitalised costs within the segment relate to investment in a generic FLNG front-end engineering 

and design (FEED), which was impaired following the decision on 16 February 2016 to cease all FLNG activities.

Other

The Other segment consists of Group management, fi nance, legal and other corporate services. The fi gures 

contain administrative expenses, which are managed on a Group basis and have not been allocated to other 

segments.

USD million 
EBITDA split by segment Commercial FLNG Technical MLP Other

Consolidated
(proportionate) Adjustments

Consolidated
(equity method)

Freight revenues  117.4  -    -    138.6  -    256.0  (42.1)  213.9 

Management and other income  2.7  0.1  1.1  0.9  0.3  5.1  0.1  5.2 

Share of results from inv. in JVs  -    -    -    -    -    -    13.8  13.8 

TOTAL INCOME  120.1  0.1  1.1  139.5  0.3  261.1  (28.2)  232.9 

Charter hire expenses  (20.6)  -    -    -    -    (20.6)  (14.8)  (35.4)

Voyage expenses  (0.4)  -    -    -    -    (0.4)  -    (0.4)

Operating expenses  (25.1)  -    (1.5)  (25.0)  -    (51.6)  7.8  (43.8)

Project administrative expenses  (5.4)  -    (4.6)  (3.4)  -    (13.4)  0.1  (13.3)

Group administrative expenses  -    -    -    (6.3)  (14.2)  (20.5)  (0.1)  (20.6)

Business development expenses  (6.0)  (1.2)  (1.2)  -    -    (8.4)  0.2  (8.2)

EBITDA  62.6  (1.1)  (6.2)  104.8  (13.9)  146.2  (35.0)  111.3 

USD million 
EBITDA split by segment Commercial FLNG Technical MLP Other

Consolidated
(proportionate) Adjustments

Consolidated
(equity method)

Freight revenues  137.6  -    -    103.2  -    240.8  (42.1)  198.7 

Management and other income  1.9  4.8  2.2  -    -    8.9  0.4  9.3 

Share of results from inv. in JVs  -    -    -    -    -    -    11.4  11.4 

TOTAL INCOME  139.5  4.8  2.2  103.2  -    249.7  (30.3)  219.4 

Charter hire expenses  (20.5)  -    -    -    -    (20.5)  (14.8)  (35.3)

Voyage expenses  (2.5)  -    -    (0.3)  -    (2.8)  -    (2.8)

Operating expenses  (31.5)  -    (0.8)  (18.1)  -    (50.4)  8.5  (41.9)

Project administrative expenses  (3.9)  -    (5.7)  (3.4)  -    (13.0)  0.2  (12.8)

Group administrative expenses  -    -    -    (5.4)  (13.6)  (19.0)  -    (19.0)

Business development expenses  (6.1)  (10.3)  (0.8)  -    -    (17.2)  (0.1)  (17.3)

EBITDA  75.0  (5.5)  (5.1)  76.0  (13.6)  126.8  (36,5)  90.3 

Selected items in 
Financial Position Commercial FLNG Technical MLP Other

Consolidated
(proportionate) Adjustments

Consolidated
(equity method)

Intangible assets

Licenses, design and other 

intangibles
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Tangible assets

Investments in FSRUs and NBs  416.6  -    161.2  861.0  -  1 438.8  (406.2)  1 032.6 

Liabilities

Interest-bearing debt 340.7  -    -   609.6 213.2 1 163.5  (376.4) 787.1

Table: Segment information to year ended 31 December 2016

Table: Segment information to year ended 31 December 2015

Selected items in 
Financial Position Commercial FLNG Technical MLP Other

Consolidated
(proportionate) Adjustments

Consolidated
(equity method)

Tangible assets

Investments in FSRUs and NBs  697.7  -    129.7  835.4  -    1 662.8  (393.4)  1 269.4 

Liabilities

Interest-bearing debt 510.0  -    -   569.6 216.6 1 296.2  (360.4) 935.8
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Table: Time charter contracts in operation as at 31 December 2016:

Expected future T/C income - undiscounted < 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

TOTAL  263 631  965 227  1 319 719  2 548 577 

Vessel Type Charterer Country TCP Expiry Option

Arctic Princess LNGC Statoil ASA Norway 20 years January 2026 5 + 5 years

Arctic Lady LNGC Total E&P Norge AS Norway 20 years April 2026 5 + 5 years

Independence FSRU AB Klaipedos Nafta Lithuania 10 years December 2024 -

PGN FSRU Lampung FSRU PT PGN LNG Indonesia Indonesia 20 years July 2034 5 + 5 years

Höegh Gallant FSRU Egyptian Natural Gas Egypt 5 years May 2020 -

Höegh Grace FSRU Sociedad Portuaria El Cayao S.A. Colombia 20 years December 2036 * -

Accounted for as investments in joint ventures

Neptune FSRU GDF Suez Global LNG Supply SA France 20 years November 2029 5 + 5 years

GDF Suez Cape Ann FSRU GDF Suez Global LNG Supply SA France 20 years June 2030 5 + 5 years

* The initial term of the lease is 20 years. The charterer has an unconditional option to cancel the lease after 

10 and 15 years. As a result, the non-cancellable lease period is for 10 years.

The increase in freight revenues from USD 198.7 million in 2015 to USD 213.8 million in 2016 is mainly 

explained by Höegh Gallant operating for the full year 2016 and Höegh Grace starting in December 2016. 

The table below specifi es the expected freight revenue hire to be received from 1 January 2017 to the end of 

the fi rm charter party for Höegh LNG’s vessels, except for revenue from Neptune and GDF Suez Cape Ann, 

which is presented through share of results from investments in joint ventures. Expected future freight revenue 

includes Arctic Princess, Arctic Lady, Independence, PGN FSRU Lampung, Höegh Gallant and Höegh Grace. 

It does not include hire for contracts not commenced as of 31 December 2016. Further, Höegh Grace is 

included with the minimum lease term of 10 years.

In 2016, Höegh LNG had fi ve customers (fi ve customers in 2015), which individually accounted for 10% or 

more of total revenues. Freight revenue from these customers was USD 208.5 million (USD 188.5 million in 

2015). The single largest customer in Höegh LNG represented 26% of total freight revenues (28% in 2015).

The fi ve customers in 2016 individually contributing 10% or more of total freight revenues are:

–  AB Klaipédos Nafta (“KN”)

–  Egyptian Natural Gas Holding Company (“EGAS”)

–  PT PGN LNG (”PGN LNG”)

–  Statoil ASA

–  Total E&P Norge AS

Note 4: Freight revenues
Höegh LNG, including its joint ventures, operates six FSRUs and two LNGCs. 

Revenue from Neptune and GDF Suez Cape Ann is recorded through Höegh LNG’s share of results in joint 

ventures. Arctic Lady and Arctic Princess are owned together with joint venture partners, but subleased to 

the fully owned subsidiary Leif Höegh (U.K.) Limited, which recognises the time charter party (“TCP”) hire as 

freight revenues. 

Note 5: Management fees and other income
Höegh LNG has income from managing LNGCs and FSRUs owned by joint ventures, as well as the LNGC Matthew, 

owned by Suez LNG Shipping NA LLC. The management of Matthew ended during 2016. 

Income from FLNG activities stem mostly from paid studies. However, in the fi rst quarter of 2016 Höegh LNG 

decided to suspend all FLNG activities, which explains the decline in FLNG related income in 2016. The revenue 

streams below have limited margin and are largely offset by business development and project administrative 

expenses (reference is made to Note 10). 

Management and other income 2016 2015

Engineering studies (FLNG)  140  4 750 

Commercial and technical management fees  4 592  3 847 

Other income  520  731 

TOTAL  5 252  9 328 

2016 2015

Crew salaries  15 003  14 018 

Employers' contribution  2 617  2 456 

Other social costs  1 989  2 217 

Crew cost under project phase  1 564  772 

TOTAL CREW COST  21 173  19 463 

Services  2 758  4 256 

Spare parts and consumables  7 133  5 551 

Insurance  3 439  3 760 

Ship Management and other expenses  9 251  8 840 

TOTAL  43 754  41 870 

The delivery of Höegh Grace in April 2016 explains the majority of the increase in operating expenses in 2016. 

Costs related to training and stand-by of crew prior to commercial start-up of new projects is recorded as 

operating expenses.

Note 6: Operating expenses

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  //  HÖEGH LNGHÖEGH LNG  \\  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



60 61HÖEGH LNG  –  Annual Report 2016 Annual Report 2016  –  HÖEGH LNG

Note 7: Salaries and personnel cost

The majority of salary cost is denominated in NOK and other currencies than USD, and are subject to currency 

fl uctations. The impact from currency fl uctuations in 2016 has however been limited. 

Norwegian employers are obliged to have an occupational pension scheme for their employees under 

the Norwegian Act on mandatory occupational pension. Höegh LNG is in compliance with these regulations. 

The contributions made to the defi ned contribution pension plan for full-time employees equal 5-8% of the 

employee’s salary. Höegh LNG has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions.

Höegh LNG also operates a defi ned contribution pension scheme involving the employees in Leif Höegh (U.K.) 

Limited. Höegh LNG has no outstanding or prepaid contributions in Leif Höegh (U.K.) Limited. 

For other offi ces, Höegh LNG pays contributions to Retirement plans, according to local statutory requirements.

Expensed pension cost was USD 0.7 million in 2016 (USD 0.7 million in 2015). 

Note 8: Project administrative expenses
Project administrative expenses comprise the management of the FSRU newbuilding program, the execution 

of projects and the administration of commercial contracts including the costs of operating local offi ces in 

Egypt, Indonesia, Lithuania, Singapore, Colombia and the UK. 

Höegh LNG‘s costs related to technical services is reclassifi ed from project administrative expenses to operating 

expenses.  

2016 2015

Salaries  13 643  13 501 

Benefi ts employees  454  617 

Bonus  3 151  1 445 

Pension cost  730  658 

Share-based payment expenses (Note 24)  2 124  2 358 

Other social costs  3 208  3 315 

TOTAL SALARIES AND PERSONNEL COSTS  23 310  21 894 

Allocated to Group administrative expenses  10 304  8 433 

Allocated to Business development expenses  4 432  4 881 

Allocated to Project administrative expenses  8 574  8 581 

NUMBER OF OFFICE EMPLOYEES 107 102

2016 2015

Total salaries and personnel costs (Note 7)  8 574  8 581 

Consultants/Lawyers  5 791  6 088 

Remuneration board members in subsidiaries  56  70 

Offi ce cost  749  916 

Travel related cost  1 189  1 347 

Other  346  349 

Overhead distribution  2 727  2 739 

Reclassifi ed to operating expenses  (4 962)  (5 688)

Directly attributable cost capitalised as investments into newbuildings  (1 309)  (1 578)

TOTAL  13 161  12 824 

Note 9: Group administrative expenses
Group administrative expenses are expenses associated with management-, administrative-, and general 

functions of Höegh LNG. The cost of general functions, such as IT and HR, is distributed to Project administrative 

expenses and Business development expenses based on headcount. 

Höegh LNG has increased the capacity of general functions to accommodate the higher activity resulting in 

an increase in total salaries and personnel cost from 2015 to 2016. 

2016 2015

Total salaries and personnel costs (Note 7)  10 304  8 433 

Consultants/Lawyers  8 867  9 781 

Remuneration board members  965  945 

Offi ce cost  1 898  1 814 

Travel related cost  500  566 

Other  1 482  988 

Overhead distribution  (3 431)  (3 488)

TOTAL  20 585  19 039 
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Note 10: Business development expenses
Business development expenses are costs related to the development of new projects.

Business development expenses are reduced mainly due to FLNG activities put on hold.

Refer to note 5 for FLNG income.

Note 11: Investments in FSRUs, LNGCs and depot spares

Höegh LNG has not identifi ed any impairment indicators for 2016. FSRUs and LNGCs are depreciated over 

35 years with the components of the net carrying amounts as at 31 December being listed below: 

2016 2015

Total salaries and personnel costs (Note 7)  4 432  4 881 

Consultants/Lawyers  1 878  9 409 

Offi ce cost  485  851 

Travel related cost  742  1 264 

Other  110  130 

Overhead distribution  704  750 

TOTAL  8 351  17 285 

Cost per project: 2016 2015

Floating Production (FLNG)  1 202  10 328 

General business development expenses  7 149  6 957 

TOTAL  8 351  17 285 

FSRUs, LNGC and depot spares 2016 2015

Cost at 1 January  911 139  948 566 

Acquisition cost FSRUs and dry docking  301 330  18 660 

Reclassifi cation to held for sale  -    (56 087)

COST AT 31 DECEMBER  1 212 469  911 139 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 January  (39 786)  (51 410)

Depreciation charge FSRUs, LNG Libra and depot spares  (32 949)  (29 600)

Reversal of impairment LNG Libra (impairment)  -    3 115 

Reclassifi cation of LNG Libra to assets held for sale  -    38 109 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATON AND IMPAIRMENT 31 DECEMBER  (72 735)  (39 786)

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER  1 139 734  871 353 

The table below summarises the total depreciation cost:

LNG Libra was delivered to its new owners during the fi rst quarter of 2016. 

For further details of Equipment, please see Note 30. 

As of year-end 2015, LNG Libra was agreed sold to new owners and reclassifi ed to “Asset held for sale” in the 

statement of fi nancial position where the estimated net sales proceeds was presented as follows:

Net carrying amount 2016 2015

FSRUs  1 130 469  863 680 

Drydocking  7 600  5 800 

Depot spares  1 665  1 873 

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER  1 139 734  871 353 

Depreciation 2016 2015

Vessels  30 749  27 991 

Drydocking  2 200  1 609 

Equipment (Note 30)  1 868  1 117 

Other  31  -   

TOTAL  34 848  30 717 

Asset held for sale 2016 2015

LNG Libra  -    17 978 

TOTAL  -    17 978 

Note 12: Investments in newbuildings 
One FSRU newbuilding, Höegh Grace, was delivered from the yard in the fi rst quarter of 2016 and commenced 

operations in Colombia in December 2016. Including subsequent newbuilding orders, Höegh LNG has four 

FSRU newbuildings under construction with a scheduled delivery early 2017, fi rst quarter 2018, fourth quarter 

2018 and second quarter 2019. 

The cost break down of the carrying amounts for the investments in newbuildings at 31 December 2016 is as 

follows:

When FSRUs under construction are delivered from the yard, they are reclassifi ed from investments in 

newbuildings to investments in FSRUs and depreciation commences. The estimated useful live of FSRUs 

in Höegh LNG’s fl eet is 35 years.

Net carrying amount 2016 2015

Cost 1 January  161 198  127 092 

Borrowing costs  6 504  8 683 

Yard instalments paid  248 966  26 915 

Other capitalised cost  11 333  18 612 

Newbuildings delivered during the year  (298 323)  (20 104)

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER  129 678  161 198 
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Note 13: Licenses, design and other intangibles
Intangible assets net of impairments were allocated to the following segments. 

Cash Generating Unit (CGU) Segment 2016 2015

FLNG front-end engineering design  FLNG  -    -   

Other   -    -   

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER  -    -   

2016 2015

Cost at 1 January  -    37 002 

Additions  -    -   

Impairment  -    (37 002)

COST AT 31 DECEMBER  -    -   

The impairment of intangible assets in 2015 relates solely to the FLNG segment.

Additions, disposals, depreciation and impairment are set out below:

Note 14: Financial risk management objectives and policies
Capital Management

The objective of Höegh LNG’s capital management is to ensure that Höegh LNG is suffi ciently capitalised and 

shareholders’ return is maximised. Balancing the benefi ts of a strong balance sheet with the advantage of 

fi nancial leverage, Höegh LNG is seeking to maintain strong access to capital markets and minimise the cost of 

capital. Höegh LNG has a listed Master Limited Partnership listed at the New York Stock Exchange, providing 

direct access to the U.S. equity capital market.

Höegh LNG started paying dividend in 2015 and has during the year 2016 distributed a dividend of USD 0.4 per share. 

The dividend policy of Höegh LNG is based on stability, predictability and sustainable growth in distributions.

Höegh LNG monitors its capital structure in light of future cash fl ow projections including any off-balance sheet 

capital commitments and available funding. The fi nancial position of Höegh LNG is reported to the top 

management, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors on a regular basis. Höegh LNG’s capital 

structure might be adjusted over time to refl ect the commercial risks associated with the underlying assets, 

its funding situation and the status of the fi nancial markets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 

Höegh LNG may refi nance its debt, buy or issue new shares or debt instruments, sell assets, pay dividends 

or return capital to the shareholders. 

Höegh LNG’s capital structure consists of debt listed in Note 17 and equity attributable to the shareholders of 

Höegh LNG. The shares of and the bonds issued by the Company are listed on the Oslo stock exchange.

As of 31 December 2016, total equity was USD 596 million (USD 492 million). Net of mark-to-market of hedging 

reserves the adjusted book equity was USD 677million (USD 598 million), bringing the adjusted equity ratio 

to 40% (40%). The capital structure is deemed appropriate given the nature of Höegh LNG’s business and its 

existing commitments. Höegh LNG is measuring the consolidated leverage net of hedging instruments as this 

to a greater extent refl ects the solidity of the Group.

2016 2015

Total equity adjusted for hedging  677 111  597 834 

Total assets  1 713 461  1 502 281 

EQUITY RATIO AJDUSTED FOR HEDGING 40% 40%

Financial Risk 

Höegh LNG is in the ordinary course of its business exposed to different types of fi nancial risk including market 

risk (interest- and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Höegh LNG has established procedures and policies 

for determining, mitigating and monitoring the risk exposures. 

Market risk (foreign exchange and interest rate risks)

Risk management routines are in place in order to mitigate fi nancial market risks. Once fi nancial market risks 

are identifi ed, appropriate mitigating actions are taken. Höegh LNG’s primary strategy in mitigating fi nancial 

market risks is to apply derivatives in hedging Höegh LNG’s various net fi nancial market risk positions. 

The Group does not trade or use instruments with the objective of earning fi nancial gains, nor does it use 

instruments where there is no underlying exposure. When the use of derivatives is deemed appropriate, only 

well-understood, conventional instruments issued by highly rated fi nancial institutions are used. 

Currency risks arise from business transactions, capitalised assets and liabilities denominated in currencies 

other than the reporting currency.  The majority of Höegh LNG’s business transactions, capitalised assets and 

liabilities are denominated in USD. 

Höegh LNG has certain revenues in Euro (EUR), Egyptian pounds (EGP) and Indonesian Rupees (IDR). 

Revenues payable in EGP are converted from USD at the applicable exchange rate, however, due to restrictions 

on exchanging EGP to USD, Höegh LNG has an implied currency risk on cash held in EGP. Revenue denominated 

in local currency is intended to cover expenses denominated in local currency. The Group incurs operating, 

administrative and tax expenses in various currencies including EUR, GBP, EGP, IDR and NOK. Administrative 

expenses totalled approximately 250 million denominated in NOK.

The NOK 750 million corporate bonds issued in 2012 have been swapped into USD and do not represent any 

currency risk. As of 31 December 2016, Höegh LNG held 95% of total current cash in USD, 4% in NOK and 

the remaining mainly in EUR and GBP. The USD 4.4 million equivalents of EGP have been classifi ed as restricted 

cash and are excluded from the above fi gures (reference is made to Note 15 for further information). 

All interest-bearing debt within Höegh LNG is subject to fl oating interest rates. However, Höegh LNG has 

entered into fi xed interest rate swaps for all material debt facilities and is therefore only to a limited extent 

exposed to fl uctuations in interest rate levels on existing debt facilities. The interest rate on the Methane Ventures 

Limited facility has not been swapped.

Interest rates relating to project fi nancing have been swapped into fi xed interest for the length of the debt 

facility or the underlying commercial contract. Interest rates relating to most corporate fi nancings have been 

swapped into fi xed interest rate for the length of the relevant facility. As of 31 December 2016, the net mark-to-

market valuation of the interest rate and currency swaps entered into was negative USD 48.5 million of which 

USD 5.2 million related to the interest rate and USD 43.3 million to the currency swaps related to the HLNG01 

bond. In addition, net marked-to-market valuation of interest rate swaps entered into by joint ventures was 

negative net USD 72.9 million.

MtMs of hedge instruments in the Financial Position 31 December 2016 31 December 2015

MtM presented as fi nancial assets  8 485  2 800 

MtM presented as fi nancial liabilites  (56 967)  (67 687)

Total MtMs in joint ventures  (72 942)  (84 141)

NET MtMs OF CASH FLOW AND FAIR VALUE HEDGES  (121 424)  (149 028)
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The effective part of changes in the fair values of interest rate swaps and the interest element of cross currency 

interest rate swaps (CCIRS) are recognised as other comprehensive income (OCI). Changes in the value related 

to the ineffective portion of these swaps are recorded over the income statement. Changes in actuarial gains 

or losses on defi ned benefi t plans are also recorded over OCI.

An increase in the fl oating interest rate of 20 basis points (0.2%) would impact the OCI positively by USD 12 million 

through the mark-to-market valuation of interest rate swaps and the CCIRS entered into including Höegh LNG’s 

shares of interest rate swaps in joint venture companies.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Höegh LNG will be unable to fulfi l its fi nancial obligations when they fall due. The table 

below illustrates the maturity profi le of Höegh LNG’s interest-bearing debt and the timing and size of estimated 

interest payments:

Interest on Höegh LNG’s debt, based on the swapped fi xed interest rates and maturity profi le of IRSs in 

subsidiaries and joint ventures, is presented below:

Maturity profi le to interest-bearing debt at 31 December 2016: < 1 year 1-4 years > 5 years Total

Instalments on mortage debt and unsecured bond  149 295  624 531  181 743  955 570 

Estimated interest on mortage debt and unsecured bond  43 872  85 315  22 613  151 800 

TOTAL  193 167  709 846  204 356  1 107 370 

Maturity profi le to fi nancial derivatives at 31 December 2016: < 1 year 1-4 years > 5 years Total

Interest rate swaps designated as effecting 
hedging instruments in subsidiaries  50 894  (584)  (1 828)  48 482 

Interest rate swaps designated as effecting 
hedging instruments in the Group's joint ventures  10 215  33 990  28 737  72 942 

TOTAL  61 109  33 406  26 909  121 424 

The fair value of existing fi nancial obligations totalling approximately USD 980.8 million will be repaid through 

the cash fl ow generated from existing assets within Höegh LNG and refi nancing. The table further below sets 

out the fair value of existing fi nancial obligations.

Financial obligations relating to the unsecured bonds are subject to re-fi nancing in 2017 and 2020, respectively. 

The fi nancing of Höegh Gallant, Höegh Grace, GDF Suez Cape Ann and Neptune are subject to refi nancing in 

2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively. The commercial tranche relating to the fi nancing of Independence 

and PGN FSRU Lampung is subject to refi nancing in 2019 and 2021, respectively, while the ECA tranche of the 

respective fi nancing is subject to refi nancing in 2026. If no re-fi nancing of the commercial tranches takes place, 

lenders under the ECA tranche may require early re-payment. Financial obligations relating to the Arctic vessels 

are not subject to any refi nancing and will be fully amortised during the length of the underlying lease agreements. 

All existing vessels subject to debt fi nancing are on long-term charter contracts with creditworthy counter parties. 

HLNG01 was refi nanced during the fi rst quarter of 2017 (refer to subsequent events note 33).

As of 31 December 2016  and including the shipbuilding contracts signed and announced as subsequent 

events in January 2017, Höegh LNG had approximately USD 1.0 billion in remaining off-balance sheet capital 

commitments relating to the FSRU newbuilding programme. This includes yard payments and estimated 

supervision and fi nance costs as well as contingencies. Remaining capital commitments compares to USD 322 

million in cash and marketable securities and USD 194 million available drawing under a USD 223 million debt 

facility as of 31 December 2016. When certain conditions relating to the employment of FSRU#7 are met, available 

drawing under the debt facilities increases to USD 223 million, taking total liquidity up to USD 545 million. 

Höegh LNG is planning to secure fi nancing before delivery also for FSRUs #8, #9 and #10. Reference is made 

to Note 33 Subsequent events for more information on the latter debt facilities.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a fi nancial instrument or customer 

contract, leading to a fi nancial loss. Risk management procedures are in place to minimise this risk. FSRUs 

and LNGCs are only chartered out to creditworthy counterparties and charter hires are normally payable on 

a monthly basis. 

Cash funds are only deposited with internationally recognised fi nancial institutions with a high credit rating, 

or invested in marketable securities issued by companies with a high credit rating. The purpose of a security 

portfolio is to earn a return after fees in excess what can be earned for cash at time deposits. Investments are 

made in liquid investment grade securities with average credit duration of less than two years. Investments are 

permitted in any currency, but currency risk will have to be hedged unless it serves as a natural hedge to other 

currency exposure. Höegh LNG has not provided any guarantees for third parties’ liabilities (reference is made 

to Note 20), and the maximum exposure to credit risk is thus represented by the carrying amount of each 

fi nancial asset at the balance sheet, including fi nancial derivatives. The maturity profi les of outstanding trade 

receivables and trade payables as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are all in the range of 30-60 days. 

The marketable securities amounting to USD 135.7 million as at 31 December 2016 are available as cash 

within 1-3 working days. Above information is also to be considered to be Höegh LNG’s maximum credit risk 

as of 31 December 2016 and 2015.

Fair values 

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of Höegh LNG’s fi nancial instruments 

included in the fi nancial statements. 

Carrying amount Fair value

2016 2015 2016 2015

Financial instruments at fair value 
through profi t or loss

Marketable securities  135 751  231 094  135 751  231 094 

Derivatives in cash fl ow hedges  8 485  2 800  8 485  2 800 

Total fi nancial instruments at fair value  144 236  233 894  144 236  233 894 

Loans and receivables at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables  40 539  33 307  40 539  33 307 

Shareholder loans  7 218  13 991  7 218  13 991 

Other non-current receivables  13 638  10 065  13 638  10 065 

Total loans and receivables  61 395  57 363  61 395  57 363 

Non-current restricted cash  18 580  19 648  18 580  19 648 

Cash and cash equivalents 
(including short-term restricted cash)  196 620  113 165  196 620  113 165 

TOTAL  420 831  424 070  420 831  424 070 

TOTAL CURRENT  379 185  384 696  379 185  384 696 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT  41 646  39 374  41 646  39 374 
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Carrying amount Fair value

2016 2015 2016 2015

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

Derivatives in effective cash fl ow hedges  55 563  65 767  55 563  65 767 

Ineffective portion of cash fl ow hedges  1 404  1 920  1 404  1 920 

Total fi nancial liabilities at fair value  56 967  67 687  56 967  67 687 

Other fi nancial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade and other payables  19 023  18 706  19 023  18 706 

Other fi nancial liabilities 11 254 14 651  11 254  14 651 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  955 571  810 965  980 789  842 803 

Total other fi nancial liabilities at amortised cost  985 848  844 322  1 011 066  876 160 

TOTAL  1 042 815  912 009  1 068 033  943 847 

TOTAL CURRENT  220 715  86 467  220 715  105 049 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT  822 100  801 639  847 318  838 798 

The fair value of the fi nancial assets and liabilities is the value at which they could be exchanged in a transaction 

between willing parties other than in a forced or liquidation transaction. The following methods and assumptions 

were used to estimate the fair value of each class of fi nancial instrument:

–  Cash and restricted cash, trade receivables, trade payables and other current liabilities are recognised at 

 their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

–  Fair value of loans from banks and other fi nancial liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash fl ows 

 using rates currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

–  Both bonds issued by the Company (NOK 750 million bond HLNG01 issued 3 October 2012 and 

 USD 130 million bond HLNG02 issued 5 June 2015) are listed on the Oslo stock exchange, and the fair 

 values of these are disclosed based on traded information. As of 31 December 2016, the fair values were 

 103.06% and 100.19% for HLNG01 and HLNG02, respectively.

–  Höegh LNG enters into derivative fi nancial instruments such as interest rate swaps and foreign exchange 

 forward contracts with various fi nancial institutions, where the fair value of such instruments is based on 

 valuation techniques including market observable inputs. The most frequently applied valuation techniques 

 include forward pricing and swap models using net present value calculations. The models used incorporate 

 various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and 

 interest rate curves. The valuation is performed by banks or external valuation providers.

Fair value hierarchy

Höegh LNG uses a hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of fi nancial instruments by valuation 

techniques.

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss

Marketable securities  135 751  135 751 

Derivatives used for hedging  8 485  8 485 

TOTAL ASSETS  -    144 236  -    144 236 

Liabilities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value, 
but for which fair value is disclosed

Bond  213 460  213 460 

Mortgage debt  767 329  767 329 

Derivatives used for hedging  -   

Derivatives in effective cash fl ow hedges  56 967  56 967 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  213 460  824 296  1 037 756 

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss

Marketable securities  231 094  231 094 

Derivatives used for hedging  2 800  2 800 

TOTAL ASSETS  -    233 894  -    233 894 

Liabilities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value, 
but for which fair value is disclosed

Bond  206 407  206 407 

Mortgage debt  636 396  636 396 

Derivatives used for hedging  -   

Derivatives in effective cash fl ow hedges  67 687  67 687 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 206 407  704 083  910 490 

The table below presents fair value measurements of Höegh LNG’s assets and liabilities at 31 December 2015: 

The table below presents fair value measurements of Höegh LNG’s assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2016:

The fair value of fi nancial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance 

sheet date and included in level 1.

The fair value of fi nancial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 

techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data when it is available and 

rely as little as possible on entity specifi c estimates. If all signifi cant input required in calculating the fair value 

of an instrument is based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 2. This includes the 

portfolio of marketable securities, as part of the portfolio’s instruments is not directly observable. 

However, if one or more signifi cant input is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included 

in level 3. During the reporting periods of 2016 and 2015, there were no transfers between any of the levels.
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Note 15: Unrestricted and restricted cash
Current cash and cash equivalents Exchange

rate
Exchange

rateCurrency 2016 2015

US Dollar (USD) 1  176 164 1  89 607 

Norwegian Kroner (NOK) 8.62  7 728 8.81  4 892 

Pound Sterling (GBP) 0.81  347 1.48  567 

Euro (EUR) 1.05  1 041 1.09  1 781 

Egyptian Pounds (EGP) 18.41  111 7.82  403 

Colombian Pesos (COP) 3 000.71  206 3 149.47  -   

Other  749  373 

TOTAL  186 346  97 623 

Current restricted cash 2016 2015

Methane Ventures Limited - Debt service  2 200  1 800 

Hoegh LNG Colombia S.A.S - Payroll related  19  -   

Höegh LNG Ltd. - Escrow  -    3 113 

Hoegh LNG Cyprus Limited Egypt Branch - Customs escrow  -    85 

PT Hoegh LNG Lampung - Debt service  8 055  10 544 

TOTAL  10 274  15 542 

As of 31 December 2016, USD 10.3 million is classifi ed as short-term restricted cash related to a fi nancing 

agreement, where cash is required to be held for specifi cally designated uses, including payment of working 

capital, operations and maintenance related expenses. Distributions from the cash accounts is subject to 

“waterfall” provisions that allocate revenues to specifi c priorities of use in a defi ned order before equity 

distributions can be made at certain dates and subject to Höegh LNG being in compliance with other debt 

service requirements. 

Höegh LNG had USD 2.2 million in an escrow account as of 31 December 2016 due to a covenant under 

the credit facility for Methane Ventures Limited.

Höegh LNG Ltd. held part of the sales proceeds from the sale of LNG Libra in escrow account as of 

31 December 2015. The amount was released upon completion of the sale in March 2016. 

Non-current restricted cash deposits totalled USD 14.1 million as of 31 December 2016 relating to a project 

fi nancing agreement requiring Höegh LNG to hold an amount equal to six months debt service deposited in 

an escrow account. Due to restrictions on foreign exchange in Egypt, cash denominated in EGP in excess of 

estimated working capital needs, equivalent to USD 3.6 million, are classifi ed as non-current restricted cash 

as of 31 December 2016. See further information in Note 19.

Note 16: Marketable securities
Financial instruments within Höegh LNG’s portfolio of marketable securities are classifi ed as held for trading 

investments and measured and presented at their fair values. The portfolio of marketable securities is managed 

by Höegh Capital Partners AS. See Note 32 for transactions with related parties.

Balance at year-end 2016 2015

Marketable securities  135 751  231 094 

TOTAL  135 751  231 094 

Reconciliation, balance of marketable securities at year-end 2016 2015

Market value of securities at 1 January  231 094  117 317 

Change in fair value and gain/loss on realisation  5 697  366 

Transfer of funds to portfolio  229  184 603 

Withdrawal of funds from portfolio  (101 269)  (71 192)

MARKET VALUE OF MARKETABLE SECURITIES AT 31 DECEMBER  135 751  231 094 

Profi t and loss effect 2016 2015

Unrealised gain/(loss) on bonds in portfolio  19 351  (8 756)

Interest income  4 255  3 723 

Profi t/(loss) from currency contracts and deposits  (17 591)  5 635 

Administration costs portfolio  (318)  (236)

TOTAL  5 697  366 

Composition of portfolio 2016 2015

Norwegian listed bonds  129 280  222 706 

Non-Norwegian listed bonds  -    -   

Currency forwards  5 872  7 551 

Cash holding  599  837 

MARKETABLE SECURITIES AT FAIR VALUE 31 DECEMBER  135 751  231 094 

Further information relating to marketable securities is disclosed in Note 14. The fair value increase of 

USD 5.7 million (USD 0.4 million in 2015) in the portfolio of marketable securities is recorded as other fi nancial 

income.

Non-current restricted cash 2016 2015

PT Hoegh LNG Lampung - Debt service  14 154  14 798 

Hoegh LNG Cyprus Limited Egypt Branch - Customs  -    400 

Höegh LNG Ltd. - EGP restricted cash  815  -   

Höegh LNG Egypt LLC - EGP restricted cash  3 611  4 450 

TOTAL  18 580  19 648 
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Note 17: Total interest-bearing debt
The tables below present Höegh LNG’s carrying amount of interest-bearing debt by non-current and current 

portions for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, respectively: 

The table below presents the maturity and currency of Höegh LNGs interest-bearing debt;

Interest-bearing debt at 31 December 2016 Non-current Current Total

FSRU Independence facility  190 573  15 248  205 821 

Bond debt in HLNG  130 000  80 742  210 742 

Höegh Gallant facility  153 743  13 146  166 889 

Höegh Grace facility  176 813  13 250  190 063 

PGN FSRU Lampung facility  155 147  19 062  174 209 

Methane Ventures Limited facility  -    7 847  7 847 

Debt issuance cost  (19 709)  -    (19 709)

TOTAL  786 567  149 295  935 862 

Interest-bearing debt at 31 December 2015 Non-current Current Total

FSRU Independence facility  205 821  15 248  221 069 

Bond debt in HLNG  209 010  -    209 010 

Höegh Gallant and FSRU#6/HN2551/ Höegh Grace facility  166 889  13 146  180 035 

PGN FSRU Lampung facility  174 209  19 062  193 271 

Methane Ventures Limited Facility  -    7 580  7 580 

Debt issuance cost  (23 903)  -    (23 903)

TOTAL  732 026  55 036  787 062 

Maturity Currency
Due in 
year 1

Due in 
year 2

Due in 
year 3

Due in 
year 4

Due in 
year 5 

and later Total

FSRU Independence facility * USD  15 248  15 248  76 293  15 248  83 783  205 821 

Höegh Grace facility USD  13 250  13 250  13 250  150 313  -    190 063 

Methane Ventures Limited USD  7 847  -    -    -    -    7 847 

Höegh Gallant facility USD  13 146  13 146  140 597  -    -    166 889 

PGN FSRU Lampung facility USD  19 062  19 062  19 062  19 062  97 960  174 209 

Bond HLNG01 ** NOK  80 742  -    -    -    -    80 742 

Bond HLNG02 USD -  -    -    130 000  -    130 000 

INTEREST-BEARING DEBT OUTSTANDING  149 295  60 706  249 202  314 623  181 743  955 570 

Debt issuance cost  (19 707)

TOTAL INTEREST-BEARING DEBT  935 862 

* Independence is fi nanced by a commercial tranche of USD 61 million that needs to be refi nanced by 2019. 

Should Höegh LNG not refi nance this tranche the full outstanding amount of the Norwegian Export Credit 

Guarantee Agency (“ECA”) tranche, USD 106 million, will fall due in 2019. The above table assumes the ECA 

tranche will continue to amortise. 

** HLNG01 matures in 2017 and has been swapped into USD 130 million. The negative value of the swap is 

presented under other fi nancial liabilities short-term. As of 31 December 2016, Höegh LNG holds own HLNG01 

bonds totalling NOK 54 million.

Interest-bearing debt in the consolidated entities

FSRU Independence facility 

On 28 November 2012, Höegh LNG entered into a USD 250 million senior secured credit facility for the fi nancing 

of the FSRU Independence, which was delivered from the yard on 11 May 2014. The facility is guaranteed 50% 

by the Korean credit agency, K-sure, and 25% by the Norwegian credit agency, GIEK (combined referred to as 

“the ECA covered part”). The ECA covered part of the facility has a twelve year post-delivery while the 

uncovered part has a seven year post-delivery tenor. If the uncovered part is not refi nanced at maturity, 

the ECA covered part falls due for repayment at the same time. The facility has a blended repayment profi le of 

16 years. Repayments started on 12 August 2014 and are due quarterly. The facility has a fl oating interest rate 

equal to 3 months USD LIBOR plus a margin. LIBOR has been swapped into a fi xed interest rate, and the credit 

facility has a fi xed interest rate of 5.1% for the length of the underlying fi nancing. As of 31 December 2016, 

the outstanding balance was USD 205.8 million.

PGN FSRU Lampung facility

On 13 September 2013, PT Hoegh LNG Lampung entered into a USD 299 million senior secured term loan 

facility for the fi nancing of PGN FSRU Lampung, including mooring. 

The facility comprised two tranches; one FSRU tranche in the amount of USD 237 million and one mooring 

tranche in the amount of USD 62 million. The mooring tranche was fully repaid in July 2014 upon delivery of 

the mooring to the customer, PT PGN LNG Indonesia. The FSRU tranche is 75% guaranteed by the Korean 

credit agency K-sure (referred to as “the ECA covered part”). The ECA covered part of the facility has a twelve 

year post-delivery tenor while the uncovered part has a seven year post-delivery tenor. If the uncovered part is 

not refi nanced at maturity, the ECA covered part falls due for repayment at the same time. The facility has 

a blended repayment profi le of 12.5 years. Repayments on a quarterly basis started on 29 December 2014. 

The facility has a fl oating interest rate equal to LIBOR plus a margin. The 3 months USD LIBOR under the 

FSRU tranche has been swapped into a fi xed interest rate and the facility bears a fi xed interest rate of 5.88% 

for the length of the fi nancing. As of 31 December 2016, the outstanding balance was USD 174.2 million.

Höegh Gallant and Höegh Grace facility

On 11 April 2014, Höegh LNG entered into a joint USD 412 million senior secured credit facility for the fi nancing 

of Höegh Gallant and Höegh Grace, delivered in 2014 and 2016, respectively. The facilities have a fi ve year 

post-delivery tenor and a 15 years repayment profi le. Repayments started on 1 December 2014 for Höegh 

Gallant and 30 June 2016 for Höegh Grace. The facilities have fl oating interest rate equal to 3 months 

USD LIBOR plus a margin, where LIBOR has been swapped into a fi xed interest.  The Höegh Gallant tranche 

under the facilities bears a fi xed interest rate of 4.78% while the Höegh Grace tranche bears a fi xed interest 

rate of 5.26%, both for the length until maturity under each tranche respectively.  As of 31 December 2016, 

the outstanding balance on the Höegh Gallant and Höegh Grace tranche was USD 166.9 million and 

USD 190.0 million, respectively. 

Methane Ventures Limited facility

Methane Ventures Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, has since 2006 had a credit facility in place for the 

purpose of funding investments in the Company. As of 31 December 2016, the amount outstanding under 

the facility was USD 7.8 million. The loan carries an interest equal to 3 months USD LIBOR plus a margin and 

maturity has been extended to 31 July 2017. 

Bond issue - NOK 750 million Senior Unsecured Callable Bond

On 3 October 2012, the Company issued a senior unsecured bond of NOK 750 million in the Norwegian bond 

market with maturity date 3 October 2017. As of 31 December 2016, NOK 696 million was outstanding. Proceeds 

were used for general corporate purposes. The bonds are listed on the Oslo stock exchange and bears interest 

at 3 months NIBOR plus a margin of 6% payable quarterly. Höegh LNG has entered into a cross currency interest 

rate swap from NOK to USD and from fl oating to fi xed interest rate totalling 7.3%. The carrying amount of the bonds 

was USD 80.7 million at 31 December 2016. Unrealised foreign exchange gain due to the strengthening of the 

USD against NOK amounts to USD 40.1 million. This is however offset by equivalent loss on the currency swap. 
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Bond issue – USD 130 million Senior Unsecured Callable Bond

On 3 June 2015, the Company issued a senior unsecured bond of USD 130 million in the Norwegian bond 

market with maturity date 5 June 2020. Proceeds were used for general corporate purposes. As of 31 December 

2016, USD 130 million was outstanding. The bonds are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and bears interest 

at 3 months USD LIBOR plus a margin of 5% payable quarterly. Floating interest has been swapped into a fi xed 

interest resulting in a fi xed interest of 6.6%. 

Interest-bearing debt in joint venture companies

Neptune and GDF Suez Cape Ann facility

On 20 December 2007, the joint ventures owning Neptune and GDF Suez Cape Ann each entered into 

a USD 300 million secured credit facility for the fi nancing of the FSRUs. As of 31 December 2016, Höegh LNG’s 

50% share of the outstanding amount under the facilities totalled USD 239.6 million. Each facility has a tenor 

of 12 years and a repayment profi le of 20 years. Repayments are due quarterly and started in April 2010 

and October 2010, respectively. Each facility has a fl oating interest rate equal to 3 months USD LIBOR plus 

a margin. The USD LIBOR has been swapped into a fi xed interest rate for the length of the underlying 

commercial contracts, resulting in a fi xed interest rate of approximately 6.0%.

Lease liabilities

Arctic Princess and Arctic Lady are fi nanced under 25 year UK fi nance leases. Höegh LNG’s obligations related 

to the leases have been included as debt in the balance sheets of the respective joint venture companies. 

As per 31 December 2016, the total debt related to these lease facilities amounted to USD 121.1 million for 

Höegh LNG on a proportionate basis. 

Debt and lease restrictions

Existing credit facilities impose restrictions, which may limit or prohibit Höegh LNG’s ability to incur indebtedness, 

create liens, sell shares in subsidiaries, pay dividends, engage in mergers and acquisitions, or purchase and sell 

vessels without the consent of the lenders. In addition, lenders may accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness 

under fi nancing agreements and foreclose upon the collateral securing the indebtedness upon the occurrence 

of certain events of default, including a failure to comply with any of the covenants contained in the fi nancing 

agreements. With regard to such covenants, Höegh LNG has to maintain a minimum equity (adjusted for 

mark-to-market of hedging reserves) of USD 200 million, a minimum equity ratio (adjusted for mark-to-market 

of hedging reserves) of 25%, and a minimum free cash position being the higher of USD 40 million and 5% of 

funded indebtedness. The MLP has to maintain a minimum equity (adjusted for mark-to-market of hedging 

reserves) of USD 150 million, a minimum equity ratio (adjusted for mark-to-market of hedging reserves) of 25%, 

and a minimum free cash position being the higher of USD 15 million or USD 3 million per vessel. Most credit 

facilities include project covenants which require positive working capital and minimum debt service coverage 

ratios.

Furthermore, certain debt agreements contain a change of control provision being triggered should the Høegh 

family by way of a sale of shares cease to own (directly or indirectly) at least 1/3 of the shares, or by way of 

dilution below 1/3 of the shares, thus no longer being the largest shareholder of the Company.

Höegh LNG was in compliance with its covenants for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Interest on bonds of USD 6.5 million was in 2016 capitalised as part of delivered cost of FSRUs under 

construction (USD 7.7 million in 2015). 

Refer to Note 17 for further disclosures of Höegh LNG’s debt.

Note 18: Interest expenses
2016 2015

Interest on mortgage debt  41 722  35 645 

Interest on bond  13 182  8 024 

Other  276  321 

TOTAL  55 180  43 990 

Note 19: Expenses from other fi nancial items
2016 2015

Currency loss  6 251  4 882 

Loss on hedges - ineffectiveness  -    572 

Withholding taxes  2 772  2 597 

Other fi nancial expenses  767  1 267 

TOTAL  9 790  9 318 

The currency loss in 2016 relates mainly to Egyptian Pounds while it in 2015 mainly relates to the exchange of 

proceeds from an equity issue.

Note 20: Commitments and guarantees
FSRU newbuilding programme

Remaining capital commitments relating to the FSRU newbuilding program, including newbuilding orders 

placed in subsequent events in January 2017, is approximately USD 1.0 billion.  This includes yard payments, 

project expenses, fi nance costs and contingencies. Some USD 0.4 billion of this is payable by December 2017.

The Company has issued performance guarantees to HHI guaranteeing Höegh LNG Ltd.’s obligations under 

the shipbuilding contract for HN 2865 in the maximum amount of USD 80.7 million and HN 2909 in the maximum 

amount of USD 73.9 million.

HN 2552

A USD 223 million senior secured credit facility agreement for the fi nancing of HN 2552 was entered into in 

March 2016 by the Company as borrower. The Company will be replaced by a special purpose entity borrower 

on delivery of the FSRU and the Company will become a guarantor. Customary security package will be entered 

into upon delivery of the FSRU from the yard.

Höegh Grace 

A USD 412 million senior secured credit facility agreement for the fi nancing of Höegh Grace and Höegh Gallant 

(see further below) was entered into in 2014. The facility is guaranteed by the Company, Höegh LNG Ltd. and 

HMLP whereby the guarantee provided by HMLP only relates to aforementioned FSRUs upon sale of such 

FSRUs to HMLP. 

In relation to Höegh Grace, the following securities have been established: A mortgage over the FSRU, account 

security deeds, shares security deeds (in respect of the shares of the borrowers), management agreement 

assignment, pre-delivery security assignments and swap contract assignment.
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The Company has guaranteed the obligations of its subsidiaries under the agreements entered into with 

the charterer (SPEC).

Höegh Gallant

On 1 October 2015, the holding company of the FSRU Höegh Gallant was sold to the MLP. Höegh LNG Egypt 

LLC, being party to the TCP with EGAS, continues to be owned by Höegh LNG outside the MLP. Following 

the transfer, the Company has provided a parent company guarantee in favour of EGAS: as security for 

the obligations of Höegh LNG Egypt LCC under the charter with EGAS. Furthermore, the Central International 

Bank (CIB) has issued a letter of credit in the amount of USD 3 million on behalf of Höegh LNG Egypt LCC in 

favour of EGAS, which has been guaranteed by the company.

The guarantee issued by the Company in relation to the USD 412 million senior secured credit facility agreement 

(see above) and the security granted by the subsidiaries of Höegh LNG in relation to the USD 412 million senior 

secured credit facilities agreement, are covering also the Höegh Gallant facility.

The Company has guaranteed the payment of hire by Höegh LNG Egypt LLC to HMLP, to the extent the 

established bank guarantee is exhausted. Further, the Company has granted HMLP an option to lease the vessel 

back to Höegh LNG Ltd. for 5 years at a rate equal to 90% of the rate payable pursuant to the current charter 

rate, plus any incremental taxes or operating expenses as a result of such charter. The option must be exercised 

before expiry of the charter with EGAS. 

Independence

In November 2012, Höegh LNG Ltd. (as borrower) entered into a USD 250 million facility agreement fully 

guaranteed by the Company. In addition, the facility is guaranteed by Höegh LNG Klaipeda UAB and 

Hoegh LNG Klaipeda Pte. Ltd., both being subsidiaries of Höegh LNG. The following securities have been 

granted to the fi nanciers: (i) mortgage with collateral deed of covenants over the FSRU (ii) assignment of all 

project agreements, guarantees and swap agreements; (iii) pledge of all project accounts; and (iv) pledge 

over the shares in the project companies Höegh LNG Klaipeda UAB and Hoegh LNG Klaipeda Pte. Ltd.

Höegh LNG Ltd. has guaranteed the obligations of Höegh LNG Klaipeda UAB under the charter with 

the customer, Klaipedos Nafta.

PGN FSRU Lampung 

The PGN project was sold to the MLP in August 2014. However the Company has continued to be responsible 

under certain guarantees in relation to the USD 299 million facility agreement for the fi nancing of PGN FSRU 

Lampung with Hoegh LNG Lampung Pte. Ltd. as borrower being: (i) the balloon repayment instalment plus any 

accrued interest thereon; and (ii) the required credit balance on the debt service reserve account. 

Further, the Company is obligated to issue a guarantee in respect of outstanding debt (less insurance proceeds 

for vessel force majeure if relevant) if the Lease Operating and Maintenance agreement is terminated due to 

an event of vessel force majeure and in addition an agreement with the charterer for the acquisition of 50% of 

the FSRU has not been reached within a certain period of time.

The Company has guaranteed the obligations of PT Höegh LNG Lampung under the Lease, Operation and 

Maintenance Agreement with the customer, PGN LNG.

Neptune FSRUs

Höegh LNG’s shares in SRV Joint Gas Ltd. and SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd. (together the “SRV JG Companies”) 

were in August 2014 transferred to the MLP. The SRV JG Companies are accounted for according to the equity 

Pursuant to the lease agreements, the JVs, as lessees, bear the normal risks in relation to the leasing structure 

itself, including the lessors’ claims for capital allowances, changes in the applicable capital allowance rate and 

the corporate tax rate in the UK. Upon request from HM Revenues & Customs (HMRC), additional information 

has been provided in relation to the UK lessors’ claims for capital allowances. HMRC has not taken this any 

further pending the outcome of another case being tested in UK courts, where a fi nal judgement, was issued 

in favour of HMRC on 14 August 2015. The lessees have recently been approached by HMRC to discuss 

similarities between the cases and to what extent the judgement can be applied to the two Arctic vessels. 

No notice as to disallowing the allowances has been given to date. 

Höegh LNG Ltd. has guaranteed pro-rata according to its shareholding severally with the JV partners for 

payment obligations under the lease agreements entered into by the JVs, respectively (lease agreements, time 

charter agreements and interest rate swap agreements). The said guarantees are counter-guaranteed by 

the Company. In addition, the shares in the JVs have been pledged in favour of the lessors and all rights to 

the derivative assets in the JVs have been assigned by the joint venture partners to the lessor. Höegh LNG Ltd. 

has also granted a performance undertaking in favour of the lessor for the performance of Leif Höegh (U.K.) 

Limited under the leases and a pro-rata Quiet Enjoyment Guarantee in favour of the time charterer for the 

JVs performance under a Quiet Enjoyment Letter entered into with the lessor and the time charterer.

Höegh LNG Partners LP – indemnifi cations 

In connection with the sale of assets to the MLP, the Company has agreed to indemnify HMLP against certain 

losses for the periods prior to the closing date related to the title of the transferred assets and the vessels, the 

commercial and fi nancial agreements and vessel operation, the latter being i.a. against certain environmental 

method, see Note 21. Under the loan agreements for the fi nancing of Neptune and GDF Suez Cape Ann 

(the “Neptune FSRUs”), the Company remains the guarantor for 50% of any of dry docking costs and 

remarketing efforts in case of an early termination of each of the TCPs for the Neptune FSRUs entered into 

by the respective SRV JG Companies. 

The Company also continues as guarantor under a performance and payment guarantee for the SRV JG 

Companies’ obligations under the respective TCPs, pro-rata for each shareholder (i.e. 50%).

Arctic Vessels

The two LNGCs, Arctic Princess and Arctic Lady, are leased from the joint venture companies Joint Gas Ltd. 

and Joint Gas Two Ltd. (collectively referred to as ”JVs”) in which Höegh LNG has a 33.98% and 50% ownership, 

respectively (see Note 21). The LNGCs are further bareboat chartered to Leif Höegh (U.K.) Limited, a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Höegh LNG Ltd. As of year-end 2016, Leif Höegh (U.K.) Limited has remaining charter 

commitments for the two LNGCs of USD 327 million, as specifi ed in the table below. The Arctic Lady lessor has 

completed its contractual right to perform a credit/security review as per 12 April 2016 (10 years after delivery) 

and requested additional security, which is disputed by the lessee.  The parties have agreed to refer the dispute 

to Expert Determination pursuant to an Agreement for Expert Determination dated 3 January 2017.

The below table shows amounts based on full hire. The remaining hire payable adjusted for Höegh LNG’s 

ownership in the JVs, is USD 186 million (USD 209 million in 2015).

Specifi cation of bareboat hire to be paid on a 100% basis (in million USD) 2016 2015

Within one year  35  35 

Between one and fi ve years  141  141 

More than fi ve years  151  186 

TOTAL  327  362 
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Note 21: Investments in joint ventures and subsidiaries
Höegh LNG had ownership in four joint ventures during 2016, all accounted for according to the equity method. 

The change in carrying value during the year is as follows:
2016 2015

At 1 January  (73 502)  (95 012)

Share of Profi t  13 773  11 359 

Other comprehensive income  11 199  11 728 

Dividend distribution  -    (1 577)

Other changes  -    -   

AT 31 DECEMBER  (48 530)  (73 502)

Name of entity
Registered 
offi ce Country

Principal 
activity

Ownership in %

2016 2015

Joint Gas Ltd. Georgetown Cayman Island Shipowning  34  34 

Joint Gas Two Ltd. Georgetown Cayman Island Shipowning  50  50 

SRV Joint Gas Ltd. Georgetown Cayman Island Shipowning  50  50 

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd. Georgetown Cayman Island Shipowning  50  50 

The negative balances to the investments in the Group’s joint ventures are mainly explained by the negative 

mark-to-market valuations of interest derivatives in these entities.

The joint ventures listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly 

by Höegh LNG. 

Table: List of joint ventures whereof the Company has ownership:

Joint Gas Ltd. is leasing the Arctic Princess under a 25 years fi nancial lease agreement. 

Joint Gas Two Ltd. is leasing the Arctic Lady under a 25 years fi nancial lease agreement – reference is made to 

Note 20 for further information.  

SRV Joint Gas Ltd. and SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd. own and operate the FSRUs, Neptune and GDF Suez Cape 

Ann, respectively, both leased to GDF Suez Global LNG Supply SA.

All four companies are privately owned and there is no quoted market price available for the shares. 

Set out below is the summarised fi nancial information for Höegh LNG’s joint venture investments, accounted for 

using the equity method.

Summarised balance sheet

Joint Gas Ltd.
As at 31 December

Joint Gas Two Ltd.
As at 31 December

SRV Joint Gas Ltd.
As at 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  9 315  5 503  9 730  5 715  4 884  1 641 

Other current assets  3  -    3  -    8 329  4 894 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  9 318  5 503  9 733  5 715  13 213  6 535 

Vessel  129 412  135 496  130 404  136 462  290 235  300 756 

Other non-current assets  -    -    -    -    12 265  12 264 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  129 412  135 496  130 404  136 462  302 500  313 020 

TOTAL ASSETS  138 730  140 999  140 137  142 177  315 713  319 555 

Liabilities

Current liabilities  12 502  12 762  11 933  12 286  38 612  34 210 

Long-term interest-bearing debt  137 472  144 208  137 617  144 285  225 068  242 771 

Other non-current liabilities  31 905  36 390  24 235  28 414  69 841  75 138 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  169 377  180 598  161 852  172 699  294 909  317 909 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  181 879  193 360  173 785  184 985  333 521  352 119 

Net assets  (43 149)  (52 361)  (33 648)  (42 808)  (17 808)  (32 564)

Summarised balance sheet, continued

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd.
As at 31 December

Total
As at 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  4 621  2 557  28 550  15 416 

Other current assets  4 623  4 407  12 958  9 301 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  9 244  6 964  41 508  24 717 

Vessel  270 864  281 735  820 915  854 449 

Other non-current assets  12 841  12 840  25 106  25 104 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  283 705  294 575  846 021  879 553 

TOTAL ASSETS  292 949  301 539  887 529  904 270 

Liabilities

Current liabilities  32 036  32 596  95 083  91 854 

Long-term interest-bearing debt  231 691  249 026  731 848  780 290 

Other non-current liabilities  52 621  57 397  178 602  197 339 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  284 312  306 423  910 450  977 629 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  316 348  339 019  1 005 533  1 069 483 

Net assets  (23 399)  (37 480)  (118 004)  (165 213)

and toxic tort liabilities (claims must be submitted within fi ve years following the closing date and for the HMLP 

IPO fl eet it is an aggregate cap of USD 5 million). In addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify HMLP 

against all federal, state, foreign and local income tax liabilities attributable to the operation of the contributed 

assets prior to the respective closing date. Lastly, the Company agreed to indemnify HMLP against specifi c 

losses related to the PGN Project also after the closing date as the project was transferred to the MLP before 

commencing operation under its commercial agreement (charter). The Company paid a total of USD 3.8 million 

to HMLP in 2016 (USD 6.6 million in 2015) under the said indemnities with USD 1.6 million attributable to 

Non Controlling Interest (USD 2.8 million in 2015).   

See also above regarding Höegh Grace, Höegh Gallant and PGN FSRU Lampung.

Offi ce lease 

The Company has guaranteed payment of up to six months’ offi ce lease for the premises in Drammensveien 123, 

0277 Oslo, Norway.
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Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Joint Gas Ltd.
As at 31 December

Joint Gas Two Ltd.
As at 31 December

SRV Joint Gas Ltd.
As at 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Revenue  17 850  17 828  17 509  17 474  45 508  42 215 

Depreciation  (6 085)  (6 085)  (6 058)  (6 058)  (12 357)  (11 752)

Interest income  -    -    -    -    2  2 

Interest expenses  (7 498)  (8 014)  (6 657)  (7 066)  (14 906)  (15 921)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  4 183  3 605  4 363  4 191  7 795  5 601 

Tax  -    -    -    -    -    -   

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  4 183  3 605  4 363  4 191  7 795  5 601 

Other comprehensive income  5 028  3 034  4 798  2 901  6 961  9 099 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  9 211  6 639  9 161  7 092  14 756  14 700 

Summarised statement of comprehensive income, continued

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd.
As at 31 December

Total
As at 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015

Revenue  40 748  42 893  121 615  120 410 

Depreciation  (10 870)  (10 870)  (35 370)  (34 765)

Interest income  -    -    2  2 

Interest expenses  (15 224)  (16 241)  (44 285)  (47 242)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  6 859  5 762  23 200  19 159 

Tax  -    -    -    -   

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  6 859  5 762  23 200  19 159 

Other comprehensive income  7 222  9 393  24 009  24 427 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  14 081  15 155  47 209  43 586 

Reconciliation of summarised fi nancial information

Joint Gas Ltd.
As at 31 December

Joint Gas Two Ltd.
As at 31 December

SRV Joint Gas Ltd.
As at 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

OPENING NET ASSETS  (52 360)  (57 299)  (42 809)  (47 901)  (32 564)  (47 264)

Profi t (loss) for the period  4 183  3 605  4 363  4 191  7 795  5 601 

Other comprehensive income  5 028  3 034  4 798  2 901  6 961  9 099 

Dividend distribution  -    (1 700)  -    (2 000)  -    -   

Other changes 0 0 0 0  -    -   

CLOSING NET ASSETS  (43 149)  (52 360)  (33 648)  (42 809)  (17 808)  (32 564)

Interest in joint venture 33.98% 33.98% 50% 50% 50% 50%

Group adjustment vessel values  1 811  1 454  2 586  2 067  (137)  (1 170)

CARRYING VALUE  (12 851)  (16 338)  (14 238)  (19 338)  (9 041)  (17 452)

The information above refl ects the amounts presented in the fi nancial statements of the joint ventures and not 

Höegh LNG’s share of those amounts. 

The above summarised fi nancial information is reconciled to the carrying amounts of interests in joint ventures 

in the tables on the next page:

Reconciliation of summarised fi nancial information, continued

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd.
As at 31 December

Total
As at 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015

OPENING NET ASSETS  (37 480)  (52 635)  (165 213)  (205 099)

Profi t (loss) for the period  6 859  5 762  23 200  19 159 

Other comprehensive income  7 222  9 393  24 009  24 427 

Dividend distribution  -    -    -    (3 700)

Other changes  -    -    -    -   

CLOSING NET ASSETS  (23 399)  (37 480)  (118 004)  (165 213)

Interest in joint venture 50% 50% 33-50% 33-50%

Group adjustment vessel values  (700)  (1 635)  3 560  716 

CARRYING VALUE  (12 400)  (20 375)  (48 530)  (73 502)

The mark-to-market valuations of the cash fl ow hedges in Höegh LNG’s joint ventures are all recorded as part 

of investments in joint ventures, which results in investments being net liabilities.
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Company Country Principal activity

Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares held 
by parent

Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares held 
by the group

Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares held 
by the NCI

Subsidiaries:

Höegh LNG Ltd. Bermuda Holding 100

Höegh LNG AS Norway Management 100

Höegh LNG Fleet Management AS Norway Ship Management 100

Leif Höegh (U.K.) Limited England Ship Management 100

Hoegh LNG Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore Business dev. 100

Hoegh LNG Shipping Services Pte. Ltd. Singapore Depot Spares 100

Hoegh LNG Maritime Management Pte. Ltd. Singapore Ship Management 100

Port Dolphin Energy LLC USA Business dev. 100

Port Dolphin Holding Company, LLC USA Holding 100

Compressed Energy Technology AS Norway Business dev. 100

Höegh LNG Colombia Holding Ltd. Cayman Islands Holding 100

Höegh LNG Colombia S.A.S. Colombia FSRU Operation 100

Höegh LNG FSRU IV Ltd. Cayman Islands Shipowning 100

Methane Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands Investment 64.97 35.03

Höegh FLNG Ltd. Bermuda Dormant 100

Hoegh LNG Klaipeda Pte. Ltd. Singapore Shipowning 100

Hoegh LNG Klaipeda, UAB Lithuania FSRU Operation 100

Höegh LNG Québec Inc. Canada Dormant 100

Höegh LNG Egypt LCC Egypt FSRU Operation 100

Höegh LNG Egypt Holding I Ltd. Cayman Islands Holding 100

Höegh LNG Egypt Holding II Ltd. Cayman Islands Holding 100

Höegh LNG GP LLC Marshall Islands General Partner 100

Höegh LNG Chile Holding Ltd. Cayman Islands Holding 100

Höegh LNG Chile SpA Chile FSRU Operation 100

Höegh LNG FSRU VI Ltd Cayman Islands Shipowning 100

Hoegh LNG Klaipeda LLC Marshall Islands Dormant 100

Höegh LNG Partners LP * Marshall Islands Holding

Common units 6.43 53.60

Subordinated units 39.97

TOTAL UNITS 46.40 53.60

Subsidiaries

Höegh LNG had the following subsidiaries at 31 December 2016;

 * HMLP is a US listed partnership based on the Marshall Islands. The Company’s holding of 46.40% consists 

of 39.97% subordinated units and 6.43% common units. The partnership agreement limits the voting power of 

an individual common unit holder to a maximum of 4.9% for election to the Board. Subordinated unit holders 

have no right to appoint or elect Board members. Common unit holders have the right to elect four members 

of the Board while the General Partner, an entity controlled by the Company, has the right to appoint the 

remaining three members of the Board.  

** Höegh LNG consolidates PT Hoegh LNG Lampung as it controls all of the economic interest in the company. 

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidated fi nancial statements. Other than the subsidiaries 

described above, the proportion of the voting rights in subsidiary undertakings held directly by Höegh LNG 

do not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held. 

Summarised fi nancial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

On 12 August 2014, HMLP closed its initial public offering (IPO) and sold 11,040,000 common units representing 

limited partner interests in the partnership, which were listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The net proceeds 

of the IPO were USD 203.5 million. The Company contributed its interests in Hoegh LNG Lampung Pte. Ltd., 

PT Hoegh LNG Lampung (the owner of the PGN FSRU Lampung), SRV Joint Gas Ltd. (the owner of the Neptune), 

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd. (the owner of the GDF Suez Cape Ann) and certain related shareholder loans, 

promissory notes and accrued interest to the MLP in exchange for 2,116,600 common units and 13,156,060 

subordinated units of HMLP. As a result, Höegh LNG’s ownership in the partnership was reduced from 100% 

to 58.04%. 

Prior to HMLP’s fi rst general meeting of the unitholders, the common units had no rights to exercise power over 

the partnership. Therefore, Management concluded that the Company continued to control the partnership. 

A decrease in the Company’s ownership interest that does not result in a loss of control is accounted for as 

an equity transaction. The Company recognised a non-controlling interest (NCI) for the HMLP equivalent to 

the 41.96% ownership interest of the public unitholders. Under IFRS, Höegh LNG records directly in equity 

any difference between the recognised amount of NCI and the consideration received (or net proceeds). 

Net proceeds of USD 203.5 million exceeded the amount of NCI recognised of USD 97.3 million resulting in 

a total increase in equity for the controlling interest of USD 106.2 million. This was classifi ed as an increase in 

other paid-in capital and changes in cash fl ow hedge reserves of USD 79.3 and USD 26.9 million, respectively. 

On 24 September 2014, the fi rst general meeting of the unitholders was held to elect members of HMLP’s 

Board. Common unitholders have the right to nominate candidates to the Board and elect four of seven of its 

members. However, the partnership agreement limits an individual unitholder’s voting rights to a maximum of 

4.9%. This means that the Company does not have a majority of the voting rights. The Company, through its 

subsidiaries, has the right to appoint the remaining three members of the Board. 

In December 2016 HMLP issued 6,588,389 new common units. The Company did not participate in the equity 

offering and its ownership share in HMLP was consequently reduced from 58.0% to 46.4%.

According to IFRS 10, the assessment of control must be performed on a continuous basis. For the year ended 

31. December 2014, following the election of four members of the Board, Management made an assessment 

over the control of the partnership. The assessment evaluated all of the facts and circumstances including the 

composition of the board of HMLP, the rights of unitholders and other arrangements and relationships between 

the parties. Based on an overall assessment of all the facts and circumstances, Management concluded that the 

Company had de facto control of HMLP even though it did not have a majority of the voting rights. Management’s 

assessment was based on the combination of factors where the current composition of the board of directors 

of HMLP was an important element in the overall conclusion. 

Company Country Principal activity
Proportion of ordinary 

shares held by MLP

Höegh LNG Partners LP Marshall Islands Holding

Höegh LNG Partners Operating LLC Marshall Islands Holding 100

Hoegh LNG Services Ltd. England Management 100

Hoegh LNG Lampung Pte. Ltd. Singapore Holding 100

PT Hoegh LNG Lampung ** Indonesia Shipowning 49

Hoegh LNG Cyprus Limited Cyprus Shipowning 100

Höegh LNG FSRU III Ltd. Cayman Island Holding 100

Joint Ventures:

SRV Joint Gas Ltd. Cayman Island Shipowning 50

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd. Cayman Island Shipowning 50

The MLP consisted of the following subsidiaries as of 31 December;
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Höegh LNG Partners Consolidated 
Summarised income statement 2016 2015

Freight revenues  96 534  61 035 

Profi t for the year  30 429  25 281 

Other comprehensive income  9 938  10 847 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  40 367  36 128 

Attributable to NCI  19 665  15 531 

Dividends paid to NCI  18 255  14 904 

Höegh LNG Partners Consolidated 
Summarised balance sheet 2016 2015

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  110 683  32 868 

Restricted cash  8 055  10 630 

Other current assets  14 574  17 974 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  133 312  61 472 

FSRUs  555 617  569 929 

Other non-current assets  31 616  36 113 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  587 233  606 042 

TOTAL ASSETS  720 545  667 514 

Liabilities

Current liabilities  56 482  61 585 

Long-term interest-bearing debt  298 206  327 342 

Investments in joint ventures  21 441  37 830 

Other non-current liabilities  64 384  75 810 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  384 031  440 982 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  440 513  502 567 

Net assets  280 032  164 947 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO NCI  150 087  69 208 

* Höegh LNG consolidates PT Hoegh LNG Lampung as it controls all of the economic interest in the Company.

On 1 October 2015, the holding company Höegh LNG FSRU III Ltd., owner of the FSRU Höegh Gallant, was 

sold to the MLP for a purchase price of USD 370 million. As Höegh LNG consolidates the MLP there is 

no gain recognised and all assets and debt are recognised at the same book value as before the transactions. 

The non-controlling interests’ share of equity have been reduced with an amount equal to its share of 

the purchase price less the book value of the assets and liabilities transferred. 

In December 2016, the issuance of 6 588 389 new common units increased the non-controlling ownership 

within Höegh LNG. The net proceeds from the transaction were USD 111.5 million. The impact of the transaction 

on non-controlling interest share of equity can be summarised as follows;

The summarised fi nancial statements of the MLP in accordance with IFRS are presented below. The table 

includes transactions and balances towards other companies within Höegh LNG. As the MLP presents its own 

fi nancials in accordance with USGAAP, and as there are certain differences arising from the incorporation of the 

subgroup and purchase of Höegh Gallant, the IFRS fi nancials of the MLP are not directly comparable to the 

reported fi nancial statements of the MLP.

Note 22: Shares and share capital

On 22 May 2016, the Company issued 7,691 common shares at a subscription price of NOK 91.50 as Board 

remuneration to six Directors of the Board. 

Number of shares Par value 2016 2015 

Ordinary shares authorised USD 0.01  150 000 000  150 000 000 

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUED AND FULLY PAID USD 0.01  76 884 059  76 829 236 

Share capital Number of shares Par value Total USD’000

Shares and share capital at 1 January 2016  76 829 236 0.01  768 

Shares issue exercised stock options 2016  47 132 0.01  0 

Share issue 26 May 2016  7 691 0.01  0 

SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL AT 31 DECEMBER 2016  76 884 059 0.01  769 

Treasury shares Number of shares Par value Total USD’000

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. ownership  1 211 738 0.01  12 

TREASURY SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL AT 31 DECEMBER 2016  1 211 738  12 

TOTAL OUTSTANDING SHARES AT 31 DECEMBER 2016  75 672 321 

Management have reassessed the conclusion for 2016. The dilution of Höegh LNG ownership following the 

capital increase in HMLP prior to the drop down of Höegh Grace have been deemed not to have a material 

impact on the conclusion mainly due to the above mentioned limitation of voting rights per unit holder. It has 

been concluded that Höegh LNG has defacto control over HMLP also after the equity issuance.  

The MLP consists of the following entities (ownership of entities is presented as the ownership by Höegh LNG 

Partners LP):

Company Country Principal activity
Proportion of ordinary 

shares held by MLP

Höegh LNG Partners LP Marshall Islands Holding

Höegh LNG Partners Operating LLC Marshall Islands Holding 100

Hoegh LNG Services Ltd. England Management 100

Hoegh LNG Lampung Pte. Ltd. Singapore Holding 100

PT Hoegh LNG Lampung * Indonesia Shipowning 49

Hoegh LNG Cyprus Limited Cyprus Shipowning 100

Höegh LNG FSRU III Ltd. Cayman Island Holding 100

Joint Ventures:

SRV Joint Gas Ltd. Cayman Island Shipowning 50

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd. Cayman Island Shipowning 50

HMLP
subgroup

NCI
ownership

NCI
share

Net asset in HMLP before transaction  143 680 42%  60 375 

Net proceeds from equity issuance  111 529 

Net asset HMLP after transaction  255 209 54%  136 781 

INCREASE IN NET ASSET ALLOCATED TO NCI 12%  76 406 

Change in share of HMLP hedge reserve in equity  79 846 12%  9 274 
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20 largest shareholders as at 31 December 2016 Ownership (#) Ownership (%)

Leif Höegh & Co Ltd (See Note 32)  31 933 849 41.54

State Street Bank and Trust Comp (Nominee)  5 552 726 7.22

Clearstream Banking S.A.(Nominee)  4 547 275 5.91

Allianz Global Investors LAD  3 332 978 4.34

UBS AG (Nominee)  2 797 835 3.64

BBP Paribas Sec. Services S.C.A  2 260 115 2.94

J.P Morgan Securities LCC (Nominee)  1 719 667 2.24

Folketrygdfondet  1 401 400 1.82

Methane Ventures Limited (See Note 32)  1 211 738 1.58

J.P Morgan Chase Bank N.A, London (Nominee)  989 452 1.29

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (Nominee)  951 212 1.24

Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge (IV)  845 910 1.10

Fidelity Funds - Nordic Fund/SICAV  778 443 1.01

Norron SICAV - Target  570 000 0.74

VPF Nordea Norge Verdi  560 662 0.73

Morgan Stanley & Co International (Nominee)  536 534 0.70

KLP Aksje Norge  501 766 0.65

VPF Nordea Kapital  429 194 0.56

Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge Selektiv  417 824 0.54

The Bank of New Yourg Mellon N.V.  407 327 0.53

Other  15 138 152 19.69

TOTAL SHARES  76 884 059 100.00

Note 23: Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (EPS) amounts are calculated by dividing the profi t for the year attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profi t for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 

the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary 

shares into ordinary shares. In the event of a loss, no dilution effect is calculated. 

The Company held 1,211,738 treasury shares as at 31 December in 2016 and 31 December 2015. The following 

refl ects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

2016 2015

Net profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent company  1 298  (37 737)

Number of outstanding shares 1 January  75 617 498  69 898 827 

Number of outstanding shares 31 December  75 672 321  76 829 236 

Average share options outstanding (if profi t)  2 722 646  -   

Weighted average number of outstanding shares  75 644 910  70 717 995 

Earnings per share (EPS):

 > basic, profi t for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  0.017  (0.534)

 > diluted, profi t for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  0.017  (0.534)

Following an exercise of stock options by employees, 47,132 shares were issued in March 2016.

The number of issued shares was 76,884,059 as of 31 December 2016. The Company has one class of shares.

The 20 largest shareholders as of 31 December 2016 are specifi ed below: 

Note 24: Share-based payment
Stock options in Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.

In 2012, the Company introduced a share option programme, where share options of the Company are granted 

to members of management and key employees of Höegh LNG. The share options vest in three equal portions 

over a three year period from the initial date of granting, given that the option holder remains employed on such 

dates.

A total of 676,673 options, included in the above table as outstanding as of 31 December, were exercised in 

December 2016 with shares delivered in January 2017. 

For 2016, the expense recognised for employee services received during the year charged to the income 

statement is USD 2.0 million (USD 1.7 million in 2015). This includes the phantom units as described below. 

The weighted average fair value of the share options granted during 2016 is NOK 39.78. The fair value of 

the share option is estimated at the grant date using a Black & Scholes simulation pricing model, taking into 

account the terms and conditions upon which the share options were granted. Options outstanding at 

31 December 2016 expire on 31 December 2020 at the latest. The weighted average remaining contractual life 

Average 
exercise price 2016 2015

Outstanding at 1 January  2 096 012  2 189 000 

Granted during the year  844 600  9 000 

Exercised during the year  (114 671)  (101 988)

Forfeited during the year  (124 067)  -   

Expired during the year  -    -   

Adjusted quantity due to issuance of phantom units  (72 776)

OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER NOK 57.25  2 629 098  2 096 012 

Exercisable at 31 December  1 483 674  1 164 342 
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The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the plan for the years ended 31 December: 2016 2015

Dividend yield (%): 0 0

Expected volatility (%): 55.00 55.00

Risk-free interest rate (%): 0.75 0.67

Expected life of share options (years): 4.23 3.03

Weighted average share price: 90.08 94.00

2016 2015

Outstanding at 1 January  -    -   

Granted during the year  53 568  -   

OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER  53 568  -   

2016 2015

Outstanding at 1 January  -    -   

Granted during the year  21 500  -   

OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER  21 500  -   

The expected life of the share options is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily 

indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility refl ects the assumption that the historical 

volatility over a period similar to the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily 

be the actual outcome. The options could be settled either in cash or shares based on the Company’s sole 

discretion.

Phantom unit award to management of Höegh LNG

In order to align the interest of the management of Höegh LNG and the MLP, the Board of Directors of the Company 

decided to award a right to receive common units in HMLP (phantom units) to members of management and 

key employees who are directly involved in providing services to the MLP, where a number of the phantom units 

awarded have been exchanged against options granted in Round 3 of the Company’s share option program. 

The Board of Directors of the Company approved the total award of 53,568 phantom units in HMLP. A phantom 

unit is a notional unit that, upon vesting, entitles the participant to receive, at the time of settlement, a common 

unit in HMLP or an amount of cash equal to the fair market value of a common unit, as determined by the board 

in its sole discretion. 

The phantom units will vest with one third on 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively. They are 

non-tradable and conditional upon the participant being employed by the Company or its subsidiaries at 

the vesting date. Additional phantom units may be awarded as new participants may be included in the plan.

The grant has been accounted for as equity settled based on a fair value equal to the value of an unit at the time 

of grant.

Note 25: Deferred tax and corporate income tax 
Current income tax 2016 2015

Current income tax payable  625  946 

Change in deferred tax  4 933  734 

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years  (437)  (624)

CURRENT INCOME TAX EXPENSE (INCOME)  5 121  1 056 

Reconciliation of income tax expense

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX  19 133  (90 952)

At Bermuda's statutory income taxe rate of 0%  -    -   

Income tax expense reported outside Bermuda  5 121  1 056 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE REPORTED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT  5 121  1 056 

Note 26: Trade and other receivables
2016 2015

Trade receivables  27 817  23 129 

VAT receivables  2 122  587 

Receivables towards Joint Ventures  1 317  257 

Prepayments and other  9 283  9 334 

TOTAL  40 539  33 307 

2016 2015

Trade payables  6 297  8 062 

Public duties  9 972  7 703 

Accrued vacation/leave pay  2 754  2 941 

TOTAL  19 023  18 706 

Note 27: Trade and other payables

Outstanding trade and other payables as at 31 December 2016 fall due between 30-180 days. 

2016 2015

Prepayments from customers  2 585  12 342 

Other  23 586  19 758 

TOTAL  26 171  32 100 

2016 2015

Interest rate swaps designated as effective hedging instruments *  52 397  12 725 

Accrued interest on mortgage debt  2 362  2 571 

Accrued interest on bond  3 131  3 076 

TOTAL  57 890  18 372 

Note 28: Provisions and accruals

Note 29: Other current fi nancial liabilities

* The interest rate swap agreements are designated as effective hedging instruments. The current portion of the 

liabilities related to the interest rate swap agreements’ mark-to-market as at 31 December is presented above. 

For further information on interest rate swaps, reference is made to Note 14. 

for the share options was 2.72 years. The following parameters are inputs to the models used for the plan for 

the year ended 31 December 2016: 

Phantom unit award to the CEO & CFO of HMLP

The Board of Directors of HMLP has awarded the CEO & CFO of HMLP, a total of 21,500 phantom units. 

Vesting and other conditions are similar to the phantom units granted by the Company:

Social security contributions on share options 

The provision for social security contributions on share options is calculated based on the number of outstanding 

options at the reporting date that are expected to be exercised. The provision is based on market price of the 

shares at the reporting date, which is the best estimate of the market price at the date of exercise. It is expected 

that costs will be incurred during the exercise period of 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2020.
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2016 2015

Pre contract costs  4 752  5 077 

Arrangement, commitment fees on undrawn facilities  2 420  2 343 

IT and equipment  1 945  2 170 

Equipment related to FSRU operations  8 069  9 124 

Dry dock leased vessels  4 934  6 825 

TOTAL  22 120  25 539 

Note 30: Other non-current assets

Pre-contract costs are incremental costs recorded in the period starting when Höegh LNG is selected as 

the preferred bidder of an FSRU until a fi rm charter party agreement is signed. These costs will be amortised 

(linearly) from the commencement of respective charter party until the end of fi rm charter party period. 

Upon drawing on the project fi nancing loans, the remaining debt issuance costs will be reclassifi ed and netted 

against mortgage debt and amortised. 

The table below reconciles the carrying value of equipment: 

Equipment related to FSRU operations and IT 2016 2015

Cost 1 January  16 828  6 680 

Reclassifi ed from newbuildings  -    3 250 

Items scrapped or sold  (960)  -   

Additions  618  6 898 

COST AT 31 DECEMBER  16 486  16 828 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January  (5 534)  (4 417)

Items scrapped or sold  929  -   

Depreciation charge  (1 867)  (1 117)

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AT 31 DECEMBER  (6 472)  (5 534)

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER  10 014  11 294 

Note 31: Non-current fi nancial assets and liabilities
Interest rate swap agreements are entered into by Höegh LNG in addition to a cross currency interest rate 

swap agreement (see Note 14). The interest rate and currency swap agreements are designated as effective 

hedging instruments. The non-current portion of the mark-to-market valuation of these agreements as at 

31 December 2016 is presented below. For current portion of the mark-to-market valuations, see Note 14.  

For further information on interest rate swaps, see Note 14.

Non-current fi nancial assets at 31 December: 2016 2015

Interest rate swaps - designated as hedges  8 485  2 800 

VAT receivable  6 119  10 065 

Long-term recivables  6 195  -   

Other  1 324  95 

TOTAL  22 123  12 960 

Non-current fi nancial liabilities at 31 December: 2016 2015

Interest rate swaps - designated as hedges  4 570  54 962 

VAT liability  11 254  14 651 

Pension liabilities  1 114  1 086 

TOTAL  16 938  70 699 

Note 32: Transactions with related parties
Transactions with joint ventures

Höegh LNG provides various management services to its joint ventures. The below table provides the total 

amounts of the aggregate transactions of management services that have been entered into between 

Höegh LNG AS, Höegh LNG Fleet Management AS and the joint ventures for 2016 and 2015. For recognition 

of management revenues, see Note 4.

Management income from joint ventures 2016 2015

Joint Gas Ltd.  67  65 

Joint Gas Two Ltd.  67  65 

SRV Joint Gas Ltd.  1 359  1 326 

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd.  2 263  1 377 

TOTAL  3 756  2 833 

Höegh LNG has shareholder loans entered into with two of its joint ventures:

Non-current 2016 2015

SRV Joint Gas Ltd.  641  3 659 

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd.  302  3 202 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT  943  6 861 

Current

SRV Joint Gas Ltd.  3 275  3 565 

SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd.  3 000  3 565 

TOTAL CURRENT  6 275  7 130 

TOTAL  7 218  13 991 

Transactions with other related parties

Höegh Autoliners Management AS

Höegh LNG considers Höegh Autoliners Holdings AS to be a related party as both Morten W. Høegh (Chairman 

of the Board) and Leif O. Høegh (Deputy Chairman) indirectly have a signifi cant benefi cial interest in both 

companies. Höegh LNG has entered into agreements with Höegh Autoliners Management AS (a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Höegh Autoliners Holdings AS) relating to Höegh LNG’s purchase of insurance services provided 

by Höegh Autoliners Management AS and lease of offi ce premises.

The following table provides the aggregated amounts of administrative services including the lease of premises 

for 2016 and 2015: 

Administrative services from 2016 2015

Höegh Autoliners Management AS  1 242  1 532 

TOTAL  1 242  1 532 

Höegh Capital Partners AS

Höegh LNG has an agreement with Höegh Capital Partners AS, a company owned by the Høegh family, for 

the provision of investment management services by Höegh Capital Partners AS of any excess liquidity.

Reference is made to Note 16 for further details.  
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Remuneration to the key management and Board of Directors in USD: 2016 2015

Salaries  2 378 118  2 333 582 

Pension compensation (cash allowance)  318 587  322 534 

Share-based payment expense (Note 24)  1 460 149  1 149 385 

Other taxable benefi ts  232 949  217 039 

Pensions (Defi ned contribution scheme)  140 717  137 670 

Bonus  770 487  814 913 

Board of Directors' Fee 1 021 000  1 015 000 

TOTAL 6 322 007 5 990 123

Co-investment vehicle for management

Methane Ventures Limited, a British Virgin Islands limited liability company, is a co-investment company jointly 

owned by the management of Höegh LNG and the Company. At 31 December 2016, the Company owned 

64.97% of the shares in Methane Ventures Limited, and the remaining 35.03% of the shares were owned 

by Höegh LNG’s Management. Methane Ventures Limited owned 1,211,738 shares in the Company as at 

31 December 2016. Management’s investment in Methane Ventures Limited has been extended beyond the 

initial term and will expire no later than 30 June 2017. Upon termination of the investment scheme, the owners 

of Methane Ventures Limited may receive either cash or shares in the Company or a combination thereof. 

Methane Ventures Limited’s shares in the Company are pledged to DNB Bank ASA as security.

Management and general bonus scheme

The Management bonus scheme is subject to individual performance and the achievement of Höegh LNG’s 

corporate goals and operating performance targets. The bonus potential will vary from two to twelve months’ 

salary for the individual members of the scheme. Höegh LNG has a general bonus scheme incorporates all 

Höegh LNG’s permanent and qualifying employees, except for the participants in the Management bonus 

scheme. Full bonus potential of the general bonus scheme is one month salary and the achievement is based on 

individual performance, corporate goals and operating performance.

Note 33: Subsequent events
The Company declared a cash dividend on 27 February 2017 of USD 0.125 per share for the fi rst quarter of 2017.

The sale of a 51% equity interest in Höegh Grace to Höegh LNG Partners LP closed.

The shipbuilding agreement with Samsung Heavy Industries for one fi rm FSRU and options for three additional 

FSRUs was formally signed.

A shipbuilding contract with HHI for a FSRU newbuilding with delivery in the fourth quarter of 2018 was announced.

NOK 1,500 million in new unsecured bonds was placed in the Nordic bond market in January 2017. Following 

the offering, the Company bought back 13% of the outstanding HLNG01 bond loan. 

Höegh LNG announced it had signed HOA with Qatar Petroleum, Total, ExxonMobil, and Mitsubishi for 

FSRU terminal infrastructure in Pakistan.

Leif Höegh & Co Ltd. (Cyprus) 

Höegh LNG has entered into a licence agreement with Leif Höegh & Co Ltd. pursuant to which Leif Höegh & Co Ltd. 

grants to the Company a royalty free licence for the use of the name and trademark “Höegh LNG” and the 

Höegh funnel mark (the Höegh fl ag). The licence agreement is effective for as long as Leif Höegh & Co Ltd. 

(or any other entity benefi cially owned/controlled by the Høegh family) remains a shareholder in the Company 

holding one third (33.33%) or more of the issued shares in the Company. In the event such shareholding falls 

below one third, Leif Höegh & Co Ltd. may require that the Group ceases to use the name and trademark 

“Höegh LNG” and the Höegh funnel mark.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at estimated fair value. 

Top management and Board of Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration to top management, consisting of seven executives, and the Board of Directors during 2016 

and 2015 is presented below: 
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Höegh LNG's APM's 2016 2015

EBIT  76 432  25 688 

EBITDA  111 280  90 292 

Net interest-bearing debt  (584 911)  (423 155)

Equity adjusted for hedging  677 111  597 834 

Equity ratio adjusted for hedging 40% 40%

APM Net interest-bearing debt calculated as: 2016 2015

Long-term and short-term interest-bearing debt  (935 862)  (787 062)

Restricted cash long-term  18 580  19 648 

Cash and marketable securities  332 371  344 259 

NET INTEREST-BEARING DEBT  (584 911)  (423 155)

APM Equity adjusted for hedging calculated as: 2016 2015

Equity  596 063  491 565 

Hedge reserve, including NCI share  81 048  106 269 

EQUITY ADJUSTED FOR HEDGING  677 111  597 834 

APM Equity ratio adjusted for hedging calculated as: 2016 2015

Total assets  1 713 461  1 502 281 

Hedge assets  8 485  2 800 

Total assets adjusted for hedging  1 704 976  1 499 481 

Equity adjusted for hedging  677 111  597 834 

EQUITY RATIO ADJUSTED FOR HEDGING 40% 40%

Appendix 1– Alternative performance measures (“APM’s”)
Höegh LNG’s fi nancial information is prepared in accordance with international fi nancial reporting standards 

(IFRS). In addition it is management’s intent to provide alternative performance measures that are regularly 

reviewed by management to enhance the understanding of Höegh LNG’s performance. Alternative performance 

measures are used by Höegh LNG to provide supplemental information to the different users of its external 

fi nancial reporting. Financial APMs are intended to enhance comparability of the results and to give supplemental 

information related to measures not within the applicable fi nancial reporting framework, and it is Höegh LNG’s 

experience that these measures are frequently used by as well equity- and debt investors, analysts and other 

stakeholders. Management also uses these measures internally to drive performance in terms of target setting 

and as basis for measuring actual performance. These measures are adjusted IFRS measures defi ned, calculated 

and used in a consistent and transparent manner over the years and across the group where relevant. Operational 

measures such as, but not limited to, volumes, technical availability of vessels/fl eet and contract backlog are not 

defi ned as fi nancial APM’s. Financial APM’s should not be considered as a substitute for measures of performance 

in accordance with the IFRS. The alternative performance measures presented may be determined or calculated 

differently by other companies. 

Höegh LNG’s APM’s

–  EBIT: EBIT is defi ned as line item Operating profi t after depreciation and impairment in the interim consolidated 

 statement of income.

–  EBITDA: EBIT adding depreciation, amortisation and impairments. EBITDA is defi ned as line item Operating 

 profi t before depreciation and impairment in the interim consolidated statement of income.

–  Net interest-bearing debt: Non-current and current interest-bearing debt deducted cash and marketable 

 securities and restricted cash (current and non-current).  

–  Equity adjusted for hedging: Total book equity adjusted for mark-to-market value of fi nancial derivative swaps 

 recorded against equity. Financial derivative swaps consist of interest-rate and cross-currency interest-rate 

 swaps. In the money mark-to-market fi nancial derivative swaps will increase equity, while out of the money 

 mark-to-market fi nancial derivative swaps will reduce equity. Mark-to-market value of interest-rate swaps in 

 Höegh LNG’s joint ventures are recorded as part of line item Investment in joint ventures. See Note 6 for more 

 information regarding hedging reserves.   

–  Equity ratio adjusted for hedging: Total book equity (see above) adjusted for hedging reserves divided by total 

 assets adjusted for hedging.
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STATEMENT OF INCOME

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

USD’000 Note 2016 2015

Administrative expenses 11 (3 401) (5 856)

Operating expenses (980)  -   

OPERATING RESULT (4 381) (5 856)

Interest income 8 13 827 14 376

Dividend received 18 25 652  20 617 

Interest expenses 9, 14 (17 057)  (19 619)

Income from other fi nancial items 5 697  362 

Expenses from other fi nancial items 19 584  (5 154)

(Impairment)/Reversal of impairment 17 (825)  (54 882)

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAX 23 497 (50 155)

Income taxes  -    -   

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AFTER TAX 23 497 (50 155)

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 23 497 (50 155)

Items that may be subsequently reclassifi ed to profi t or (loss)

Net gain (loss) on cash fl ow hedges 10 8 187  (96)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 8 187 (96)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 31 684 (50 251)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December

USD’000 Note 2016 2015

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investments in newbuildings under construction 7 38 487  31 044 

Investments in subsidiaries 3 395 329  389 887 

Loans to subsidiaries 4, 6 434 943  367 989 

Other receivables -  11 

Other non-current fi nancial assets 10 8 101  759 

Total non-current assets 876 860 789 690

Current assets

Trade receivables and other receivables 5 5 980  5 927 

Marketable securities 20 135 751  231 094 

Cash and cash equivalents 12 12 359 3 938

Total current assets 154 091 240 958

TOTAL ASSETS 1 030 950 1 030 648

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 13 769 768

Share premium reserve 445 077 444 740

Hedging reserves 10  3 225  (4 962)

Other paid-in equity  7 408  6 077 

Retained earnings 315 733 322 984

Total equity 772 212 769 607

Non-current liabilities

Other non-current fi nancial liabilities 10  -   47 080

Bond 14 128 043 205 638

Total non-current liabilities 128 043 252 717

Current liabilities

Accrued interest Bond 14  3 183  3 076 

Trade and other payables  773  507 

Provisions and accruals  140  610 

Other current fi nancial liabilities 10  45 856  4 131 

Bond short-term 10, 14  80 742  -   

Total current liabilities 130 694 8 324

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1 030 950 1 030 648
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

USD’000

Share
capital

(Note 13)

Share 
premium

reserve

Other paid-
in equity
(Note 3)

Hedging
reserve

(Note 10)

Retained 
earnings

Total 
equity

AT 1 JANUARY 2015  698  344 318  4 674  (4 866)  401 792  746 616 

Issue of share capital (Note 13)  69  100 423  -    -    -    100 492 

Share-based payment costs  -    -    1 403  -    -    1 403 

Dividend to shareholders  -    -    -    -    (28 653)  (28 653)

Total comprehensive income 2015  -    -    -    (96)  (50 155)  (50 251)

AT 31 DECEMBER 2015  768  444 741  6 077  (4 962)  322 984  769 607 

Issue of share capital (Note 13)  1  336  -    -    -    337 

Share-based payment costs  -    -    1 332  -    -    1 332 

Dividend to shareholders  -    -    -    -    (30 748)  (30 748)

Total comprehensive income 2016  -    -    -    8 187  23 497  31 684 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2016  769  445 077  7 408  3 225  315 733  772 212 

Sveinung J.S. Støhle
President & CEO

Hamilton, Bermuda, 22 March 2017

The Board of Directors and the President & CEO of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.

Morten W. Høegh 
Chairman

Leif O. Høegh
Deputy Chairman

Cameron E. Adderley
Director

Andrew Jamieson
Director

Christopher G. Finlayson
Director

Jørgen Kildahl
Director

Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg
Director
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December

USD’000 Note 2016 2015

Cash fl ows from operating activities:

Profi t (loss) before tax for the year  23 497  (50 155)

Non-cash adjustment to reconcile profi t before tax to net operational cash fl ow

Fair value adjustments on marketable securities  (5 697)  (362)

Impairment of fi nancial assets 17  825  54 882 

Board remuneration  85  50 

Interest income 8  (13 827)  (14 376)

Interest expenses 9  17 057  19 619 

Loss on interest rate swaps  223  112 

Dividend received from Höegh LNG Partners LP 18  (25 652)  (20 617)

Working capital adjustments

Changes in accounts receivable and payable  (258)  (148)

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (3 746)  (10 996)

Cash fl ow from investing activites:

Capital contributions paid to Höegh LNG Partners LP 3  (3 921)  (6 596)

Dividend received from Höegh LNG Partners LP 18  25 652  20 617 

Purchase of marketable securities 20  (116)  (184 230)

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 20  101 269  71 191 

Interest received  66  1 420 

Investments in Methane Ventures Limited 3  -    (135)

Investments in newbuildings under construction 7  (5 119)  (1 180)

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  117 831  (98 912)

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activites:

Gross proceeeds from equity issue 13  -    102 908 

Transaction costs equity issue 13  -    (2 507)

Dividend paid 13  (30 263)  (28 654)

Net proceeds from bond issue  -    127 370 

Interest paid 14  (18 330)  (23 337)

Payment of intercompany borrowings 4, 6  (57 070)  (72 532)

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (105 663)  103 248 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  8 422  (6 660)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  3 938  10 597 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 12  12 359  3 938 

Note 1: Corporate information
Please refer to information provided in Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 2: Summary of signifi cant accounting policies
The fi nancial statements of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) are prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) with respect to recognition and measurement. Requirements 

related to recognition and measurement applied to the company fi nancial statements of Höegh LNG Holdings 

Ltd. are identical to the ones described in Note 2 Summary of signifi cant accounting policies in the consolidated 

fi nancial statements, with the exception of shares in subsidiaries, which are recognised at cost in the Company 

fi nancial statements.

Please refer to information provided in Note 2 in the consolidated fi nancial statements for further information.

Note 3: Investments in subsidiaries
2016 2015

Carrying value at 1 January 389 887 423 194

Investment in Höegh LNG Partners LP *  3 921  6 596 

Acquisition of shares in Methane Ventures Limited  -    135 

Impairment of the investment in Höegh FLNG Ltd. (See Note 17)  -   (41 482)

Share-based payments costs  1 521  1 444 

CARRYING VALUE AT 31 DECEMBER 395 329 389 887

Carrying amount per group company 2016 2015

Höegh LNG Partners LP  272 492  268 571 

Höegh LNG Ltd.  121 449  119 928 

Höegh FLNG Ltd.  -    -   

Methane Ventures Limited  1 388  1 388 

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER  395 329  389 887 

Companies Registered offi ce
Ownership

share
Carrying
amount

Book equity (100%)
31 December 2016

Book equity (100%)
31 December 2015

Höegh LNG Ltd. Bermuda 100.00%  121 449  20 489  50 432 

Höegh LNG Partners LP Marshall Islands 46.40%  272 492  338 479  270 457 

Höegh FLNG Ltd. Bermuda 100.00%  -    14 207  23 456 

Methane Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands 64.97%  1 388  1 452  1 666 

Höegh LNG Québec Inc Canada 100.00%  -    -    -   

Höegh LNG GP LLC Marshall Islands 100.00%  -    (28 162)  (15 085)

TOTAL  395 329  346 464  330 927 

At year ended 31 December 2016, the market value of HMLP’s units was approximately USD 19.0, giving 

a fair value of the Company’s investment in HMLP of about USD 290 million as the Company’s ownership in 

HMLP was 15.3 million units.

* The additional investment of USD 3.9 million in 2016 (USD 6.6 million in 2015) are the indemnifi cation paid 

to HMLP.
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Note 4: Non-current loans to subsidiaries
2016 2015

Intercompany receivables Höegh LNG Ltd.  426 321  367 989 

Intercompany receivables Höegh LNG Partners LP (See Note 6)  8 622  -   

AT 31 DECEMBER  434 943  367 989 

The Company has entered into a loan facility with Höegh LNG Ltd. in the amount of USD 600 million. The interest 

rate of the facility is 3 months LIBOR plus a margin of 2.5%. Repayment of this facility shall be done in one or 

several amounts as agreed between the parties.

See Note 8 for recognition of interest income and Note 16 for transactions with related parties.

Note 5: Trade receivables
2016 2015

Commitment fee on revolving credit facility of USD 85 million provided to Höegh LNG Partners LP  -  287 

Prepayments  216 195

Intercompany receivables  33 30

Other current fi nancial assets Methane Ventures Limited  5 731 5 415

TOTAL  5 980  5 927 

Note 6: Revolving credit facility
On 12 August 2014, the Company issued a revolving credit facility (RCF) in an aggregate amount of 

USD 85 million to the borrower Höegh LNG Partners LP. The drawn amount at 31 December 2016 amounted 

to USD 8.6 million (USD 0 million at 31 December 2015). The RCF has a fl oating interest rate equal to 3 months 

LIBOR plus a margin of 4%. The RCF also has a commitment fee that carries a fi xed interest rate of 1.4%. 

Interest income and commitment fees have been recognised with USD 1.3 million in 2016 (USD 1.2 million 

in 2015).

Note 7: Investments in newbuildings under construction
The shipbuilding contract for the construction of FSRU#7 (HN 2552) was entered into with Hyundai Heavy 

Industries Ltd. in November 2014. The table below sets out the components comprising the carrying amount 

of newbuildings under construction:

For outstanding interest-bearing receivables see Note 4. Reference is made to Note 16 for transactions with 

related parties.

Note 8: Interest income
2016 2015

Interest on intercompany loan to Höegh LNG Ltd.  12 035 12 346

Interest on loan to Methane Ventures Limited  401 446

Interest on loan to Höegh FLNG Ltd.  28 344

Commitment fee Höegh LNG Partners LP  1 296 1 190

Other interest income  67  51 

TOTAL  13 827 14 376

2016 2015

Carrying amount at 1 January 2016  31 044  26 803 

Yard instalments paid  -    -   

Borrowing cost (See Note 9)  2 629  2 376 

Other capitalised cost  4 814  1 865 

Newbuildings delivered during the year  -    -   

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2016  38 487  31 044 

Note 9: Interest expenses
2016 2015

Interest expense bond issue 2012 ("HLNG01") 10 522 10 298

Interest expense bond issue 2015 ("HLNG02") 9 164 5 430

Bond interest expense eligible for capitalisation (See Note 7) (2 629) (2 376)

Interest expense demand note Höegh LNG Partners LP (See Note 6)  - 6 266

TOTAL 17 057 19 619

Note 10: Financial derivatives
The Company has entered into a cross currency interest rate swap relating to the NOK bond and an interest 

rate swap on the USD bond. As of 31 December 2016, the mark-to-market valuation of the interest rate swaps 

was recognised in the fi nancial position with a net liability of USD 40.8 million. The fi nancial liabilities were 

classifi ed as current liabilities of USD 45.9 million. USD 5.7 million was recognised as non-current fi nancial assets. 

In addition, the Company has entered into a forward swap contract in relation to fi nancing of HN 2552 (FSRU#7).

At 31 December 2016, the net mark-to-market valuation of the interest rate swaps entered into was recognised 

with a positive value of USD 3.2 million in the equity of the Company.

MtMs of cash fl ow hedges in the Financial Position 2016 2015

MtMs presented as fi nancial assets non-current portion  5 682  759 

Total MtMs presented as fi nancial liabilities non-current portion  -    (47 080)

Total MtMs presented as fi nancial liabilities current portion  (45 856)  (4 131)

NET MtMs OF CASH FLOW HEDGES AS AT 31 DECEMBER  (40 174)  (50 452)

Foreign exchange losses under cross currency swap included in MtM  43 258  45 125 

Accumulated loss on swap in profi t or loss  141  365 

INTEREST RATE SWAPS RECORDED AGAINST EQUITY AS AT 31 DECEMBER  3 225  (4 962)

USD 8.2 million relating to the swaps was recorded as a gain in other comprehensive income (OCI) in 2016. 

In 2015, USD 0.1 million was recorded as a loss in OCI.
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Note 11: Administrative expenses
2016 2015

Stock options cost, declared and paid out 12  -   

Remuneration to Board members 315 310

Audit fees 244 326

Legal fees 695 2 051

Other external services 180 166

Management cost from companies within the Group 1 445 1 841

Consultancy fee on SOx *  339  1 038 

Miscellaneous expenses  171  124 

Indemnifi cation to loss of hire in the MLP (See  Note 20 in Group accounts)  -    -   

TOTAL 3 401 5 856

All bank deposits are held with Norwegian banks.

* Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOx).

Note 12: Cash and cash equivalents
Currency Exchange rate 2016 Exchange rate 2015

US Dollars (USD) 1  11 772 1  3 792 

Norwegian Kroner (NOK) 8.62  587 8.81  146 

TOTAL  12 359  3 938 

On 22 May 2016, the Company issued 7,691 common shares at a subscription price of NOK 91.50 as Board 

remuneration to six Directors of the Board. Following an exercise of stock options by employees, 47,132 shares 

were issued in March 2016.

The Company has one class of shares and as of 31 December 2016, the number of issued shares in the 

Company was 76 884 059. During 2016, total dividend paid out amounted to USD 30.3 million. The Board of 

Directors of the Company also declared a cash dividend on 27 February 2017 of USD 0.125 per share for 

the fi rst quarter of 2017.

Note 13: Share capital
Number of shares Par value 2016 2015

Total number of share authorised USD 0.01 150 000 000 150 000 000

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARE ISSUED AND FULLY PAID USD 0.01 76 884 059 76 829 236

Share capital Number of shares Par value USD USD’000

Opening balance 1 January 2016  76 829 236 0.01  768 

Share issue 22 March 2016  47 132 0.01  0.05 

Share issue 26 May 2016  7 691 0.01  0.08 

SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL AT 31 DECEMBER 2016  76 884 059  769 

On 3 October 2012, the Company completed the issuance of a senior unsecured bond of NOK 750 million 

in the Norwegian bond market with maturity date of 3 October 2017. The bond carries 3 months NIBOR plus 

a coupon of 6%. Following a cross currency interest rate swap, the repayment obligation is USD 130.3 million, 

while the total interest rate has been fi xed at 7.3%. The decrease in liability due to currency fl uctuations is offset 

by the cross-currency swap.

On 5 June 2015, the Company completed the issuance of a USD 130.0 million senior unsecured bond in 

the Nordic bond market with maturity date of 5 June 2020. The bond bears interest of 3 months LIBOR plus 

a coupon of 5%. The bond issue was swapped from fl oating to a total fi xed interest rate of 6.7%. 

Interest on the bond has been expensed in the amount of USD 17.1 million during 2016 (USD 13.4 million). 

At 31 December 2016, accrued interest was USD 3.2 million (USD 3.1 million).

Note 14: Bond
2016 2015

Bond issue 2012 (“HLNG01”)  80 742  79 010 

Bond issue 2015 (“HLNG02”)  130 000  130 000 

Debt issuance cost bonds issues  (1 957)  (3 372)

AT 31 DECEMBER  208 786  205 638 
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The fair value of the fi nancial assets and liabilities are included in the amount at which the instrument could be 

exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following 

methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of fi nancial instrument:

– Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables, trade payables and other current liabilities 

 approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

– Long-term fi xed rate and variable-rate receivables are evaluated by the Company based on interest rates. 

 The fair value approximates its carrying amounts reported since they are payable on demand by the lender.

– Fair value of fi nancial instruments within the marketable securities is calculated by using valuation techniques 

 with market observable inputs, including forward pricing and swap models, using present calculations. 

 The models incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot 

 and forward rates and interest rate curves.

– Both the bonds issued by the Company (HLNG01 issued on 3 October 2012 and HLNG02 issued on 

 5 June 2015) are listed on Oslo Stock Exchange, and the fair values of these are disclosed based on traded 

 information. As of 31 December 2016, the fair values were 103.06% and 100.19% for HLNG01 and 

 HLNG02, respectively (102.25% and 96.63% at 31 December 2015).

– A USD 223 million senior secured credit facility agreement for the fi nancing of HN 2552 was entered into 

 in March 2016 by the Company as borrower. The Company will be replaced by a special purpose entity 

 borrower on delivery of the FSRU and the Company will become a guarantor. Customary security package 

 will be entered into upon delivery of the FSRU from the yard.

Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets 2016 2015 2016 2015

Financial instruments at fair value through profi t or loss

Marketable securities  135 751  231 094  135 751  231 094 

Loans and receivables

Interest-bearing receivables  434 943  367 989  434 943  367 989 

Restricted cash  -    -    -    -   

Trade receivables and other  5 980  5 938  5 980  5 938 

Cash and cash equivalents  12 359  3 938  12 359  3 938 

TOTAL  589 033  608 958  589 033  608 958 

TOTAL CURRENT  154 091  240 969  154 091  240 969 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT  434 943  367 989  434 943  367 989 

Refer to Note 14 in Consolidated Financial Statements for fair value hierarchy and for further outline of fi nancial 

risk management objectives and policies.

Carrying amount Fair value

Financial liabilities 2016 2015 2016 2015

Financial instruments at fair value through profi t or loss

Derivatives in effective cash fl ow hedges  45 856  51 210  45 856  51 210 

Loans and payables

Revolving loan Höegh LNG Partners LP  8 622  -    8 443  -   

Trade and other payables  773  507  773  507 

Bond  208 786  205 638  213 460  206 407 

TOTAL  264 037  257 355  268 532  258 124 

TOTAL CURRENT  135 994  4 638  46 629  4 638 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT  128 043  252 717  221 903  253 487 

Note 15: Financial risk management objectives and policies
Capital Management

As the Parent of Höegh LNG, the primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure adequate 

capital ratios in order to support on-going operations, business development activities, capital expenditures 

and maximise shareholder value within the Group. 

The main priority of maintaining a strong fi nancial position is to ensure access to funding at favourable terms. 

The Group’s capital structure consists of debt, marketable securities, cash and cash equivalents and equity 

attributable to the shareholders of the Company. The shares and the bonds issued by the Company are listed 

at the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

The Company’s capital structure might be adjusted over time to refl ect the risk characteristics associated with 

the underlying assets, the funding situation and the fi nancial markets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the Company may refi nance its debt, buy or issue new shares or debt instruments, sell assets, pay 

dividends or return capital to shareholders.

Financial Risk

The Company is in the ordinary course of its business exposed to different types of fi nancial risk including 

market risk (interest- and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company has established procedures 

and policies for determining, mitigating and monitoring the risk exposures. 

The following table includes the estimated fair value and carrying value of those assets and liabilities that are 

measured as a value on a recurring and non-recurring basis.
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The Company has entered into loan agreements with subsidiaries as described in Note 4 and has received 

administration services in the amount of USD 1.4 million in 2016 from the subsidiary Höegh LNG AS (USD 1.8 million 

in 2015).

Other related parties

For transactions with other related parties, reference is made to Note 32 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 16: Related party transactions
Receivables against related party 2016 2015

Subsidiary

Höegh LNG Ltd.  426 321  367 989 

Methane Ventures Limited  5 731  5 415 

Höegh FLNG Ltd.  -    -   

Höegh LNG Partners LP  -    287 

TOTAL  432 052  373 691 

Interest income from related party

Subsidiary

Höegh LNG Ltd.  12 035 12 346

Methane Ventures Limited  401 446

Höegh FLNG Ltd.  28 344

Höegh LNG Partners LP (commitment fee)  1 296 1 190

TOTAL  13 761  14 326 

Interest cost to a related party

Subsidiary

Höegh LNG Partners LP  -    6 266 

TOTAL  -    6 266 

Administrative service expence from 2016 2015

Subsidiary

Höegh LNG AS 1 445 1 841

Note 17: Impairment
As a consequence of Höegh LNG’ decision to put FLNG activities on hold, the Company has recognised 

an impairment of USD 0.8 million in 2016.

Note 20: Marketable securities
Refer to Note 16 in the Consolidated Financial Statements disclosing information to the Company’s marketable 

securities.

Note 21: Share-based payments
Refer to Note 24 in the Consolidated Financial Statements disclosing information to the Company’s share 

option programme.

Note 22: Commitments and guarantees
Refer to Note 20 in the Consolidated Financial Statements for guarantees provided by the Company.

Note 23: Subsequent events
Refer to Note 33 in the Consolidated Financial Statements for events after the balance sheet date.

Note 18: Dividend
The Company has during 2016 received quarterly dividends of USD 6.4 million from HMLP, totalling 

USD 25.6 million.

Note 19: Other fi nancial expenses

2016 2015

Impairment of investment in Höegh FLNG Ltd.  -    41 482 

Impairment of loan to Höegh FLNG Ltd.  825  13 400 

TOTAL  825  54 882 

2016 2015

Loss on fi nancial instruments  (223)  112 

Loss on exchange  (361)  5 042 

TOTAL  (584)  5 154 

HÖEGH LNG HOLDINGS LTD.  \\  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  //  HÖEGH LNG HOLDINGS LTD.



112 113HÖEGH LNG  –  Annual Report 2016 Annual Report 2016  –  HÖEGH LNG

Statsautoriserte revisorer
Ernst & Young AS

Dronning Eufemias gate 6, NO-0191 Oslo
Postboks 1156 Sentrum, NO-0107 Oslo

Foretaksregisteret: NO 976 389 387 MVA
Tlf:   +47 24 00 24 00
Fax: +47 24 00 24 01
www.ey.no
Medlemmer av Den norske revisorforening

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd., which comprise the financial
statements for the Parent company and the Group. The financial statements for the Parent company and
the Group comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, the statement of income,
the statement of other comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and changes in equity for the
year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2016 and their financial
performance for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Norway, and we have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities as required by law and regulations. We have also complied with our
other ethical obligations in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of 2016. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Consolidation of entity in which the Group holds less than 50% of the voting rights

The Company has less than 50% of the voting rights in Höegh LNG Partners LP (“HMLP”). However, the
Company has concluded that it has de-facto control over HMLP. There are other factors than voting
rights, which can be decisive as to whether the Company has obtained control. An evaluation of de-facto
control involves assessing all of the facts and circumstances, including the composition of the Board of
Directors in HMLP, the rights of unitholders to nominate board members and other arrangements and
relationships in the partnership. Considering the involvement of management’s judgment in concluding
de-facto control this was a key audit matter.

We read and evaluated the unitholder agreements to understand the voting mechanisms, the rights of
unitholders, board composition and governance structure. We assessed other information such as

partnership agreements, minutes from board meetings, statutes and financing agreements. Further, we
assessed management’s assessment of de-facto control to the accounting guidance in IFRS.

Refer to note 2 in the financial statements for the Company’s assessment of control.

Accounting for uncertain VAT receivable towards customer

As at 31 December 2016, the Company has a Value Added Tax (“VAT”) receivable amounting to USD 6.2
million related to a customer invoice from 2014. Management has engaged an external specialist to
assess the validity of the receivable. The legal assessment supports management’s assessment that the
VAT receivable is recoverable, however with significant uncertainty related to timing of collection.
Considering the financial significance and management’s judgment this was a key audit matter.

We have evaluated the competence and capabilities of management’s specialist and assessed their
assessment. Our procedures also included reading and evaluating the correspondence between the
involved parties. Through our audit procedures, we further obtained an understanding of management’s
process and assessment of probability of recoverability, subsequent evidence and the presentation of the
VAT receivable position.

Refer to note 2 in the financial statements for the Company’s assessment of the recoverability and
presentation of the VAT refund.

Other information
Other information consists of the information included in the Company’s annual report other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board of Directors and the President & CEO
(management) is responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information, and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information,
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
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fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control;
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management;
conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern;
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Oslo, 7 April 2017
ERNST & YOUNG AS

Finn Ole Edstrøm
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

INDICATOR DESCRIPTION PAGE NUMBER OR LINK

Strategy and Analysis

G4-1 Statement from the most senior decision-maker of 
the organisation.

Pages 6-7

Organisational profi le

G4-3 Name of the organisation. Front cover

G4-4 Primary brands, products, and services. Pages 10-13 and web: http://www.hoeghlng.com/
Pages/OurBusiness.aspx

G4-5 Location of the organisation’s headquarters. Page 10

G4-6 Number of countries where the organisation 
operates, names of countries where either the 
organisation has signifi cant operations or that are 
specifi cally relevant to the sustainability topics 
covered in the report.

Page 10

G4-7 Nature of ownership and legal form and markets 
served.

Page 10

G4-8 Markets served (geographic breakdown, sectors 
served, and types of customers and benefi ciaries).

Pages 11-12

G4-9 Scale of the organisation: employees, operations, 
sales, capitalisation and quantity of services 
provided.

Pages 13-17

G4-10 Total number of employees by employment 
contract, gender, permanent employees, region, 
supervised workers, casual workers and signifi cant 
variations in employment numbers.

Of the permanent employees, all work full-time 
except for 1 female and 1 male. The company 
does not engage supervised or casual workers. 
There are no signifi cant variations in employment 
numbers over the year. Employment data has been 
broken down by onshore and maritime categories, 
instead of region due to the nature of the operations. 
229 (1 female) of the maritime personnel have 
permanent contracts. 206 (0 females) have 
temporary contracts. 107 (38 females) of the offi ce 
personnel have permanent contracts, 7 (4 females) 
have temporary contracts.  

G4-11 Percentage of total employees covered by 
collective bargaining agreements.

All maritime personnel are covered by collective 
bargaining agreements. No offi ce employees are 
covered by collective bargaining agreements.

G4-12 Description of the supply chain. Page 27

G4-13 Signifi cant changes during the reporting period 
regarding the organisation’s size, structure, 
ownership, or its supply chain.

None

G4-14 Precautionary approach or principle. Page 22

G4-15 Subscription to externally developed economic, 
environmental and social charters, principles, or 
other initiatives.

HLNG is a member of the Maritime Anti-corruption 
Network (MACN)

G4-16 Memberships in associations (such as industry 
associations) and national or international 
advocacy organisations.

HLNG is a member of the Norwegian Shipowners’ 
Association, the International Group of Liquefi ed 
Natural Gas Importers (GIIGNL) and The Society of 
International Gas Tanker and Terminal Operators 
(SIGTTO).

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Content Index

GRI INDEX
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Governance

G4-34 Governance structure of the organisation. Pages 30-37 and web page: 
http://www.hoeghlng.com/Pages/Governance.aspx

Ethics and Integrity

G4-56 Description of the organisation’s values, principles, 
standards and norms of behaviour.

Pages 22, 26-27 and 30

Specifi c Standard Disclosures
DMA AND 

INDICATORS DESCRIPTION PAGE NUMBER OR LINK

IDENTIFIED 

OMISSION(S)

Energy

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 23

G4-EN3 Energy consumption within the 
organisation.

Page 23 Includes all vessels and 
electricity, heating and 
cooling consumption in 
the head offi ce.

Biodiversity

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Pages 23-24

G4-EN12 Description of signifi cant impacts of 
activities, products, and services on 
biodiversity in protected areas and 
areas of high biodiversity value outside 
protected areas.

Pages 23-24

Emissions

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 23

G4-EN15 Direct greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
(Scope 1).

Page 23 Data includes reporting 
for all vessels, but not 
GHG emissions from 
offi ce activities.

G4-EN21 NOx, SOx, and other signifi cant air 
emissions.

Page 23
SOx emissions are calculated 
based on the method, 
assumptions and emission 
factor described in the Third IMO 
GHG study 2014 (MEPC 67/
INF.3 dated 25 July 2014).

NOx emissions are not 
reported for 2016.

Effl uents and Waste

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 24

G4-EN24 Total number and volume of signifi cant 
spills.

None

Compliance - Environment

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 23

G4-EN29 Monetary value of signifi cant fi nes and 
total number of non-monetary sanctions 
for non-compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations.

None

INDICATOR DESCRIPTION PAGE NUMBER OR LINK

Identifi ed Material Aspects and Boundaries

G4-17 Entities included in the consolidated fi nancial 
statements.

Page 47

G4-18 Process for defi ning the report content and the 
Aspect Boundaries and, implementation of the 
Reporting Principles for Defi ning Report Content.

Page 22

G4-19 List of all the material Aspects identifi ed in the 
process for defi ning report content.

Page 22

G4-20 Aspect Boundary within the organisation for 
each material aspect.

All material aspects are relevant for all entities 
within the organisation. 

G4-21 Aspect Boundary outside the organisation for 
each material Aspect.

All Environmental aspects, Anti-corruption, Anti-
competitive behaviour as well as all Supply chain 
aspects may have impacts outside the company. 

G4-22 Effect of any restatements of information provided 
in previous reports, and the reasons for such 
restatements.

None

G4-23 Signifi cant changes from previous reporting 
periods in the Scope and Aspect Boundaries.

None

Stakeholder Engagement

G4-24 List of stakeholder groups engaged by the 
organisation.

Page 22

G4-25 Basis for identifi cation and selection of stakeholders 
with whom to engage.

Page 22

G4-26 Approach to stakeholder engagement, including 
frequency of engagement by type and by 
stakeholder group, and an indication of whether 
any of the engagement was undertaken specifi cally 
as part of the report preparation process.

Page 22

G4-27 Key topics and concerns that have been raised 
through stakeholder engagement. How the 
organisation has responded to these key topics 
and concerns, including through reporting. 
Stakeholder groups that raised each of the 
key topics and concerns.

Page 22

Report Profi le

G4-28 Reporting period for the information provided. 2015

G4-29 Date of most recent previous report. April 2016 

G4-30 Reporting cycle (such as annual, biennial). Annual

G4-31 Contact point for questions regarding the report 
or its contents.

Erik Folkeson
Head of Investor Relations
Email: erik.folkeson@hoeghlng.com
Cell phone: +47 41 42 17 69

G4-32 ‘In accordance’ option chosen. GRI Content Index 
for the chosen option. Reference to the External 
Assurance Report.

This report is prepared in accordance with 
Core GRI 4 Guidelines.

G4-33 External assurance for the report. The GRI content of this report has not been 
externally assured.

GRI INDEXGRI INDEX
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DMA AND 

INDICATORS DESCRIPTION PAGE NUMBER OR LINK

IDENTIFIED 

OMISSION(S)

Supplier Assessment for Labour Practices

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 27

G4-LA14 Percentage of new suppliers that were 
screened using labour practices criteria.

All new suppliers are screened 
using labour practices criteria. 

Non-Discrimination

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 26

G4-HR3 Total number of incidents of discrimination 
and corrective actions taken.

None

Anti-Corruption

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 26

G4-SO5 Confi rmed incidents of corruption and 
actions taken.

Page 26

Anti-competitive Behaviour

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 26

G4-SO7 Total number of legal actions for anti-
competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and 
monopoly practices and their outcomes.

None

Compliance - Society

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 26

G4-SO8 Monetary value of signifi cant fi nes and 
total number of non-monetary sanctions 
for non-compliance with laws and 
regulations.

None

Supplier Assessment for Impacts on Society

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 27

G4-SO9 Percentage of new suppliers that were 
screened using criteria for impacts on 
society.

Page 27
All new suppliers are screened 
using criteria for impacts on 
society.

DMA AND 

INDICATORS DESCRIPTION PAGE NUMBER OR LINK

IDENTIFIED 

OMISSION(S)

Supplier Environmental Assessment

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 27

G4-EN32 Percentage of new suppliers that were 
screened using environmental criteria.

All new suppliers are screened 
using environmental criteria.

Employment

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 25

G4-LA1 Total number and rates of new employee 
hires and employee turnover by age 
group, gender and region.

In 2016, Höegh LNG hired 
29 new employees, which 
equals a rate of 5%. 
21 offi ce personnel and 
8 maritime personnel. 

Out of the 21 new offi ce 
personnel, 5 were below the 
age of 30, 14 were between 
the age of 30 and 50 and 2 were 
above the age of 50. 9 of the 
offi ce personnel were female 
and 12 were male. The 8 new 
maritime personnel were all 
male, 5 of these were below 
the age of 30, 3 were in between 
the age of 30-50 and zero were 
above the age of 50.

Turnover in 2016 was 
6.3%. 

Turnover: 7 offi ce 
employees left the 
company during 2016. 
No reporting on their 
age or gender for privacy 
reasons. For maritime 
personnel, retention 
rates are calculated as 
per common industry 
practice.

Occupational Health and Safety

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 24

G4-LA5 Percentage of total workforce represented 
in formal joint management–worker health 
and safety committees that help monitor 
and advise on occupational health and 
safety programs.

100% of the total workforce 
is represented in formal H&S 
committees.

G4-LA6 Type of injury and rates of injury, 
occupational diseases, lost days, 
and absenteeism, and total number 
of work-related fatalities, by region 
and by gender.

Page 24 Types of injury and 
occupational diseases 
are not reported. Data 
is not broken down on 
gender to limit the risk 
of revealing a person’s 
identity. 

Training and education

G4-DMA Disclosures on management approach. Page 25

G4-LA11 Percentage of employees receiving 
regular performance and career 
development reviews, by gender 
and by employee category.

Page 25
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